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Introduction

Mears is a leader in the housing and care
markets in the UK. Our range of housing
services has expanded from maintenance
into resident management, creating new
affordable homes and running the national
Planning Portal. Our domiciliary care
services run increasingly in tandem with
our housing services, helping create new
solutions for the more vulnerable.

In 2018, we employed over 11,000 staff.

Our key strengths

Differentiated service deliver Strong finahcial management

In order for customers to recommend us, we must deliver We operate in a high volume, low value and low margin

excellent service. We randomly conduct over 80,000 envirgnment where we have delivered consistent financial

Housing customer surveys each year resuits over an extended period of time. This is achieved
through works management systems, conservative

Strategic relationships accounting policies and a culture of giving attention

We listen carefully to the needs of cur clients and their o detail,

tenants. As our clients’ needs have changed, we have

developed a broader service offering which has increased Social value

the depth of our client partnerships. We [=ad the way with social value i the markets
where we operate, delivering meaningful outcomes
through pasitive camimunity gngagement projects and
ctfaativa measurement
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Strategic report

Highlights

Strategic developments and

positive earnings progress

Financial

Group revenue Adjusted Group operating profit
£869.8m £40.8m

-3 4% +4 1%

£9002m
£R69.8m

£41.9m
£39.2m

£40.8m

2016
2007
2018
2016
2017
2018

Strategic highlights

Asylurm Accommodation and Support Cantract win

Q

Continued iImprevement in profitability and stability
In care

Mitie property services Housing acquisition

DOO

Alternative performance measures (APM)

Dividend per share Normalised diluted

earnings per share
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High levels of customer satisfaction and continued
social value leadership

Housing Green Paper post the Grenfell tragedy
creates opportunity

Mears well positioned for new Ministry of Defence
tender opportunity

APM Definition

Adjusted Group operating profit  Adjusted operating profit and margin 1s based upon operating profit before the amortisation of acquisttion

and margin % intangibles and exceptional rerms

Normalised diluted earnings Normalised EPS uttlises an earnings figure before the amortisation of acguisition intangibles and exceptional
per share (EPS) terms Earnings are also adjusted 1o reflect a full tax charge at the headline lax rate The headline tax adjustment

typically reduces EPS but s felt that this measure betler allows for the assessment of operational performance,
the analysis of trends over time, the comparison of different businesses and the projection of future perfarrmance
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Strategic report
Our business at a glance

We are specialists in providing housing
solutions and we understand the needs of our
service users, many of whom are vulnerable

Housing...

2 Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018

What we do

Mears has a single minded focus on the housing market and delivering setvices
1o the residents of these homes We aperate within the atfordable housing
seclor, which s an area that will see continued investment given the significant
housing shartage and the nsing number of peaple who are regarded as
statutonty homeless

Our services

Our core services are In the maintenance and management of homes
Increasingly we operate an inteliigent approach to maintenance, using
technology and experience to operate preventative maintenance programmes
that reduce levels of emergency repairs As regards management, we collect
rent and ensure hormes are rnanaged and maintained to a decent standard
Our particular focus 1s In providing sustanable alternatives to homelessness,
helping reduce the nsing problems created by the housing shortage in the UK
Thraugh our runming of the national Planning Portal, we help enable planning
decisions io be made hased upon ensuring the right information 1s available
far Councils to make aninformed decision

Our custotmers

We work predominanlly with Central Government and Local Government, in
the delivery of housing services These are through often long-term contracts
Wa equally recagrise that the residents of the homes that we manage and

or maintain, are customers, and we take prnde in the high levels of customer
satisfaction that we achieve

What we do

Domicihary care 1s one of the key services provided to the elderly and
disabled residents of social housing properties The provision of quality
housing 1s recognised as an Impot Lant driver in lowering the pressures

on hospital admissians and social care While the market has seen under-
investment for many years, there are signs that this 1s starting to change and
Mears housing, with care positioning, makes us well positioned for the future

Our services

We provided regulated personal care services in peaple's homes, through our
tearns of care s1aff The anns o help often clderly and [rail winadnals maimtain
U en ity and indepondance inereasingly we support a growing number of
spenialish acuommaodation units, such as extra care tacilities, which enable care
to be given within a safe and suppurtive environment We don't however aperate
any setvices within our Care homes

Qur customers

We are commissioned by Local Councils and NHS Trusts to prowide domiciliary
rare services We only deliver care where we are conhident that the charge 1ates
paid are high enough ta ensure the quality of service that our customers are nyhit
{0 expect



Long-term drivers
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The shortage of ousing In the UK has made Housing revenue Housing operating profit Housing operating margin
investment in housing both a pelitical and an
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economic pricrity More recently, the Social .?, € £ E
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6,000

repairs per day across UK
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Strategic report
Transforming housing with care

il Using our
B approach to tackle
sy : :

AN national issues

£ 4 Asylum housing and support

-

<o

Our approach to integration of our services was given

a boost with the award of three new contracts worth in

excess of £14n under the Asylum Accommadation and

Support Services Contract (AASC), delivering estimated
revenues of around £100m a year for the next ten years

The contracts are to provide accommodation as well as
supporting each service user Mears has been awarded
contracts for Scotland, Northern Ireland and the North East,
Yorkshire and the Humber The contracts are for ten years

The contracts are part of the way in which the UK
Government meets its duty to provide asylum for those
seeking international protection in the UK To deliver the
contracts, Mears will draw on 1ts outstanding 30-year
track record of providing housing, housing maintenance
and care services all across the UK, with a strong
footprint in Scotland, Northern Ireland, and the North East
and Yorkshire

Qur commitment

Mears 1s committed to ensuning that asylum
accommodation is safe, habitable and fit for purpose

and will meet all contractual and regulatory standards
Meoreover, Mears understands the importance of
supporting each person whilst living 1n its accemmaodation
and to ensure that as a company it works with the
communities in which it delivers services

During the Mobilisation penod, up to 1 April 2019, Mears will
work with the Home Office and service users, to make sure
that accommedation that 1s used in the new AASC contract
meets the required quality standard Mears will establish
operational teams in each of the areas for which we are
responsible so that we are in a posttion to provide the best
possible performance, within the terms of the contract

This will include identifying support needs, managing
community cahesion issues, and developing strong
partnerships with local authorities and in communities

The Mears approach has been to apply our knowledge
of housing management, repairs, and supporting and
engaging with our tenants and customers By extending
this approach to asylum housing we have successfully
dermonstrated that cur core model 1s one which our
partners increasingly demand

Congatulations to Mears Frmployee of the Year 2018
fiob Pearce {shown here), a Mulll Skilled Operative
from Modway

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018
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£2.0m
spent each day by Local
Authorities on temporary
accommaodation

: ' homes in full management

including our Registered
Provider portfolias
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Strategic report
Transforming housing with care

Tackling
homelessness
with Mears

London Borough of Waltham Forest
joint venture

Waltham Forest, where more than £3 4m s spent every
year on temporary housing, agreed to go into a joint venture
with Mears to buy 400 homes to put a roof over the heads
of people in housing crisis Almost 100 households in the
borough live In bed and breakfast accommodation, while
another 2,326 families are in a form of temporary or hostel
accommodation The scheme wilf make a real difference
to people and follows an from a similar scheme that Mears
arranged with Bromley Mears will manage the housing
over a 40-year period

Our aim s to provide Waltham Forest with an alternative,
affordable housing supply to replace the significant bed
and breakfast accommadation costs currently incurred
on homeless local people

Mears has engaged funding partners to finance the
purchase of properties on behalf of our partner, and we
carry out refurbishment works and act as rmanaging agent
for the portfolo

Nature of service

~ We utihse a Privately Placed Bond to purchase and
refurbish 365 homes

~  We house homeless families who would otherwise
be iving in bed and breakfast or expensive
temporary accommodation

~ We manage the acquistiion and improvement works
~ Through our Registered Pravider, we will also manage
and maintain the homes

By working with our partners, Mears 1s innovating to provide
answers to some of our most deep-seated policy Issues,
which 15 why we have hecame the largest supplier of
ternporary accommodation in the UK

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018
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£62m

Riverside contract g
valuation
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Strategic report
Transforming housing with care

Building on our
relationships

to deliver
repairs solutions

Riverside repairs

In 2018 Mears won a £62m contract to deliver repairs and
maintenance services to Riverside Housing Association
The ten-year contract, with an overall budget of £115m,1s
for responsive repairs, voids, planned works and providing
a domestic gas service 1t covers over 10,000 homes in the
Central and South regions, including London, East Anglia,
Kent, Lelcester, Bristol and the M4 corndor

Before winning the contract Mears provided a maintenance
service to Riverside This played a very important part in
ensuring that Riverside saw us as their potential partner

for this long-term contract

What we do
We provide a wide range of services, including

~ reactive repairs and mantenance,

~ planned works, repairs and mamntenance
{under the Property MOT programme),

~ gas servicing and mstallation, and

~ 24-hour out of hours service

Our relationships with our partners goes to the core of
everything we do By working closely with clients and
understanding therr needs Mears has shown 1t can grow
husiness and strengthen gur partnerships

The Riverside Partnership demonst ates how Mears
can suppott clients, even when thero s a preforence

for Insaurcing

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018
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Strategic report
Chairman's statement

We welcome our new Chairman,
Kieran Murphy

NN
Kieran Murphy
Chairman

V4

1 am delighted to deliver my
first Chairman's Statement,
having joined the Board at

the start of the year. In my
short time in the Group, | have
taken the opportunity where
possible to meet a broad
cross section of colleagues, to
better understand the culture
and values that underpin the
Group's stccess.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018

Overview

lam delighted to deliver my first Chairman's Statement,
having joined the Board on 2 January 2019 Whilst fam
anly In my third month at Mears, 1t has been an exciting
early period Il was lieinendous to see the Group awarded
three new long-term contracts by the tHorne Office to
provide accemmodation and support for asylum seekers
The contracts are estimated to deliver revenues In excess
of £1 bidhon over their 10 year term Their scale reflects
the pragress that Mears has made over a number of years
intransforming itself from a small-ticket maintenance
contractor towards being a specialist provider of housing-
related services to the public sector Winning and, more
importantly, delivening thus contract to the standards that
Mears sets itself required, and will continue to require,
high quality dedicated effort from teams across the Group
I logk forward to seeing this dedication resulting

in effective delivery

Another highiight of the past 12 months was the acquisition
of certain business assets and contracts from Mitie's
property services division {MPS') The period since
completion has progressed to plan, and the respective
senlor teams are combining well The system migrations,
which underpin the synergies and improvements to service
delivery, are underway Moreover, It was pleasing that MPS
was successful in securing a contract with Home Group
within a short time following the acgquisition This contract,
valued at £200m over a 10 year term, will see the Group
deliver maintenance and planned works to 10,000 homes
In the South East We expect MPS to continue to win new
business opportunibies as the months unfold

During the course of the past few weeks, | have held a
series of Individual meetings with shareholders who
between them represent over two-thirds of the Company's
equity base by value |am grateful to each of them for
taking the time to meet with me, for their welcome and

for the views that they expressed It was encouraging

to hear a number of very positive messages about the
Group's care business and the enthustasm for 1ts continued
success However, the performance of the Company's
share price over the past six months has been a socurce

of understandable disappaintment it s also clear that
shareholders, and the market callectively, are taking &
much more cautious view about indebtedness, again
understandably in the ight of events elsewhere in the
sector Itis appropriate that the Company should take
account of this in its plans for the current year and into
2020 Accordingly, the Board will work with management
to take a number of active steps to reduce deht
progressively over this period



£869.8m

Group revenue

£40.8m

operating profit
before amortsation
of acquisition
intangibles and
exceptional items

Results

Group revenue for the year ended 31 December 2018
was £869 8m, a small reduction on the previous year
{2017 £900 2m) However, operating profit before
amortisation of acauisition intangibles, exceptional
costs and long-term incentives items rose to £40 8m
{2017 £39 2m} Operating margins similarly ncreased to
47% (2017 4 3%) Narmalised diluted earmings per share
ncreased lo 20 06p {2017 28 Ubp), an increase of 3 6%
The average net debt for the year was narrowly behind
our target of £110m at £113 2m

Dividend

The Board remains confident in the Group's long term
potential and in its progressive dividend policy The Board
18 therefore recommending a final dividend of 8 85p per
share, having paid an interim dividend of 3 55p per share
in Novemnber 2018, giving 12 40p per share for the year as
awhole Thisrepresents a 3 3% increase over the total of
12 00p per share paid n respect of 2017 The final dividend
will be payable, subject to shareholder approval, on 4 July
2019 to shareholders on the reqister on 14 June 2019

Board developments
In July 2018, as part of the continuing evolution of

the Board, the then Chairran, Bob Holt, ndicated his
intention not to stand for re-election at the 2019 Annual
General Meeting The Board undertook a competitive and
structured process for the recruitment of the new Chairman
and { was delighted to be offered the position in December
2018 1 should place on record the thanks of the entire
Group 1o Bob Holt for his 23 years of service, which was
instrumental in taking the Group on its Jjourney from a small
privately owned business with annual turnover of £12m,
through flotation an AIM and from there to the Main Market,
leading to the national player and market leader that it

s today

In June 2018, the Campany became one of the first hsted
companies In the UK to appaint an Employee Director,
Amanda Hillerby, underlining the Company's commitment
to progressive corporate governance Mears understands
the vital role that our warkforce plays in the success of the
Group We intend that this role will help the Board to receive
full, open and honest insight and views from its workforce
on how strategic initiatives are bemg implemented

It should also help to provide the wider workforce with a
better understanding of how the Boaid operates We will
keep under review how hest to use Amanda’s skills 1o
further these objectives

't 15 essential to ensure that Mears, in common with

all isted companies, 1s equipped with a Board that can
provide a wide range of views, skills and experience to
work with and challenge the management team to further
the effective development of the Group | will keep under
review the balance of capabilities around the Board table
50 as 1o ensure that the Group has what it needs for
effective leadership

Our people
In my short time with the Group, | have taken the

opportunity where possible to meet a broad cross section
of colleagues ta hetter understand the culture and values
that underpin the Group's success | will continue to
undertake a programme of visits thraughout the business
during the course of the coming year | attended the Group's
annual conference in February 2018, which acknowledges
and celebrates those members of staff who have defivered
exceptional levels of service to our customers | have been
impressed by the professionalism and commitment of

our employees and | thank them for their dedication and
hard work

| was pleased that Mears was recognised recently by the
Sunday Times anhual survey as one of the best 25 big
companies 1o work for iIn the UK in 2019 While this reflects
well on our investment in culture and people, it speaks
volumes about the people who waork for us [t was also
pleasing that the Group achieved a very ligh rating from
FTSE4Good, which assesses listed company policies

and procedures on therr social and environmental impact
and governance

Suminary
| am very much at the start of my journey at Mears [ sense

the strong commitment throughout the Group to do the
best for all our stakeholders, be they our sharehaolders,
our public sector custorners or our clients who receive
our services day in and day out That cormmitment to
excellence will serve the Group well in the years to come
and | look forward to being 2 pait of the tearn that will
continue to deliver it

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018 11

sluawiale]ls |eoueuly aosueulsacb Melodio) uodai nbajens

UOIEWIOJUI J2p[oyaleYyg



Strategic report
Chief Executive Officer's review

We have remained highly focused on
a single area, providing services to
tenants in and around their homes

(4

The Board is clear that it

must take action to refocus

the Group’s main activities to
those of a specialist housing
provider, with maintenance and
management being fundamental
to this. Those Group activities
that are peripheral to this core
activity, especially where they
absorb working capital, will be
reviewed in terms of how we
can deliver the best financial
return for shareholders.

David Miles
Chief Executive Officer

2014

Acquisition of
Omega - temporary
housing expertise

Our transformation time-line

The affordable housing market has
seen significant change and Mears
has adapted ns service capabiity
well to this changing market

P

2010 Traditional
contracting
Operations:
Maintenance

Regeneration

Mears secures
Registered
Provider status

12 Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018



Introduction

| am pleased at the progress made by the business in 2018,
although the year has not been without its challenges

| am naturally disappointed at our share price performance
and this digsatisfaction Is mirrored by a number of our
major shareholders

£1.3bn

Qrders secured

93%

Excellence rating

Mears has made significant progress over recent years

n evalving its business My focus has been on a range of
stakeholders including clients, service users, employees,
communities and shareholders | believe that much of
the Board's strategy has delivered successful outcomes,
although the full financial benefits in certain areas have
taken longer to come through The success of our
investment inte Housing Managerment 1s evidenced
through the Key Worker and AASC bidding successes while
our shvestment in Housing Development 1s demonstrated
by our success at Milton Keynes The success of our jaint
venture In the Planning Portal highlights the mvestment
made in Planning Solutions Even our investment in Care,
which from a return on investment perspective has been
very disappointing, played a significant part in securing
the recent AASC contract Finally, it is also pleasing

that much of our strateqic progress has delivered good
outcomes in terms of social value, chent confidence

and Mears’ reputation

The negativity surrounding outsourcing has been unhelpful,
especially when so many of the 1ssues have been specific
to other companies in the sector Unlike ather providers in
the sector, Mears has remained highly focused on a single
area, providing services to tenants in and around their
homes We are specialists in providing housing solutions
and we understand the needs of our service users, many

of whom are vulnerable

Notwithstanding the above, the Board is mindful of 1ts
responsibilities 1o shareholders We recognise shareholders
are seeking bhetter financial outcomes, particularly in
respect of cash generation, and the Board 15 clear that 1t
must take achion to refocus the Group's man activities to
those of a specialist Housing provider with maintenance
and management being fundamental to this Those Group
activities that are penipheral to this core activity, especially

2020 Placemaking

where they absorb working capital, will be reviewed in
terms of haow we can deliver the best financial return for
shareholders including cessation, downscaling or disposal
if appropnate Investor appetite for gearing has gone full
circle We must now direct our caprtal resources ta those
areas which deliver the best financial returns, whilst always
ensuring that we do not lose aur long-term approach to
how we run the business Going forward, we will review
how Mears can best contribute to the housing development
needs of our customers but In ways which do not place
undue strain on the Group balance sheet This s covered
in further detail later in this review

Notable highlights for 2018 include

~ Qur success in secunng three regions under the AASC
was a significant achievernent for the Group With a
contract value estimated at £1 billion over a ten year
termn, this 1s the largest contract ever awarded to Mears
and exemplifies the significant progress made by
the Group since extending our Services Into Housing
Management in 2014

~ The acquisition of certain business assets and
contracts of the property services division of Mitie
('MPS'} followed a long period of negotiation and due
diligence Since completion, the integration of MPS
has gone according to plan

~ Onece again, Mears has delivered high levels of customer
service with our customer service excellence rating
Increasing to 93% Our dedication to deliver a first
class service to our clients 1s central to our culture and
underpins our SUCcess

~ The Group restructured 1ts central suppert structures to
reflect the changing nature of the business and differing
support requirements The Group delivered the planned
annual savings of approximately £5m with a low
disturbance to day-to-day performance

~  The Group has positioned 1tself well in the MoD bidding
opportunities The MoD 1s a key client of the Group and
the new tender provides Mears the opportunity to deliver
management and mamtenance services to improve
the quality of housing for the UK’s Armed Forces and
their families

Housing Management:

2015
Jont venture with
Miristry of Housing,
Communities & | ncal
Governnsent Lo deliver
national Planning Portal

Bulding relatinships
with funding partners

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018

Incorme management
Tenancy management
Allocations

Operations:

Mamntenance
Regeneration

Asset Management:

Immediate solutions
Acquisition
Development
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Strategic report
Chief Executive Officer's review continued

£870m There will always be areas where the Group can umprove

Group revenues )
P ~ The Housing Maintenance division's new contract

win rate has, for the second year running, been below

4% our histoneal norm We are confident that there has

EPS growth been no lack of goed quality opportunities to bnd,
the qualty of our tender submissions has been high
and we continue to demonstrate our value for money
proposition Interestingly some lost opportunities are
now representing themselves 10 us

~ We choge to exit a small number of maintenance
contracts, with an annual value approaching £30m,
as the balance between risk and reward was not
considered favourabie to the Group

~ The operational per formance 1 some parts of our
Housmg Management business was below par owing
to the AASC tender requiring cansiderable resource
tagether with the significant emphasis that the
husiness has placed on enhancing the internal controls
and governance required in a fast growing regulated
business While this resulted in some loss of focus in
the existing business, this was an important priority
and 1s now behind us

~ Qur Housing development activities expenenced a
challenging fina} quarter to the year, with a slowdown
N sales iImpacting upon both revenues and
working capital

Financial performance

The Group reported revenues for the year of £869 8m, a
reduction of 3% on 2017 However, encouragingly, taking
half year by half year, this shows revenues have stahihsed
since the sharp reduction in the second half of 2017

The profit for the year before tax, exceptional costs

and amortisation of acquisttion intangibles of £38 &m
(2017 £371m] was a smallimpraverment and saw a
sold increase in operating margins to 4 4% (2017 41%)
Normalised diuted earnings per share of 29 06p

(2017 28 05p) reflected this increase In profits,
increasing by 4%

As reparted previously, the Group has carried aut a review
of its central support structures to ensure they reflect the
changing nature of the business and that they are efficient
and deliver value This was particularly relevant given

the changing sales mix that brings a differing support
requirement The review identified annualised savings

of approximately £5 0rn and these have been secured

in the year The Group will continue to keep on top of Its
central support costs The Group has a lang-term target
to maintain central overheads at around 3 0% of revenue
While this may appear a high percentage, the Board views
this strong centralisation principle as being erucial to
deliver consistency and better control across the Group
Over recent years, the central overhead percentage has
edged towards 4 0%, however the additional revenues
secured with the MPS acguisiion and the AASC contract
will lower this level and it 1s a key Group target to reduce
central overheads back to 3 0% and to then maintain them
at that level The Group is also carrying out a review of

1ts regional support functions, a process which 1s being
aligned with the MPS integration

14 Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018

The Board recognises that the Group's net debit and
operating cash performance need to improve The broader
activities delivered by the Group carry significantly different
working capital requirements, and a single EBITDA to
operating cash convergion measure, which for many

years the Group delivered a measure at close 1o 100%,
does not provide an accurate reflection of the Group's

cash performance The Group has cansistantly reported
an average dally net debt, rather than focusing on the
balance on a single day at the penod end, and further detall
1s Included i the Finance Review In addition, below we
pravide analysis in respect of the working capital absorbed
against the different Group activities which demonstrates
a solid performanice other than in Develapment

Average daily net debt for the year, excluding the property
acguisition facility, was £113 2m, narrowly behind the target
set at the start of the year of £110 0m The level of average
debt was broadly comparable to that in 2017 (£96 4m)
when allowing far the timing of the cash out flows late in
that year of £8 2m relating to discontinued actvities and
adeferred consideration payment of £11 1m in early 2018

Acquisition of certain business assets and contracts
from the praperty services division of Mitie

In November 2018, Mears comipleted the acquisition of
certain business assets and contracts from the property
maintenance business of Mitie, the acquired business 1s
branded as MPS Housmg The ibal considerahon was
£22 5m together with contingent consideration payable,
up to a cap of £12 5m, based upon the future profitability of
the business over a 24 month penod following completion
The initial consideration was funded through a placing of
c & 8m new ordinary shares

The business comprising 14 branches, circa 30 customer
refationships and approaching 7,000 employees, 1s
expected to contribute annualised revenue In excess of
£100 0m duning the current financial year Mears hasa
strong track record for driving improvemerits in brevious
acquisitions as evidenced by the successful turnaround

of the Morrison business following 1ts acquisition in 2012
The MPS business has strong similarities to that business,
and Mears 1s approaching this transformation planin a
similar way

Whilst 1t 1s still only a short penod since completion, the
Board 1s encouraged by the progress made The reaction
from MPS customers has been positive and the MPS team
have welcomed the change We are still at a relatively early
stage in the integration process, with the key driver being
the migration of MPS' three operating systems onto the
single Mears Contract Management platform



An interview with the Chief Executive

A number of companies involved in gutsourcing have got

into difficulties, with Carillion being a stand out example.
What makes Mears different?

(A

We are different. We focus solely on housing and housing
related care and as such we have a great deal of understanding
of nsk and sustainable operational management We are very
selective in terms of what we bid and the parinerships that we
forge. We manage our cash well and have systems that enable
us ta manage our cost base effectively at a very detailed level.
We take aresponsible and transparent approach to governance,
which is very important when working with the public sector.

o

What issues has Brexit created for Mears?

Our revenue is all within the UK and to this point the issues
we have faced largely relate to some delays in Government
decision making and policy development, The long-delayed
policy document around the future funding model for social
care is a prime example of this. The key thing for us is our
workforce and to maintain our focus on making Mears the
best place to work in the sector. We are already a long way
dowh this path and this remains a priority for us.

o

Mears puts Placemaking at the heart of its strategy.

What does this mean?

A

High quality, well-managed housing 15 in our vigw the

most important aspect of any thriving community, We see
ourselves as leaders in contributing across the spectrum of
planming, building, managing and maintaining high quality

but affordable housing solutions. Our Care services work in
tandem where needed to support people who are often elderly
or disabled. Our combined approach really starts with thinking
ahout the locations in which we operate and how we can use
our gervices to help make better places to live, In canjunction
with our partners.

o

Safety and compliance have become higher profile since the
events of Grenfell Tower tragedy. How has Mears responded
to this?

o

We are proud of our track record on health and safety.

We have reduced Accidents Rates by over 10% and achieved
the RoSPA Highly Commended Industry Sector Award

{16 consecutive Golds), for our continued commitment to
accident and ill-health prevention. Over the year we have
carried out over 50,000 hours of health and safety training
to ensure we continue our commitment to improving the
skills and awareness of all employees.

As well as our own continued focus on ensuring our staff
and customers are protected, we have been working with
our clients in support of tightening regulatory requirements
around housing and helping implement improvements
needed, starting with work on high rise properties We are
pleased to see standards being raised here and as the recent
Social Housing Green Paper becomes a White paper, we
expect further positive developments In this space.

o

Mears’ reputation as a great place to work, seems to be
increasing. Why is this ahd why does Mears regard this

as important?

A

We are cbviously pleased to be recognised by the Sunday
Times as one of the 25 Best Big Companies to Work For in the
UK. Also, we hold the Housing Diversity Network accreditation
for Excellence in Diversity These are ultimately just some of
the awards that we have won for 25 years of effort in making
Mears a place where peopie want to work and where there is
opportunity for personal development. We have championed
encouraging more women to work in the trades and to secure
better terms and conditians for care staff. We do this because
a great workforce 1s the central building block far everything
we do. We recognise that we have to be better than ever today,
if we are to continue to perform well in terms of workfaorce,
and we will continue to invest in our people.

o

The recently won Home Qffice contract represents a
significant development for Mears. Do you see other
opportunities of this type and scale in the future?

A

We do see further opportunities with centrally led housing
contracts, especially in housing solutions to support service
personnel We also see significant housing opportunity in
specialist housing to support demographic change, and
indeed 2018 saw us completing our first build and manage
properties for the elderly and for younger people with physical
and mental support needs.
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Strategic report
Chief Executive Officer’s review continued

£753m Housing
Housing revenues 2018 2017
5 0% H1 H2 FY H1 H2 FY
* Revenue £m 3749 378.3 753.2 4021 3640 7661
Housing margin Cperating profit £m 18.0 18.6 376 208 187 295
Operating profit margin % 5.4% 4.9% 5.0% 52% 51% 52%

Thie Housing division reported revenues of £753 2m,

a shght reduction agamnst the previous year

Encouragingly the half year on half year progress shows
revenues mereasing following the sharp reduction in the
second half of 2017 As expected, it was a quiet penod

for new contract mobihsations, following the slow penod
of rew brdding success i1 2017 The recently acquired
business of MPS contributed revenues of £9 Orn in the one
maonth that it was part of the Group

The dision generated an operating marain of 5 0%, with
the second half margin (4 9%) reflecting both the inital
impact of MPS tagether with costs expensed in respect
of the AASC bidding and mobilisation

The Housing division comprises three core activities
Maintenance, Management and Development
Increasingly there have been opporiunities to defiver

a cornbination of these services which we term as
‘nlacemaking’ tt1s critical to the Group's success that
Housing is operated and managed as a single division,
with the different specialisms combining to deliver the
optimal outcome However, in broadening our Housing
activities, it has become harder to explam the underlying
perfarmance, and, importantly, provide stakeholders with
a better understanding of the growth expectations and
nsks attached to each area and, par ticularly n the current
environment, the related working capital requirements

{t must be recognised that, increasingly, opportunities

are being secured that require a full asset management
service that does not slot easily into a single category
Rather than artthaally sllaeating revenues and profit
across each category, all revenues and profii are assigned
1o the predominant category Given that the Housing
Management actiwties incorporate an element of
maintenance, whilst the mamtenance growth in 1solation
may appear low, at tmes this will simply reflect a change
in allocation mere than a change In activity
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The revenue for the full year was slightly lower than

our expectations ai the start of the year of a firm and
probabie revenue of £770m In mantenance, some
revenues expected to be delivered m 2018 were re-

phased and will be delivered into 2019 1n agreement with
our partners, Milten Keynes being the most significant
example Our develapment actiaties experienced &
challenging last quarter - whilst the primary focus has
been working in partnership with Housing Associations,
and the development of affordable homes, this actraty
does Incorporate an element of private sales, which most
Housing Assocations reauire to make the overall scheme
viable, The Development business expenenced a significant
slowdown in private sales in the lead-in to the year end,
negatively impacting on both revenues and working capital

Historically the Group has pursued a strategy focusing on
aarnings growth whilst keeping within the strnict confines
of Housing Whilst good working caprtal management

has been a cornerstone of the Group, equally cash has not
heen allowed to constrain the Group's evolution However,
as the Group's Housing business has evolved, it should be
recogrised that the different activities within Housing have
significantly different working capital requirements

~  Maintenance (representing 77% of drsional revenue in
2018) is a high volume and low value activity Given the
requirement to measure, review, Inspect and value a
large number of works orders, the invaicing cycle cannot
be rushed ar shart cuts taken Accordingly, it is nat
unusual for a period of 90 days between completion
of work and receipt of income although the average (s
closer to 70 days On the positive, the measurement of
revenues I1s very secure and there 1s mirimal bad debt
nsk The cost base includes specialist subcontractors
and merchant supphers with varying payment terms
averaging 40 days As a resuit, typically around 30 days'
work s absorbed in working capital




£117m

Care revenues

3.2%

Care margin

2078 2017

Operating Operating
Revenue profit Margin Revenue profit Margin
£m £m % £m £m %
Maintenance 578.7 28.0 4.8% 606 2 326 54%
Management 1354 8.5 6.3% 1338 57 43%
Development 39.1 1.1 2.8% 261 12 4 6%
Total 753.2 37.6 5.0% 7661 395 52%

~ Management (representing 18% of divisional revenue
In 2018) 15 lower volurne with the most significant
transactions being linked to collecting and paying
property rentals Typically both rental receipts and
payments are paid monthly in arrears such that the
business cperates on a low working capital requirement
~  Development (representing 5% of divisional revenue
in 2018} 1s based on low volume but high value
transactions Where developments are being built under

a simple contracting relationship, work can be invoiced
dunng the course of construction although typically as
projects approach their conclusion, the receipts become
slower Some mixed tenure developments include units
that are subject to private sale and Mears funds the
buid cost of those urits until their sale The direct works
are entirely subcontracted, being paid in around 30 days
frominvoicing and as a result, this area of our Housing
activities can absorb high levels of warking capitat

The working capital allocation and returns of each activity are set out below

12-month

average Return on

Operating warking working

profit capital capital
£m fm employed*

Maintenance 280 180 >100%
Management 85 17 >100%
1M 156 7%

Development

*Trade receivables less trade payables

Loaking ahead into 2019, there will be a change of prionttes
for Mears We will refocus our capital allocation on those
areas which deliver the best returns whilst being mindful

of the strategic impact such changes may have upon

the Group's future onportunities The relatively modest
working capital requirements of our core maintenance

and management activities, combined with therr attractive
1eturns on capital, ndicate that these are two core areas
where the Group should focus its attention

The property acquisition faciity of £30m was introduced in
2017 to enable the Group to acquire and build portfolios of
properties prior to disposal to a long term funding partner
This provided the Group with an ability ta accelerate the
flow of properties into 1ts Housing Management cperalions
together with an additianal profit opportunity at the point

of transfer The funding requirement is high, relative to

our resources, and the flow of profits irregular Whilst the
property acquisition facility has been useful, its cancellation
over the course of 2019 will have a low strategic impact

The Group has broadened its service capability in recent
years to include the provision of Housing Development,
primanly targeting existing clients, as part of the holistic
service offering to them However, the working capital
absorbed in this area has been higher than expected, and
whilst the financial returns could be considerably higher
than their current levels, the working capital currently
ailocated to this area could be better deployed elsewhere
or used to reduce current net debt levels The Board

will keep this area under close review going forwards

The current pipeline of works will unwind over the coming
three years although the Group will endeavour 1o accelerate
that process, especially for those contracts which have the
highest working capital intensity The reasons for offering
a development capabiity were compelling and remam

s0 The Group will continue to explore ways ih which it

can contribute to its clients” housing development needs,
bt in a way which creates value for bath parties without
significant working capital consequences for Mears
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Strategic report

Chief Executive Officer’s review continued

0,
84%
Care regulatary
compliance

221

Care
apprenticestips

Care
2018 2017
H1 H2 FY H1 H2 FY
Revenue £m 60.3 56.3 116.6 687 654 1341
Oparating profit £m 1.9 19 3.8 Qg 15 05
Operating profit margin % 3.2% 3.4% 3.2% (1 5%) 23% 04%

The performance of the Care division over the last

18 months has been pleasing with a return to profitability
and margin improvement in ine with the challenging target
set by the Board Management remains highly selective m
bidding for any new work and regularly revisits ts existing
activibes, focusing on delivering good qualty care at 2
sustainable margin rather than placing emphasis upon top-
ine growth (n that regard, revenues reduced to £116 6m
{2017 £1341m) while operating margins increased to 3 2%
{2017 0 4%}, marginally ahead of expectation

The Care division secured charge rate increases which
broadly allowed us to match the increasing cost base driven

by an increase in the National Living Wage and increase in
the pension auto-enrolment contribution rate The main
chalienge in Care ramains the sourcing and retention of
sufficient care workers of good quality and this is an area
that continues to recerve significant attention 1115 achieving
success In thes area of operations which underpins the
Group's target af a 5 0% marginin Care

The Group is mncreasmgly directing its Care bidding
activity towards those chents where there are Ikely to be
opporturities to provide a complete Housing service and,
consequently, there 1s less focus on those opportunities
which provide care services n 1solation

In line with the working capital and returns analysis provided in Housing, the Care division dehvers a good return on working

capital employed as set out below

12-month
average Return on
Operating working woarking
profi capnal capral
£m £m employed*
Care 38 136 28%

*Trade receivables less trade payables

Contract awards

Mears continues to see existing and target clients
dermanding a broader Housing offering The Group s
operating very well and our excellent service delivery1s
putting Mears In a good position 1o secure new business
opportumties, notwithstanding the discussion above as
to Group strategy and capitat allocation gatng forward

Mears was delighted to secure its pnmary bidding target
for 2018, the AASC, being awarded three regions with an
estimated contract value of £100m per year over aten
vear period Mears could never previously have beenina
position to have tid such a large and complex contract and
it reflects the significant strategic and operational progress
that the Group has made over recent years In extending
and developing 1ts capabiliies 1t also reflects a change in
Central Government attitude, with a realisation that such
contracts require providers who are specialist at providing
Housing services tagether with a capability for dealing with
vuinerable peaple The tender itself was very intensive in
terms of the time and resource required and at times was
a distraction from the day to day business, howaver we

are delighted at the positive result The new contract wilt
require a stmilar level of intensive suppart from across the
Group thicugh tts maobihsation period, with the soft-star!

in April 2019 and a full go-ive due in September 2019

1a Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018

The year was also busy in terms of new Housing
maintenance contracts with the Group idding in the region
of £7 billion of new opportunities [t was digappointing
that our new contract win rate in this area was fow with a
contract win rate on competitively tendered works of 15%
The Group missed out on & number of key maintanance
contract targets, typically scoring well on quahty but
missing out an price Whilst this win rate 1s disappointing,
the Group has a Yong track record of taking 2 disciplined
approach to hidding and will never be tempted to secure
work at a price which 1s sub-optimal Interestingly a few of
those lost opportuniies are now representing themselves
to us as a result of service levels not being met by the
winning parties

Other notable new contract awards in 2018 include

~  Acontract to defiver repairs and maintenance services
to Riverside Housing Assocation for anindial periad
of five years, valued at £62m There 1s an aption to
extend the cantract for a further five years, taking the
total epportunity to £125m The contract covers over
11,500 homes across the Midlands, East Angha and
the South of England. The service requires Mears to
work alongside Riverside’s own in-house maintenance
provider and commenced in July 2018

~ A contract with Octavia Housing valued at £75m over 10
years, will see our existing contract with Octavia double
In size Mears will now be delivering planned works in
addition to response and void maintenance services



~ 8ince the year end, and not reflected within the 15%
contract win rate, a contract with Horme Group, to deliver
maintenance aind plalmied works (o 10 00U Homes
In the South East The contract, which commences
in Apnl 2019, 1s valued at £200m over a 10 year
term In addition, a contract with London Barough of
Hammersmith and Fulham to deliver response and void
maintenance seryices The contract has been awarded
for a twelve maonth period and 1s valued at £6m
Whilst unusual far the Giuup Lo tender for a contract
with such a short duration, the Group sees thisas a
key client relationstup and 1s delighted to have secured
this engagement

The increasingly INnovative natdre of cul Housimg
Management solutians means that work can often be
secured without the requirement for an extended, competitive
and expensive tender process These oppartunities are nat
valued in the Group's pipeline or in the cantract win rate but
are increasingly matenal o lhe Group New orders secured
during the year through this negotiated route include

~  Apartnership with the Londen Borough of Waltham
Forest {LBWF) to arrange the purchase and
refurbishment on their behalf of 365 homes currently
under private ownership The key aim is to provide LBWF
with an alternative, affordable housing supply to reduce
the significant bed and breakfast accommodation cast
currently being incurred Mears has engaged funding
partners to finance the purchase of properties on
behalf of the client, while it will carry out refurbishment
works and act as managing agent for the portfolio
The contract will be operated by LBWF and Mears for
40 years and the arrangement 1s valuied at circa £75m
Whilst the contract did not go live until August 2018,
the praperty acquisition faciity enabled the Group to
start purchasing properties in March 2018 and by the
year end, the Group was ahead of schedule having
completed the purchase of 65 properties with a strong
acquisition pipeline

~  Apartnership with CBRE Global Investars and 'Step
Farward, a property company established by former
service persannel who are seeking to provide affordable
homes for ex-service personnel and enable Local
Authonties to meet therr duty under the Armed Foices
Cowvenant The proposal s that, under a nomination
agreement, & Local Authority agrees that for each
5106 affordable housing unit, priority will be given to
former and current service people CBRE has crealed
an investment fund of arcund £250m and anticipate
acquinng 2,000 properties over the next two years
to place Into this arrangement Mears, through its
Reaistered Provider, manages the housing, assuming
responsibility for rent collection, occupancy and asset
mahagement over a 22 year period, whilst ensuring
that the conditions of the $106 planning consent are
rmet Based on proper ty numbers of 2,000 this would
equate to revenueas of i excess of £100m over the
contract term

Planning Portal

Case study

Innovating to help our public sectar parthers

The national Planning Portal is run by Mears Group subsidiary,
Terraquest. The Planning Portal has helped to transform the
planning process, making information and services simpler
and more accessible for those involved in the process, be they
applicants, agents or Local Authorities.

In 2018, we made a number of significant service
improvements, for which we now make a small charge
to each application.

By working in partnership with every Local Authority across
England and Wales and focusing on delivering a quality service
to our customers, we will continue to be the national home of
planning and building regulations information and the national
planning application service.

77/

The National Planning Portal, run by
Mears, processes the vast majority
of planning applications in England
and Wales. We work to make planning
faster and more efficient.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018
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Strategic report
Chief Executive Officer’s review continued

Building places where Care and Housing work together
Wa have built on our work to integrate housing and care
living housing and extra care property.

Mears combines its skills to build, manage, mamtain and

provide care to specially adapted homes for elderly and
disabled people to help them live independently.

as Local Authorities look for innovative ways to look after

Balmoral Place

Our extra care scheme — Balmoral Place, opened in 2018,
with more opportunities in the pipeline.

Balmoral Place is an extra care housing scheme offering
an affordable, positive lifestyle chaice for older people in

contracts, at the frant line delivery of service but also in the
creation of new specialist accommodation, such as supported

These schemes are not new, but there is renewed interest

vulnerable peaple and increase their health and wellbeing.

Order book

The order haol ctands 3t €3 2bn (2017 £7 Al The order
hook increases as the Group secures new work and
reduces as works are dejivered The increase of £600m
reflects new orders secured of £1 3bn together with the
order book of £200m acquired cn the acquisition of MPS
before deducting revenues delivered dunng 2018

Bid pipeline and contract expiries
| Hoving concludend an the s ast, e, o bid leain

have moved therr focus towards the Group's other majar
hidding opportunity with the Ministry of Defence (Mob)
The provision of yuality, affardable housing for the Armed
Forces and lher families 1s integral to the Armed Forees
Cavenant With the current nantrart die for renewal and
the procurement methodology heing significantly different
from past MoD tendersy, fMears wiews this as an oxarting
opportunity to become a key provider of management,
maintenance, repars and upgrades to the UK Armed
forces’ housing 11 the UK A tatal of 5 housing-focused lots
are up for tender of which any bidder can win a maximum
of three All lats are being let for an initial 7 year pened with
an extension option for a further 3 years The lots include
ong national housing management ot and 4 regional
reparrs and upgrade lots The bidding process will last

for much of 2019 and the MoD proposes to announce
successful bids in the Spring of 2020 with contracts due
to commence In the Autumin of 2020

Elsewhere across the Group, the pipeline of traditional
opportunities continues to flow at a consistent level with
around £1 billon of new work expected to be tendered this
year The Group is well placed on a number of these and
expects to deliver a contract win rate, by value, in hne with
histarical norms of one in three

The Group has enjoyed a recent penod where few existing
contracts having been up for renewal Az announced
previously, 2079 will be a very busy period for re-bidding
existing contracts with an annual value of £115m up for
renewal in each of 2020 and 2021 This represents scme
nsk over the medium terrm, though a number of these
retenders also provide an opportunity to secure increased
revenues and better terms

Northampton. The scheme provides a safe, secure and vibrant
community for those over 55, who want to live iIndependently
with personalised care designed for their neads,

Mears Housing Management i1s responsible for the day-to-day
running and maintenance of the scheme. Mears Care is an site
seven days a week {o provide a care and support service to our
customers Balmoral Place has an on-site manager, care team
and 24-hour emergency alarm response service

Case study
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£1.3bn

Orders secured

£3.2bn

Forward order book

+15%
2019 Target
revenue growth

O,
4.5%
2019 Target
operaling maigin

Guidance and outlook

As discussed above, the Board expects 2019 to see a
change of priorities for Mears We will reallocate our capitat
10 thase areas of the business which deliver the best
financial returns or use It to reduce debt levels

The Group expects to deliver strong growth in revenues

for 2019 and may exceed £1bn for the first time ever

Within this, Housing Maintenance revenue will grow,
bolstered by the acquisition of MPS, however we will take
the apportunity to exit a number of contracts which are

not delivering their anticipated margins We expect to see
growth in Housing Management revenue across a number
of areas, predominantly through the new AASC contract
which will start to make a significant revenue contribution
during the second-half The Group will continue te explore
ways in which It can contribute 1o its chents Housing
Development needs but In a manner that creates value for
both parties without placing a strain on the Group’s balance
sheet The decision to reposition the Development activities
will result In some reduction in the rate of revenue growth
previously expected from this activity 1In 2019 The Care
division may see a further reduction in revenue as we
continue to focus on service delivery and profitability rather
than revenue growth

While noting the expected trends 1n revenue highlighted
above, Mears expects to make satisfactory progress

in profitability for 2019 Underlying margins acrass the
Housing Maintenance activity will be broadly unchanged
Similarly, the underlying margin in Housing Management
will 2lse be mamtained at the level of the previous year
However, while costs relating to the mobilisation of

the AASC contract are recoverable, any material profit
contribution from this cantract may not anse before

2020 The actions bemng taken in respect of Development
activities may result in a smali loss in 2019 Meanwhile, the
focus in Care will be to continue to deliver the sclid margin
progression delivered in the previous year

For 2020, Group revenue 1s expected to show strong
growth as the full year impact of the AASC contract comes
through and more than offsets the reduction in activity
from Development The Group expects to deliver growth in
Maintenance although the number of contracts to be rebrd
may provide a headwind in this area Profit growth will be
driven by the full year contribution of the AASC contract
which ts expected to reach a typical Housing margin
dunng that year It1s expected that this prafit growth wali
be augmented by the continuing improvernent in MPS as
Its integration progresses

The Board expects the actions being taken to resultin
a reduction in average net debt in 2012 We will look to
continue this downward trajectory through 2020 with
a target average net debt for a 12 month penod, whose
rmidpoint is no later than December 2020, 1o be below
EBITDA for the same penod
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Strategic report
Year of achievement

At Mears we are proud to
have been awarded and
accredited by outside bodies
through rigorous testing.
Our commitment to safety,
our staff and providing social
value to the communities we
work in all make us stand out
from the crowd

22 Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018

Tpas Quality Standard Mark

Mears 1s proud to have maintained its Tpas Quality Standard
Mark, passing the three-yearly assessment every time
since 2006. The Tpas accreditation demonstrates Mears’
commitment to supporting landlords and encouraging
tenant involvement This Quality Mark for contractors is
an assessment of the standard of resident involvement

In responsive repairs, maintenance and capitat works
contracts which ensures best practice for three
consecutive years,

Areas of Mears’ good practice which were highlighted
included tenant conferences and the Mears Change Ciub,
which involved residents in developing Mears policies
and procedures.

12 10]

h

CUSTOMER
ERVICE
EXCELLENCE

Customer Service Excellence accreditation

Customer Service Excellence {CSE) aims to bring
professional, high level customer service concepts into
common currency with every customer service by offering
aunique improvement tool {o help those delivering
services put their customers at the core ot what they do

Care and Housing go through a rigorous assessment

on an annual basis and have successfully achieved this
accreditation year on year for the past six years. They are
assessed on their current service delivery and on how
they have made service improvements on the previous
year's performance. Care has been awarded accreditation
across all of the five CSE standards, with nine Compliance
Plus awards. 36 Housing branches have successfully
gone through the accreditation and have undertaken three
rolling programmes on all hive criteria.




Qedier of
Ristinctian

Royal Society for the Prevention of Accidents

In 2017, Mears was awarded the Highly Commended
Industry Sector Award (making 16 consecutive Golds)
in the prestigious annual scheme run by RoSPA.

Health and safety 1s paramount to our business, and the
achievement of bath of these awards bears testament

to the significant commitment that Directors, managers
and staff have to the health and safety activities within
the Group. It gives recognition that Mears Group is one

of the leading companies in the UK devoted to continually
improving safety, health and cnvironment slandards.

FTSE4Good

FTSE4Good

Mears Group has been recognised for its outstanding
environmental, social and governance practices by
gaining a place in the FTSE4Good Index — which places
Mears in the top 9% of companies in the index.

FTSE4Good 1s an initiative run by FTSE to provide an
Independent measure on the environmental, social

and governance (ESG) practices of companies on its
global index. 1t was set up to cater for a growing number
of investors who want access to a list of companies
recognised for being involved in socially responsible
Investment (SRI).

Organisations haping to be included on the list must
supply robust and detalled evidence on how they fulfil
the index's key indices, which focus on three areas: the
environment, human rights and stakeholder relations

®
- Qw
DIVERSITY <
METWORK

W B NAS Ly

Diversity Network

Mears is very proud to have been awarded Diversity
Network Accreditation (DNA). DNA is a forward thinking
and outcome-based accreditation framework. it is an
independent, robust and comprehensive assessment of
how an organisation deals with equality and diversity.
Achieving DNA Is recognition from the Housing Diversity
Network, the leading specialist body in the sector, that
an organisation has effective leadership and processes
in place and that they are achieving positive outcomes
for those who work for them and their customers.

PHE SUNDAY TS

25
o

Best Companies

In 2019 for the first time, Mears has been accredited by
the Sunday Times Best Big Companies, as being one of
the top 25 big companies ta work for in the UK. For us this
is only the beginning We will work on an action plan in the
coming year to build on our work and aim to come even
higher in 2020.

The Sunday Times Best Companies aims to create a true
measure of workplace engagement to build a happier,
healthier workforce

Its lists and accreditations are now recognised as
the standard in workplace engagement, with specific
categories for small, medium-sized, large and
not-for-profit organisations, and one dedicated

to Housing Associations.
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Strategic report

Listening to our stakeholders

Stakeholder engagement is central to
our strategy. We are focused at delivering
positive outcomes for all our stakeholders

-

Clients

How we engage

Our chents are from Central Government,
Local Government, Housing Associations
and the NHS Qur model has always been
based on establishing long-term partnerships
that address the significant challenges

and opportunities faced by our clients
Transparency and responsthility are at the
heart of our approach and we focus on
solutions that establish sustainable solutions,
rather than quick fixes

Stakeholder expectations

The partners we work with expect a trusted
partner that can contribute to strategic
thinking as well as deliver excellent operational
solutions that improve service and fower long-
term cost Increasingly partners are laoking for
good governance, a strong financial position
and high levels of social responsibility

Relevance to husiness model and strateqy
We operate as trusted fong-term partner

ta the public sectar As partners we have ta
demanstrate that our values complement thelr
own We are not like many other cutsource
organisatians, in that both the focused nature
of our services and the cultural fit with our
clients continue to position us to win major
new contracts, such as with the Home Office,
and to retamn long-standing contracts in the
way that we do We are also careful to not
cantinue with contracts where values are not
aligned, as demonstrated by us handing back
sorme Care contracis in recent years

Tenants and service users

How we engage

We have a long track record of istening to
the needs of our end customers and having
service sclutions that address their needs
effectively Centrally, we have a national
Change Ciub, made up of tenants from acrass
the UK, wha look at strategic service 1ssues
and support improvement At a local level,
every branch is charged with having a plan ta
engage with iocal people This will be through
regular tenant meetings as well as learning
from the 80,000+ surveys that we carry out
each year We benchmark our engagement
meathadologies through Tpas and have lang
been a leader i this field

Stakeholder expectations

Our tenants and service users expect to be
part of developing sofutions rather than to be
simply 2 recipient In Housing, expectations for
engagement are nsing, grven 1ssues Wentfied
post Grenfell and this is hikely to lead to greater
requirements going forward, which we will

fully support In Care, every service user has

a personalised care plan, where each person
directly contributes to the nature of therr care

Relevance to business model and strategy
As an organisation with a clear objective to
be the leader in terms of customer service,
wherever we operate, this cannot be done
without good engagement Our outstanding
customer service performance 1s a testament
to our success
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Communities

How we engage

In terms of community commitment, every
branch s tasked with developing a social value
plan for their area, which demonstrates where
we will add value to the community, often
over and ahove any contract commitments
This might be working with local schools

o encourage and support young women,
thinking of an apprenticeship, or working with
lacal charties 1o support peaple who have
become socially isolated The detail of our
wark 1s shown In the Social value section of
this report

Stakeholder expectatians

Stakeholders expect, given therr long-term
commitment, that we contribute positively to
the communities in which they live They want
us to help focal people into work, to upskill
peapta and to work with them to addrass local
issues where we can

Relevance to business model and strateqy
Being a socially responsible crganisation
wiih a firm commitment to supporting
communities is essentral to being a valued
partner ta our clients Establishing strong
community Inks also helps us attract ihe
right people into our workforce and to
astablish links with other community-based
organisations, which can contribiute to aur
service offer



Colleagues

How we engage

We are proud to be an the Nist of the Sunday
Times 25 Best BIg Companies to Work For
We have a national Warkforce Group that 1s
responsible for setiing the approach to staff
engagement and each local branch has a
People plan, which sets out what it will don
each year We have an Employee Director who
sits on the Mears Group Board, which also
helps ensure that the views of the workfarce
are listened to and actioned

Stakeholder expectations

Our staff want to work for an arganisation
that values thern and the communities in
which they live They want an orgarnisation
that treats people farly and gives them

the opportunity for personal development
Our staff really appreciate the fact that when
they do a good job, they do help make a
difference ta society as a whale, given that
better housing and care can make such a
difference to the wellbeing of so many people

Relevance to busihess model and strategy
Our workforce engagernent is bullt around
the Mears ‘Red Thread” model, which works
to establish the type and cultuie of workforce
that we know will lead ta both customer and
fiancial success

Suppliers

How we engage
We wark in partnership with clients and we

reflect this way of working with our supphers
We focus on keeping our promises to them,
be that how we pay them or the commitments
we make In terms of helping them grow therr
business We chalienge them to operate to
the same social value approaches that we do
and have a clear suppler Charter that sets out
our expectations from them We recogrise
that all supphers cannot be at the same level
as ourselves but will support them where we
cantoimprove As you would expect, we set
appropriate controls 1o ensure work quality
and compliance standards are delivered to
our expectations We also have an established
approach to setting up new suppher
arrangements, to ensure that bath parties are
clear on responsibilities and risks

Stakeholder expectations
The most important thing for our supphers

1S that we keep the praomises that we make to
therm This means that we set out clearly what
18 expected In conjunction with our supply
partners and that we keep our part of the
arrangement in a far and transparent way

Relevance to business model and strateqy
Uur supply chainis fundamental to the
success of our business, both in the pravision
of matenials and in the delivery of services
under aur leadership

O Jf
Investors and bankers

How we engage
The Company Is committed to maintaining

gooad communications with investors Thereis
an active pregramme of commurucation with
existing and potential shareholders There s
increased dialogue with institutional investors
following the publication of final and mntenim
results, which 1s facihitated through a senes of
formal presentations The Company has also
looked to hold additional investor days during
the year to ensure that they are better informed
of market and Company develcpments

The Group regularly receives and responds to
questions raised by small private shareholders
through the investor enquiry portal within the
Group's website The Group holds regular
meetings withils funding partners

Stakeholder expectations
Our shareholders and bankers expect the

Group to maintain & high standard of corporate
governance Mears recently achieved a very
high ratmg from FTSE4Good, which assesses
Iisted company palicies and procedures on
social iImpact, environmental impact and
governance Our shareholders require Mears
to deliver sustainable profitable growth,

with good genelation of free cash flow and
dividend growth

Relevance to business model and strateqy
Our funders are fundamental 1o the Group's
success Meals has utilsed equity to complete
a number of acquisitions, most recently MPS,
Il S and Mornson The Group's crganic growth
strategy has been funded through both debt
and 1ctaimed earnings, nonc of which could
have been delivered without shareholder aned
banker support
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Strategic report
Our market drivers

Responding to a

changing environment

Housing market

Expenditure - by Local Authorities and private
Reqistered Providers in England, Scotland and Wales
{based on official estimates):

2015/16  2076/17 2017/18 2018/19
Housing
Management £71bn £70bn £70bn £70bn
Repalts &
Maintenance £4 5bn £4 5bn £4 4bn £4 4bn
Capital works/
majorf repars £17on £1 5bn £14bn £14bn
Total £13.4bn  £139bn  £12.8bn  £12.8bn

The market for our housing services is stable with
patential for growth. Currently £12.8hi is spenit on
housing management, maintenance and major works.
Following the publication of the Social Housing Green
Paper with a broad commitment from Govemment to
sacial housing, we anticipate that demand from Local
Government pariners and Housing Associations will grow

Social housing build 1s seen by Government as an
engine 1o reach ambitious housing buld targets.

The Green PPaper discusses the next stage of the Decent
Homes Programme and the Treasury has committed
funding to social housing buiid through the Housing
Infrastructure Fund

The debate around homelessness has been recognised
on the political agenda, supported by the Homelessness
Reduction Act 2017 But this is an issue which is
growing, with 95,792 households in temporary
accommadation in the UK. With no commitment for
funding of temporary accommodation new build, we
must continue to find innovative solutions from current
stock alongside our partners,

26 Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018

Care Market

;
+ 8

i1
]
#
#
F
F4
k]

Value of supply of homecare and supported living by
sector and age, England and UK estimate 2016/77
{source Laing Buisson).

All clients Al clients
aged aged Total
18-64 65+  clients
Total market value
(UK estimate) £3926m  £5182m  £3109m

The market for our Care services 1s also growing,

with the hornecare and supported hiving market value
estimated at £9.1bn. Funding for care has wcreased in
both cash and real terms since 2016 and we expect this
trend to coentinue

An ageing population means the need to find new
solutions for caring for people in older age is pressing.
The number of people elgibie for social care will
increase by 30% by 2022, Forecasts predict there will
be a more than 20% increase in people aged over 85 by
2028, by 2039, the average number of households with
people over 75 is predicted to double.

We need legisiative change urgently to place social
care oh a sustainable funding settlement. The Sacial
Housing Green Paper on funding and sustainability
has been delayed since summer 2018 and is now
expected to be published in the coming months.

| egislative certainty on funding will provide our care
business with the certalnty the whole market needs
to continue to grow



Mears’

market
position

|

Best placed to deliver housing Market-leading and sustainable
growth and repairs care provider

Being a strategic partner to the public sector, In Care, we provide a comprehensive range
we ate uniguely placed to meet the challenges of hamecare and complex care services to

of affordable housing and social care In the over 15,000 people a year, enabling clder and
Z1st century The Government has cormmitted disabled people to continue living in theirr own
to provide a boost to the nurmber of social homes This amounts to over 5 5 mililon hours
hames and a "deepening carmimitment ta of care delvvered per year

those who live in them” The Social Housing
Green Paper refers to the next stages of the
Decant Hames Programme and the expansion
of the housing supply

(%

Best placed partner for repairs Leading provider of housing with care
Mears 1s the clear leader with a market We have built on our work to integrate Housing
share of circa 10% and growing, following and Care contracts, at the front ine delivery
our acquisition of MPS of service but also in the creation of new

speciahst accommodation, such as supported

Iving housing and extra care property

©
A

(9
LS

Largest provider of innovative Largest private Registered
solutions to tackle homelessness Provider in the UK

Almost 79,000 households are currently iving Mears owns and operates twa not-for-
In tempaorary accommodation, including bed profit Registered Prowiders, Plexus and
and breakfasts, hostels and private rented Omega Housing Our parinerships allow

us, as a Registered Provider, to contract
with Counclls to provide homelessness
prevention, with settled and temporary

accommodation solutions

accommodation Thisis an increase of 4,000
since last 2018 Mears 1s the leading provider
of mnovative salulions alangside our partners
In Local Gavernment

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018
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Strategic report
Our market drivers continued

Critical market factors that
influence performance

Orivers

Patential opportunities and risks

Political and ecanomic landscape

~ Social Housing Green Paper published ~ includes
more powerful tenant voice and regulation, lays ground
for next stage of Decent Homes Programme and
safety, expanding home ownership; and treatment
of complaints

~ Green Paper oh Social Care expecied in coming months

~ Brexit uncertainty

~ Mergers of larger Housing Associations

~ Impact of Grenfell tragedy

~ End of austerity spending from Government

Greater commitment 1o affordable and social
hausing evident

Commitment to implement the Hackitt Review
of Building Regulations and Fire Safety in full
Decent Homes Programme next stage likely

to create additional workstreams

Some workforce issues and delays te legislation
as aresult of the distraction of Brexit

Rising levels of homelessness
due to housing shortage

Innovative and rapid solutions needed given likely
continued slow growth on new build provision
Haomelessness still grawing - 79,000 n 2019
Target to build 300,000 hames per year and
planning reforms to streamiline process

Brexit creating some funding uncertamnty

Demographic change

More specialist housing needed to imit escalating
cost to the NHS and social care sector

Care spend rising in cash and real terms — Social
Care Green Paper is overdue but its eventuai
publication will pravide the opportunity to create

a long-term and sustainable funding regime

The pace of change on care funding is slower
than needed

Rising customer expectations

~ Collapse of Cariflion

~ Rising tenan expectations

~ Post-Grenfell focus on social value across the market

Customers’ quality, communication and speed
expectations continue to increase

Stronger tenant voice demanded by Social Care
Green Paper

Some reluctance to autsource following Carition
Opportunity to demonstrate the core strengths
of our business model
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Mears' response

~ Continuing to deiiver market-leading service and not
compramising on pricing

~ Fully engaged on Sacial Housing Green Paper to ensure
best outcomes

~ Growing our share of the repairs market with the acquisition
of MPS

~ Market-leading approach to workforce engagement shown
by Sunday Times Best Companies accreditation

Addressing client pressures from growing regulation
and compliance

Range of outsourcing models to suit varying client requirements
All divisions ready to capitalise on Government spend increase

~ Increasing the supply of more affordable homes

~ We have become the leading provider of cost-effective
homelessness solutions

~ Creating temporary accommodation from current buiiding
stock rather than waiting for pipeline

Broadened footprint to areas of specific need e.g. MoD, Asylum
Improving planning efficiency through the national

Planning Portal

Our housing providers Plexus and Omega now represent the
largest Private Registered Social Landlard in the UK

~ Focused involvement with homecare, where Councils
are creating a more sustainable model

Development of specialist housing solutions stich as extra care
Championing social care reform

~ Mears’ single focus on the tenant in their home

~ Benchmarking agamst the best across all industries

~ Supparting regulatory change that gives service users
a bigger voice

~ Proactively demonstrating our approach to outsourcing

Working to continuously improve tenant engagement
Highlighted by accreditation from Tpas

Continuing to support better communities in which service
users live

Commitment to social value and tenant engagement
through Change Club and other partnerships
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Strategic report
Our business model

We focus on long-term
outcomes and positive
social, economic and
environmental impact

Our key resources and relationships

Outstanding partnerships

We work with Central and Loca! Government as well

as Housing Associations. Qur end service users are the
recipients of housing services and care in the home.

Exceptional people

We recognise our staff as our greatest asset.

Mears employees are skilled in delivering an excellent
servige whilst showing a strong customer service ethos
and an empathy for our service Users.

Market-leading technolody

our performance s buili on a bedrock of first class
IT platforms giving market-leading capability and
driving innovation.

Supply chain pariners

We choose suppliers who share our values and meet
our standards. We work closely with suppliers 1o
develop innavative services and integrate them with our
core systems

Financial stabillty

We receive funding through shareholder capital, retained
profits, debt and cash generation to run our business
and fund its activities. We have a long track record

of maintaining solid margins even during difficult
trading conditions.

Innovation

The challenge of defivering service improvements at
|lower cost requires innovative thinking and the use
of tachnology We create and lead best practice in
our markets.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2078

~ Manage housing stock
~ Innovative funding

.+ Planning suppart

Housing
strategic
development

Creating more '

- decenthomes




Community outcomes

{
oﬁ Better place to live

-—
How we
Reduced
‘i homelessness generate
revenue
Reduced pressures
on the NHS and
more cofficient public
— sector spend _
Mears' revenue is generated
Improved life from payments from
chances for Government, Local Authority,
OGP [ndividuals Housing Association and NHS

Trust clients in respect of its
Housing and Care services.
Whilst the end service users
are at the centre of our
business model, they rarely

= pay for the service directly.
' =
~ Regenerate, refurbish o
and re-purpose stock L
~ Intelligent maintenance =
o
m The value we share
How
@ Investors and bankers proﬁts
- =|| @ Read more on page 25
convert
MO sooiers to cash
N @ Kead more nn
~ pages 24 and 25
We have a long-standing
Clients record of converting profit into
i ﬁ @ Read more on cash, utilising strong financial
- 4 pages 24 and 25 management combined with
good relationships with clients
® Communities and supply chain.
@ Read more on
pages 5261
Colleagues
@ Read more oh
52-61
~ pages
Tenants and service
.E’n users
@ Read more on
A 4 page 24

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018 31

Sjualuiziels [elouelny soueulsach ajeiodion 1001 JIDAENS

UONEBLLIOJUI 13P|CYRIBYS



Strategic report

Our strategy

Investing in our strategy

Strategic priorities Performance in 2018

~ Winning our biggest ever contract with the
Home Office
’ ~ Developing the national Planning Portal
~ Continued growth of our Housing Management
and New Build divisions
~ Significantly increased care margins

Deepening our client relationships
in both Care and Housing

w~ 93% rated our service as excellent
: i ~ CSE accreditation

Increasing quality leadership

~ Recruited an Emplayee Director

~ Redachied 3unday Tinnes list of 26 Beot Big Companiag
1o Wark Frr
i’ Achiovod Housing Thiversity Netwark agereditation
()

Developing our people

32 Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018



Focusin 2019 Link to KPIs Link to risks
tmprove win rates ~ Extending services with existing clients ~ A number of existing contracts will be
Create more housing with ~ Retaining contracts at sustalnable pricing retendered over the next 18 months
care opportunities ~ Winning work with new clients that share ~ Continued delays in decision making
Continue to grow our Housing our values related ta Brexit and uncertain

Management capability

palitical environment

Ensure we mobilise the Asylum
contract well

Ensure all MPS Housing cantracts
perfarm to Mears service
standard expectations

~ Sarvice user and client feedback ~ We continue to demonstrate that quality
leads to long-term cost reductions

Continue to improve staff retention
Ensure that we recruit effectively to
mobilise new contracts

Continue to increase diversity at all levels
in the organisation

Ensure we successfully integrate

MPS staff into the overall Mears

Group, achieving efficiencies and
enhanced performance

~ Staff retention ~ Uncertainty created around Brexit
~  Benchmarking v other organisation

~ Ability to fill vacancies cost effectively

~  Margin improvements

@ Read more on pages 34-37 @ Read more on pages 471-42
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Strategic report

Key performance indicators

Measuring our progress

Mon-Financial

.

Excellent’ service ratin

(Housing)

in order for customers to recommend us, we
must deliver excellent service We randomly
conduct around 80,000 customer surveys
per yeal

Results from the year

93%
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We are delighted that our service delivery has
remained at a high level Strong performance
will ensure compehtiveness as we continue to
be ranked above our peers QOur target for 2019
1s to do even better

Customer complaints
{Housing)

Incidents resulting from poor service result In
a complaint We are committed 1o dealing with
all complaints on an individual basis

Carer churn

{Care)

The carer churn figure 1s calculated as the
total number of leavers during the year as a
proportion of the average carer headcount

Results from the year

0.25%
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We are committed to providing our colleagues
with the skills and equipment to deliver great
service We seek 1o 1dentify trends in arder to
Improve our overall service quality

Results from the year

46%
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The main chalienge in Care remains the
soureing and retention of sufficient care
workers of good quality and this s an area
that continues to receive significant attention
The carer churn measure increasing Is very
disappeimnting but we have already put in place
actions to iImprove this

How we performed
2018 target

92%
o Qutperformance

2019 target

>93%

\H‘Ill tinked to Directors’ remuneration
- reatlmoie on page 89

How we perfarmed
2018 target

<0.27%
o Qutperformance

2019 target

<0.25%
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How we performed
2018 target

o)
30%
o Underperformance

2019 target

40%



Business development

New contract success

{Housing)

Contract success 15 measured by results of
tender by contract value We typically tender
around £1bn of new opportunitles each year
The average contract length 1s around six
years In order to achieve our organic growth
forecasts, we monitor the proportion of new
contracts secured as a proportion of total
tendered works

Order book
{Group)

Qur order book provides us good visibility of
those revenues secured for future periods

It 1s helpful that we have long-term contracts
that allow us ta plan with confidence, in the
knowledge that we have significant revenues
already contracted It is also positive for all our
stakeholders, providing stability to our supply
chain, funders and, most importantly, for
recruiting and motivating our workforce

Results from the year

40%
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The Housing Maintenance division’s new bid
conversion rate was below historical norms
We are not worned by this There has been no
lack of good quality opportunities to bid and
we are pleased with the guahty of our tender
submissions Positively, we secured three
regions of the new Asylurn contract, valued
at £1bn over the ten-year term Given its size,
this has skewed the new contract success
rate We are pleased to have delivered against
target, hut equally realise we must perform
better in 2019

Results from the year

£3.2bn
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The arder book increases as the Group
secures new works and reduces as revenues
are delivered It will be challenging to grow the
order book In 2019 given the iming of new
bidg, but we are delighted to have grown the
order book so strongly in 2018 and we would
also hope to see an inciease In 2020 when the
MoD tender process reaches its conclusion

How we performed
2018 target

33%
o Outperformance

2019 target

33%

How we performed

2018 target

£2.6bn
o Qutperformance

2019 target

£2.7bn
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Strategic report

Key performance indicators continued

Financial performance

Revenue growth
(Housing)

Revenue represents the amounts due for
services provided duning the year (n order

to reasure organic graowth, we deduct
incremental revenue arising from acguisitions
We belleve that organic growth gives a better
indication of business performance, as i1s a
purer aggregation of market growth, success
In hew contract bidding and contract retention

Adjusted operating margin
{Group)

Operating margin is the KPl used to measure
and ungerstand the profitabifity of our
activities This KPlis used to continually
monitor our costs to ensure services are being
delivered efficiently

Average net debt
(Group}

Good working caprtal management remains

a cornerstone of the bustness The GroupsiT
systerns are designed to deal with the challenges
of high volume and low value activities

This g particularly relevant to the Group's core
Mantenance, Management and Care actvities
The Group has utiised debt to find acquisitions
over the last five years of circa £60m which is
reflected in the iIncreasing average net debt

Results from the year

-2%
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The revenue for the year s shightly lower
than our expectation In Mamntenance, same
raverues expected to be delivered in 2018
were re-phased and will be delivered in 2019
Our Development acivities expenenced a
challenging last quarter, with a significant
slowdown in sales activity impacting
negatively on both revenues and working
capital With the acauisition of MPS together
with the mohilisation of the Asylum contract,
growth expectations for 2019 are high

Results from the year

4.7%
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The Housing divigion contributed an aperating
margin of 5 0%, with second half margin
reporting a smalf reduction fallowing the
acquisition of MPS and cosis expensed in
respect of the Asylum mobilisation However,
Care margins iIncreased 10 3 3% (2017 0 4%)
reflecting the continued focus on service delivery
and sustanabie marging rather than revenue
growth The blended margin fell short of target,
but did show an increase on the prior year which
1s pleasing The 2019 target 1s set lower reflecting
the decision to refocus the Development
activities, combined with the new Asylum
contract which 15 expected to break even in 2019

Results from the year

£113m
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In 2019, we will refocus our capital allocation
on those areas with the lowest working
caprtal requtrament and the Board will take
active steps to reduce debt over 2019 and
2020 The release of cash from the unwinding
of Developrnent ray be phased over time,

so it 1s prudent to assume that 2020 may
show a more significant reduction in net

debt than 2019

How we performed
2018 target

0,
0%
o Underperformance

2019 target

15%

How we performed
2018 target

>5.2%
o Underperformance

2019 target

4.5%
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How we performed
24318 target

£110m
o Underperformance

2019 target

£105m



Growth in hormalised diluted EPS

(Group)

Normalised earnings are stated before
exceptional costs and exclude the
amortisation of acquisition intangibles
together with an adjustment to reflect
a full tax charge

Health and safety

Accident frequency rate

{Greup)

Providing our employees with a safe working
environment remamns paramount Our accident
frequency rate (AFR) 1s calculated as the
number of reportable incidents (by both
employees, service users and third parties}
divided by the number of hours worked,
multrphed by 100,000

Results from the year

4%
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Normalised diluted earnings per share of
2906p (2017 28 05p) reflected the increase
in profits, increasing by 4% The target for
2019 has been set to mamtain earnings at this
level to reflect the expected loss N respect

of refocusing the Development activities

and the break-even forecast for the new
Asylum contract

Results from the year

0.22
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We are proud of our record in this area and

we continue 1o invest in aur health and safety
tramnig, which 1s delivered threugh our in-
house registered training provider We place
emphasis upon all accidents and near misses,
however trivial, being reported and properly
captured, which naturally impacts negatively
on this measure Much of this Increase relates
to an improved reporting regime Whilst we
have fallen short of our stretch target, our
accident rates are already at very low levels
for our sector However we will continue to
strive to deliver further improvements ta this
critical area

How we performed

2018 target
o
>95%
o Underperformance

2019 target

0,
+3 /0 (before impact of IFRS 16)

V‘“' 1 nked to Diectars’ iemunet aling
= tread more on frage 50

How we performed

2018 target

0.16
o Underperformance

2019 target

0.21

AR | e to Duectars remtinetation
A4
- read more on page 80
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Strategic report
Risk management

Effective management of risks and
opportunities is essential to the delivery
of the Group'’s strategic objectives, the
achievement of sustainable shareholder
value and maintaining good standards
of corporate governance

Risk management process

Strategic governance

The Board
T ‘ Nomination Remuneration The Chief

Operational and First line Second tine Third line
financial governance of defence of defence of defence
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The Senior Management Team

The Senior Management Team reviews and 1dentifies
the key nisks which may impact upon the achievernent
of the Group's strategic goals and will consider how these
nsks are developing with changes in the operations,
markets and the regulatory environment

The natute of the nisk 1s reviewed, including the possible
triggering events and the aggregated impacts, before
setting appropriate mitigation strategies directed at

the causes and consequences of each risk The risk 18
assessed In relation to the kefihood of occurrence and
the potential impact of the nisk upon the business, and
assessed against a matrix scoring system which is then
used to escalate nsks within the Group as approprate
The Senior Management Team has responsibility for
ranaging the Group's key risks

The Board

The Board has overall tesponsibility for determiring

the nature and extent of nisk it 1s willing to accept within
the agreed strategy, and ensunng that nsks are managed
effectively across the Group

Risk 15 a reguiar agenda rtem at Board meetings and is
closely aligned to strategy review

The Board also reviews reports on the effectiveness
of the systems and processes of risk management and
internal control

The Audit Committee

The Audit Committee monitors the Group’s key nisks
identified by the risk assessment processes and reports
findings to the Board it also has delegated responsibility
for reviewing in detail the effectiveness of the Group's
systern of Internal control policies and procedures for
the identification, assessment and reporting of nsk

Compliance Committee

Created In 2017 as a sub-committee of the Audit Committee,

1ts purpose Is to continue to increase the Board's focus on
health and safety strategy and performance, regulatory
comphance and related risk management and provide

a closer link between the Board and the operations

Risk management function
The Group rnsk function, headed by the Group’s Chief

Risk Officer, supports the nisk management process by
providing guidance and suppert to management Group risk
also acts as the central paint for the coordination and initial
review of nsk assessment and nsk monitoring procedures
To ensure our risk management process contmues to

drive iImprovernent, the Group nsk function monitors the
ongoing status and progress of mitigation plans on a
quarterly basis

The Group outsources glements of Internal audit and
cyber-secunty to external adwisers The contrel environment
1s underpinned by a detailed scheme of delegated
responsibilities that defines processes and procedures

for the approvat process in respect of decision making
This ensures that decistons within the arganisation are
made by the appropniate level of management

Risk managemernt approach

The Group's approach 1o risk management is targeted
towards early identification of nsks and mitigation of thase
nisks to reduce their ikelihood and impact

The Group 1s committed to protection of 1ts assets through
an effective nsk management process, supported by
insurance where appropriate Examples of assets within
scope nclude human, intellectual, physical property and
financial resources

Reporting within the Group is structured so that key issues
can be escalated rapidly through the management team
to the Board where appropriate Risks are continually
monitored, contingency plans are provided and this
nformation 1s reperted through established procedures.
There 1s extensive fieldwork undertaken by nsk auditors
ncorporating systems review, branch visits and cross-
business survellance

The internal control approach 1s designed to manage rather
than eliminate the sk of failure and thus can only provide

a teasonable, rather than absolute, assurance against
rmatenal misstatement or loss
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Strategic report
Risk management continued

Risk management process

The responsibility for risk 1dentification, analysis, evaluation
and mitigation rests wath the ine management of the
businesses They are also responsible for reporting and
monitaring key risks in accordance with estabhished
processes under the Group operational palicies

ldentified risks are documented in risk registers showing
the nisks that have beendentified, characteristics of the
nsks, consequences of the risks, the basis for determining
the mitigation sirategy, and what reviews and monitoning
are necessary The person(s) accountable for assessing
and monitonng each nisk is noted

We continue to drive improvements in our rigk managerment
process We also review our business maodel, core markets
and business processes to ensure that we have properly
dentified all nsks We continually review our mitigating
actions to ensure that they are sufficient to minimise our
residual nsk Key financial and non-financial nsks identified
by the business from the rnisk assessment processes

Prioritising our risks

are collated and reviewed by the Audit Committee

The financial and non-financial risk registers are reviewed
to manitor the status and progression of mitigation plans,
the key nisks are reported to the Board on a regular basis

Principal risks
The Board has carned out a robust assessment of the

principal nsks facing the Group, ncluding those that
threaten the business model, strategy, future performance,
solvency and hquidity Risks have been identified as
‘principal’ based on the likelihood of oecurrence and

the seventy of the iImpact on the Group, and have

been identified through the apphcation of policies

and processes previousiy outlined The Board 1s keen

to simiplfy the reporting of 11sks, to ensure the risks
disclosed to shareholders are thase thatl are considered as
business critical or petentially catastrophic Therefore no
additional nisks have been disclosed in this Annual Report
These business-as-usual risks are monitored by

divisional management

The Group's risk reqister rates risks on a matrix sconng systermn based on therr likelihaod and Impact,

1Le patential severity This seventy can be measured using ife and imb, financial, customer service, growth,
regulatory compliance and reputational criteria Therefare, Mears measures mare than simply the financial
impact of the sk These scores are used 1o escalate nsks and to drive the mitigation plans

. Health and safety

. People

Key

Reputation . . IT and data Gross risk

Net risk

O IT and data

Q
<
=
g
3
O
2
[=]
‘6
-
3 .
© —
= 2
[} g :
- . - 5
= . % %%
Low Maoderate Serious Critical
>
I
Severity of impact
\';‘Ilh Read more in the Corporate @ Read more in the Report of the
gavernance section oh page 69 Audit Committeg on page 77
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Strategic report
Principal risks and uncertainties

Modai MbDalens

Risks are identified as ‘principal’ based §
on the likelihood of occurrence and the
potential impact on the Group. The Group's
principal risks are identified below, :
together with how we mitigate those risks. .
Key risk movements %
Each principal risk i1s considered in the context of how 1t relates to the achievement of the Group's strategic objectives The nisk discussion 5
includes assessment of gross ngk and net nsk Gross nsk reflects the exposure and nsk landscape befere considering the mitigations in place, g
with net nsk being the residual nisk after mitigations The gross 115k moverment from the prior year for each principal nsk has been assessed and =

15 presented below

Mitigations In place supporting the management of the nisk to a net risk position are also described for each pnincipal nsk %
o
g
Reputation tncreased gross nsk exposure o ,i;
=
Definition Mitigation Well-communicated policy for dealing with press =y
We recognise the significant commercial ~ In-house IT system develeped to provide enquiries and incident management g
value attributable to the Mears brand operational management with a real-ime ~ Care risk pians for dealing with vulnerable =
Qur success In securing larger and mare dashboard of service delivery indicators customers 3
complex contracts, such as the new Asylum . ernal auditing of KPI reporting including ~ Compliance management of bribery and
contract, Increaseas the risk of reputational mystery shoppers’
corruption legislation and whistleblowing
damage in the event of fallure
B d ~ Strict process in place for vetting and approval policy
oor senvice delivery would damage our of subcontractors ~ Wenduct and tram all new starters Thus

reputation Bath our Housing and Care

~ |
s mecoseion commumes e~ SIS b vior oo
examples of poor performance are quickly Irst, ;3 15 con '”Uaty rel g v ers 0!
communicated widely internal communications roup’s culture
o h ff are t d for
in the environment of caring for vuinerable We ensure that staff are properly traine
their roles We ensure that we deliver relevant

people, there 1s a risk of isolated mcidents
of abuse and neglect, which nghtly receive
significant press coverage with the
inevitable reputational damage

KPls associated with risk:

~ 'Excellent’ service rating

traning and iImplement best practice

~  Custormer complaints
~ Carerchurn
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Strategic report

Principal risks and uncertainties continued

People

DRefinition

The Group employs over 10,000 peonle
who are erittcal 1o the success of our
contract perforrnance Attracting and
maintaining good refations with employees
and the iInvestment in ther traming and
development are essential to the efficiency
and sustainability of the Group's operafions
Delivery of strategic objectives increases
our ability to attract, motivate and retain
talent In addition, the Care division 15 facing
a challenging environment where the abihity
to recruit and retain carers 1s restrnicting
performance

KPls associated with risk:
~ ‘Excellent’ service rating

-~ Customer complants
~  Carer chum

Ne change e

Mitigation

We induct and tran all new starters This induction
ensures that all nevr employees understand our
strategy, vision and values All Care staff have
access to NVQ training

We regularly review and benchmark our
remuneration packages to ensure that they
remain competitive i Care, we are investing

In an innovative recruitment process to ensure
an increase In the volume and qualty of carers
Local Care branches are targeted cn a monthly
basis in the areas of recruitment and retention

At the senior end of the business, we have
increased our focus on succession planning
and increased our investment in semor
management development Our semor
leadership programme has identified a cross-
sectian of the Group's tinightest talent that we
would envisage will play central roles in our
future business

Expanstan of apprenticeships

An annual appraisal process 1s completed for

all employees to ensure that all people receive
feedback in respect of their performance and

to 1dentify future training and development
requirements We hold a national accreditation
as an Investor in People We are continually
looking to improve our posttion as an employer of
chotce by impraving the level of engagement with
our emplayees through formal communications,
awards to recagnise success, local events and
family fun days

~  We are continually rnomitenng our future skills
requIrements

~ We regularly undertake employee surveys
to gauge employee satisfaction and
engagerment, and any barriers to high level
perfarmance

Health and safety

Definition

Pravention of injury or loss of ife for both
employees and customers 1s of uimost
importance inaddition, it s vital to maintain
the confidence our custamers and clients
have in our business

KPls associated with risk:
~ Accident frequency rates

~ Customer complaints
~ ‘Excellent’ service rating

IT and data

Definition

A major incident or catastrophic event
could impact on the Group's ability to trade
n addition, 1t is essential that the security
of customer, employee and Company
confidential data 1s maintained A major
breach of information security could have
a major negative financial and reputational
mpact on the business The risk landscape
of IT and data 1s constantly increasing with
deliberate acts of cyber-crime becoming
more sophisticated and frequent across

all markets

Mitigation

Significant investment in the centralised health,
safety and environment (HSE) function to
maintam consistency and quality

~ We have comprehensive safe systems of work

which are well communicated through a rabust
and coordinated wnternal traimng regime

We have robust processes for inducting new
staff to ensure the importance of health and
safety 1s emphasised together with detaled
method statements for warking safely

Creation of a Compliance Commitiee to
monitor and oversee health and safety strategy
and performance, requlatory comphance and
risk managerment

No change °

Closer review of bulldings safety compliance

{post Grenfell) in tugher nsk areas, e g Housing

Management

~ Regular HSE traming and updates are held,
predominantly delivered by the in-house
training function

~ Independent review of health and safety
cases by insurers where recormnmendations
of change are implemented

~ Interrial health and safety audrting takes place
using third party vahdation

~ A Group health and safety strategy and plan
are produced annually

Mitigation

The Bustness Continuity Plan s constantly
reviewed and frequently tested to ensure s fit
for purpose

Business continuity and IT disaster recovery
management resource 1s convened at short
notice ta manage the response and any
assocated nsk to the Group

General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR)
steering group

Increased gross nsk exposure

tested to recommend improvements which are
then implemented

information security penetration 1s externally

~  Data Secunty Commirttee In place to monitor
and review both physical data secunty and 1T
data securrty

~ GDPR implementation pian and steerng group

42
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Strategic report

Business planning and financial viability

Business planning
and financial viability

In accordance with provision C 2 2 of the UK Corparate
Governance Code 2014, the Directars have assessed the
viability of the Group aver a five-year period A peniod of five
years has been chosen as it reflects the average contract
length, being a blend of an average contract length of six
years in Housing and three years in Care Whilst the Group
holds contracts which extend beyond this time honzon,

a period of greater than five years 1s considered too long,
given the inherent uncertainties invalved

The Board considered 1ts key risks The principal risks are
set out on pages 41 and 42 and the most relevant of these
fisks on viability were considered to be

~ aservice delivery failure, possibly resuluing in the death
or harm of a service user, with significant negative
publicity and long-term reputation damage,

& health and safety failure resulting In senous personal
Injury or death af an employee or service user, leading
to significant financial penalties and significant
reputational damage, and

~ afalurenour IT systems impacting upon our ability to
deliver our services We provide services to vulnerahle
people and even a short penod of downtime could
cause severe reputation damage A serious system
failure could have significant impact to invoicing our
customers and collecting cash

A financial model has been built on a contract-by-contract
basis for the next 12 months and extended on a business-
by-business basis for the following four years The five-year
plan considers cash flows as well as financial covenants
Consideration was given to a number of key assumptions,
namely future revenye growth, operating margins and
working capital management The assumptions were

set at levels which were broadly in-line with the current

run rates Sensitivity analysis was undertaken to stress-
test the resihence of the Group and its business model

to the potential iImpact of the Group’s principal nisks, or a
combination of those nsks The Board overlaid the patential
impact of the principal nsks which could affect solvency or
lguidity in ‘severe hut plausible’ scenanos

Three scenarios were modelled

~ Secenano 1 Asreported in detailin the Annual Repart,

the Group has been awarded a contract in respect

of Asylumn Accommodation and Support Services

The contract I1s large in size, in excess of £100m per
annum Whilst this award 1s of significant strategic
impaortance to the Group, in the event of any fallure In
maobiisation, service delivery or pncing, this contract
could impact negatively on bath reputation and financial
viability A key assumption underpinning the contract
pricing relates to occupancy rates, the tender model
assurmed the requirement for around 4,500 properties,
accommodating 15,000 service users This scenano
assumes a significant deterioration in accupancy rate,
resulting in an increase In the number of properties
required by circa 30%, at an additionat cost of around
£16 5m per annum The additional cost flows directly
to operating profit although the model assumes that no
steps are taken to either drive operaticnal iImprovement
or take other mitigating steps

~ Seenano ? This scenario takes a negative stance

respect of Housing Maintenance contract renewals

As detailled within the Annual Report, 2020 and 2027 wall
experience a high level of existing contracts coming up
for re-bid The annualised value of these re-bids, over the
course of twa years, is circa £225m The Group has a
solid track-record of re-securing work on re-bid For the
purpases of considering the viability of the Group, the
meodel has assumed that all matenal contracts that
come up for re-bid over thig 24-month penod are (ost
This loss of revenue results In a reduction in Housing
gross margin and an under-recovery in central support
averhead, resulting in a reduction in net profit margin
from 5 0% to 4 6% n year b of the maodel

- Seenano 3 a combination of both scenario 1 and 2

The combination of both significant loss in margin
from scenario 1 and reduced revenues and operating
leverage tnggered in the event of scenario 2, the
combined scenana restilts in a profit margin reduced
from 5 0% t02 6%
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Strategic report

Business planning and financial viability continued

All scenarios showed that the Group would rermnam viable
even in the event of a severe husiness faillure over an
extended penod No mitigating actions were included
withm erther scenarma, which was considered conservative
but not entirely realistic Whilst the Group's opesations are
entirely based in the UK, the large network of branches
reduces the risk of senous business interruption through

a single fallure In addtion, the Group has a broad spread
of customers — the fargest single client 1s now 10% of
Group revenues, bemng the Asylum contract All scenarnios
have prowvided comfort that, while sigmficant, the loss of a
mayjor client waould nat impact on the Group's wider viability
The Group's existing debt facilities run to November 2022
The future viability review extends narrowly beyond this
date and theiefore assumes that there will be sufficrent
appetite from our existing or new funders to provide the
required level of funding on similar terms  The Group's
average daily net debt in 2018 was circa £113m In all three
cases, it is forecast that the Group wauld have delivered

a reduction in its debt level at renewal compared with

the balance today, and it could be n a position to seek &
reduction in the faciities required at renewal
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The Board also considered the impact of Brexit on the
husiness and does not envisage any significant negative
effect impacting on the Group’s viabifity for the penod
under review

The Board is mindful that there has been a significant
Increase (0 the fines that can be levied upon companies
for non-comphance in areas such as healih and safety,
and data protectian Fines are discretionary based on the
nature, gravity and culpability of the company but fines are
applied based upon a percentage of Group revenue Ina
low margin business such as Mears, any single fine could
have a significant and disproportionate impact on retained
profits The Board took the view, however, that, whilst such
ant event could be damaging, 1t would not ultirmately impact
on the long-term viability of the Group Both health and
safety, and IT and data feature high on the Group's risk
register and we continually review our mitigating actions to
ensure that we minimise our residual nisk

The Board accepts that uncertainty of results increases as
the projections cover a five-year petiod However, the Board
concluded that there was a reasonable expectation that the
Group would continue in operation and would be able to
continue to meet iabifities as they feli due over the five-year
period of business plannimg



Strategic report

Financial review

The Directors are taking a number
of active steps to progressively
reduce debt

s TN

Andrew C M Srnith
Finance Director

29.06p

MNarmahsed
diluted EPS

22.91p

Statutory
diluted EPS

This section provides further key information in respect
of the financial performance and financial position of the
Group to the extent not already covered within the Chief
Executive review

Alternative performance measures (APM)

APMs used by the Group are detalled below 1o provide

a reconciliation for each non-IFRS measure to its IFRS
equivalent and an explanation as to why management
considers the APM to provide a better understanding as to
the Group's underlying performance The APMs are used
externally to meet investor requirements and also used
when reporting financial performance internally

The Group defines normalised results as excluding the
amortisation of acquisthion intangibles and exceptional
costs and adjusted to reflect a full tax charge and uses
these results are used for reporting all profit and EPS
measures Thig aids consistency when comparing with
hustorical results and enables performance to be evaluated
before non-recurring items Investors typically require
resuits to be reparted before the amortisation of acguired
intangibles and the Group's adjusted earnings measure
reflects this

Amortisation

Normalised Full tax of acquired Statutory
result for year charge intangibles Exceptional  (all activities)
2018 £°000 £'000 £000 £000 £'000
Sales revenue 869,843 - - - 869,843
Cost of sales (662,825) - - - (662,825)
Gross profit 207,018 - - - 207,018
Total administrative costs (166,177) - 4,434) (5,657) {176,268)
Operating profit 40,841 - (4,434 (5657) 30,750 |
Finance income 1,154 - - - 1,154
Finance costs (3,473) - - - (3,473)
[ Profit for the year before tax 38,522 - (4.434) (5.657) 28,431 |
Tax expense (7,231) 2,310 - 1,315 (3,606)
Profit for the year 31,291 2,310 {4,434 (4,342) 24,825
Earnings per share
Basic 29.24p 222p {4 25p) {416p) 23.05p
Diluted 29.06p 220p (422p) {413p) 22.91p
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Strategic report
Financial review continued

£22 Sm Amortisation Statutory Statutory
° Narmahsed of acquired (continuing  (discontinued Statutory
Intial consideration result foryear Fulltax charge intangible activities) activities)  (all activities
)
for MPS acquisttion 2017 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £'000
Sales revenue 900,184 - - 800184 - 900,184
£11.1Im Cast of sales (676,482) ~ - (676,482) - (676,482)
Final Deferred Gross profit 223,702 -~ - 223,702 - 223,702
congideration Total administrative costs (184,557) - (10,638) (195,189) - (195,189)
m respect of [ operating profit 39151 - (10,638) 28,513 - 28,513 |
Omega acquisition
Finance income 751 - - 757 - 751
Finance costs {2.780) - - (2,780) - (2,780)
Profit for the year before tax 37122 - (10,638) 26,484 - 26,484
Exceptional tems - - - (16,500) {16,500)
Tax expense (6,682) 2,367 - (4,315) 3176 (1,139)
Profit / (loss) for the year 30,440 2367 (10,638) 22,169 {13,324) 8,845
Earnings per share
Basic 28 2%p 231p {10 32p) 20 28p (12 93) 7.35p
Diluted 28 05p 2 28p (10 23p) 2010p (12 81) 7.29p

Acquisitieng

{i) Certain business assets and contracts fram the
praperty services division of Mitie

In November 2018, Mears completed the acquisition of
certain business assets and contracts fram the property
maintenance business of Mitie, with the acquired business
branded as MPS Housing (‘'MPS"), as detailed in the Chief
Executive Review The imtial cash consideration was £22 5m
and was funded through an 1ssue of approximately 6 8m new
ordinary shares. The business was acquired on a cash free,
debt free basis, with a target net asset value, based on the
sellers’ accounting policies, of £12 3m

Whilst the acquisition was a share transaction, there

was a business transfer into a newly incorporated

vehicle immediately prior to completion Thig transaction
structure added a fayer of complexity but positively
reduced the Group's exposure to risks associated with
share capital transactions, such as pensions, taxation and
legacy activities

The fair value of the net agsets acquired, based upon Mears
accounting palicies and reflecting a level of conservatism,
18 estimated to be £71m and after recognising intangible
assets of £17 4m and deferred tax of £3 3m, goodwill of
£3 3m was recorded Given the proximity of the acquisition
to the year end, the Directors have not concluded their
assessment of the assets and habities acquired and this
estimate remains provisional and will be finalised during
2019 Inevitably there will be both posive and negative
varlances as Judgements and estimates are revised In hght
of changing circumstances

46 Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018

Contingent consideration is payable in 2021, upto a
maxmmum of £12 5m, based upon a mialtiple of three times
apphed to the tatal net profits generated by the acquired
business during the 24 months following completion,

and after deducting the initial consideration of £22 5m
Based upon the forecasts prepared for the earn-out period,
the Directors have estimated that further consideration wail
be payable of £2 0m and which would become payable

1n 2021

(ii} Gmega Group of companies

In January 2018, deferred consideration of £11 1m was
paid In full and final settlement of all deferred consideration
relating io the 2074 acquisition of Omega

Exc¢eptional items
Exceptranal ttems are items which are considered outside

normal operations They are matenal to the results of the
Group elther through therr size or nature These items
have been disclosed separately on the face of the Income
Statement to provide a better understanding as 16 the
underlying performance of the Group

2018 2017

£m £m

Restructunng costs 3.6 -
Non-trading legal costs 2.1 -
5.7 -

The Group has carned out a review of its central support
structures to ensure they reflect the changing nature of
the business and that they are efficient and deliver value
The review dentrfied annualised savings of approximately
£5 0m and these have been secured in the year The costs
associated with this restructure of £3 5m have been
accounted for within exceptional ems



£4.4m

Acquisition
intangible
amortisation

£2.3m

Net finance charges

The legal costs relate to two matters Firstly, the Group
committed to enter Into a lease on a property in the

course of construction The property required completion
by September 2018 Mears has incurred htigaticn costs

of £1 8m as the construction of the property was not
complete by the contractual date and 1s not compliant with
fire safety requlations leaving the Group no option but to
defend its position robustly The Group will not compromise
the safety of tenants far any reason The Directors are very
confident as to a successful outcome to this itigation and
a proportion of these fees would be recoverable in such

an event Given the size of this single item, and the unrque
circumstances of the matter in dispute, the Directors
believe i1t should be accounted for as an exceptional item
Costs of £0 4m relating to the acquisition of MPS are also
ncluded as exceptional on the basis they are non-trading

Amortisation of acquisition intangibles

2018 2017

£m £fm

Carrying value at 1 January 9.6 198

Revisions / disposais - 04
Recognised on acquisitions during

the year 18.0 -

Amartisation {4.4) (10 6)

Carrying value at 31 December 23.2 96

A charge for amortisation of acauisition intangibles of
£44m {2017 £10 6m) arose In the year The charge

has reduced significantly on the prior year reflecting

few acquisitions over the last three-year period and

the subsequent reduction In carrying value of acquired
intangibles The acquisition of MPS in late 2018 will result in
anIncrease In amortisation n 2019 to 2021 The remaining
unamortised value of £23 2m {2077 £9 6m), predominantly
relating to order book and customer relationships, will be
written off over their estimated lives

Net finance charge

2018 2017

£m £m

Finance costs 3.5) (28
Finance income 0.4 03
Pension income 0.8 05
(2.3) 20

A net finance charge of £2 3m has been recognised in the
year (2017 £2 0m) The finance cost in respect of bank
borrowings was £3 5m (2017 £2 8my}, reflecting a higher
level of average deht

The Group held two interest rate swaps covering 2018

The first, which ran throughaout the year, fixed a rate of

0 84% on £40 0m of borrowings and expires in December
2020 The second, which commenced in August 2018, fixed
a rate of 096% on £30 0m of borrowings The remaining
debt bore a vanable LIBOR rate The Group pays a margin
of 120-220bps over and above LIBOR, subject to a

ratchet mechanism

The net finance costs also includes a net credit generated
from defined benefit pension accounting of £0 8m
{2017 £0 5m)

Tax expense

2018 2017
£m £m
Current tax on contiruing
activities recaognised in
income statement (1.2) 53

Deferred tax on continuing

actvities recagnised in

Income statement 4.8 10
Current tax on discontinued

activiies recognised in

Income statement - (32)
Total tax expenses recogrised in

Income statement 3.6 11
Profit befare tax and

amortsation of acquired

intangibles 38.5 371
Profit before tax on continuing

activities 28.4 265
Effective current tax rate

on continuing activities (4.1%) 207%
Taxes paid / (receved) (0.7) 38

The headline UK ¢corporation tax rate for the year was 19 0%
(2017 19 3%) The total tax charge for the year relating to
continuing operations was £3 6m (2017 £4 3m) resulting
In an effective total tax rate of 12 7% (2017 16 3%) The key
reconciling items to the headline rate were the utilisation of
brought forward losses where the deferred tax impact had
not previously been recegnised, an annual corporation tax
deduction in respect of share options and adjustments in
respect of the prior year estimated tax charge The current
tax credrt for the year on continuing operations was £1 2m
(7017 £5 3m charge), which represents an effective tax
rate of (41%) (2077 20 1%) The current tax credit was
generated through the impact of IFRS 15, resulting n a
large credit in the current year, of fset against the unwinding
of the deferred 1ax balance recognised on transition to the
new standard
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Strategic report

Financial review continued

£113.2m

Dally average
net debt

£65.9m

Net debt at
31 December 2018

Mears does not engage in Inapprofnate or aggressive tax
planning arrangements Where appropriate, the Group
takes advantage of available statutory tax reliefs The tax
position N any transaction 1s ahigned with the commercial
reality and any tax planning undertaken s consistent with
the spint as well as the letter of tax law In situations where
material uncertainty exists around a given tax position,

the Group engages with expert adwvisers and, where
appropriate, advance ciearance 1s sought from HMRC

in arder to establish the most appropriate treatment

We value our low risk assessment from HMRC and will
continue 1o work to maintan this status through continual
review of our controls and processes

Discontinued activities

The results for the previous year reported a loss from
discontinued activities of £16 5m This was in relation
to the Mechanical and Electncal division which was

the subiject of a dispasal i 2013 and included an entity
operating in the United Arab Emirates (UAE) As part of
that disposal, the Groun ultimately retained a beneficial
interest in 1% of the share capital of this UAE Company
due 16 the Group stilf carrying a number of performance
guarantees, which unwind as the underlying contracts
reach the end of therr defects liabilty penod In 2017,

a number of the performance guarantees were cailed,
and the Group made a provision against the outstanding
performance guarantees

A balance 1s owed by the UAE company to the Group in
excess of £14m however this balance 1s fully provided
against During the year, the Group has incurred cash costs
of £17m in respect of the costs of ihgation associated
with the performance guarantees The Group is carrying
a remamning provision of £2 2m in respect of the twa
cutstanding performance guarantees, amouniing 1o
£39m, resuliing 1n a residual contingent hability of £1 7m
Mears does not believe that there i1s any Justification for
the guarantee halders making a call on these guarantees,
given that the contracts to which they are attached were
concluded several years ago However Mears 1s also
rindful of the challenges in rmanaging this process in

a country that follows very different legal and business
practices Mears believes the current position 15 sufficiently
conservative, howaver If both bands were ta be called,
and in the event that Mears recovered none of the debtor
batance owed, this would result in a further loss to be
recogmsed of £17m This provision of £2 2m 1s reperted
within other creditors The £17m1s disclosed as a
contingent habilty
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Earnings per shareg [EPS)

2018 2017 Change
p P %

Diluted earnings per share* 22.91 2010 +14%
Normalised diluted earnings

per share* 29.06 2805 +4%

*Continuing activiies

The weighted average number of shares for EPS purposes
was 165 1m (2017- 104 0} The increase 1s predormimantly
due to the 1ssue of ¢ 6.8 million shares in Novermber 2018
inrelation to the acguisition of MPS, the effect of which s
pro-rated for the part-year following issue

The statutory diluted EPS measure allows far the potential
diutive impact of outstanding share options and reflects
the exceptional loss reported in through discontinued
activities The normalised diluted EPS mcreased by 4%

10 29 06p (2017 28 05p) Narmalised earnings are based
unon continuing activities before the amarusation of
acguisition intangibles together with an adjustment to
reflect a full tax charge of 16 0% (2017 19 3%) We beleve
that this normahised diluted EPS measure better allows the
assessment of cperaticnal performance, the analysis of
trends over time, the camparison of different businesses
and the projection of future performance

Cash flow and net debt

As referenced in the Chief Executive Review, the Board
recognises that operating cash performance s an area
which reguires improvemant When the business was
simply Housmg Maintenance and Care, cash movements
were relatively predictable and whilst the focus on the
cash balance on any single day was perhaps simplistic,
nevertheless the pasrtion at the ntenim and year end date
was viewed as a key performance metne

As the business has evolved, this single day position

has become less appropnate and relevant The Housing
Development activities do not generate uniform cash flows
and the timing of payments can also have a significant
impact upon the peried end metric Accordingly, this 1s why
the Group has consistently ensured that its daily average
debt measure 1s also disclosed The average daily net

debt will be used as the primary performance measure
going forwards

The average daily net debt for the year, excluding the
property acquisihon facility, was £113 2m, narrowly
behind the target of £110 0m set at the start of the year
The net debt at the year end was £659m (2017 £258m)
The property acquisihon debt at the year end was £15 0m
(2017 £13 9m}), with an average balance of £24 0m

(2017 £12m) In the year.



£210.3m

Net Assets

£0.7m

Corporation tax
inflow following
adaption of IFRS15

Mears has always fostered a strong ‘cash culture’, whereby
the Group operaticns understand that invoicing and cash
collection are intrinsically inked and that works are not
complete untl) the sales cycle 1s completed While the
headline cash metrics In recent penods have not been

as good as the business would like, our core activities
conlinue to ulilise working capital at relatively low levels
It1s pleasing that the average receivables outstanding
thraugh 2018 showed a reduction In the three high

volume activities of Maintenance, Management and Care

2018 ~ 12-month average

This demonstrates our operations have good controls and
robust disciplines, supported by IT systems As discussed
in the Chief Executive Review, the working capital absorbed
within the Development activity has been a challenge in
the year with average recevables increasing to £21 2m
(2017 £9 5m) The Development recenables balance
outstanding at 31 December 2018 was £33 3m which was
much of the cause for the average debt being narrowly
higher than target and the cash flow generated from
operating activities being low

2017 ~ 12-month average

Net warking Net workng

Receivables Payables capital Recelvables Payables capital

£m £fm £m £m £m £m

Maintenance 123.2 {104.2) 19.0 1257 (116 4 93
Management 21.0 (19.3) 1.7 216 (210) 05
Development 21.2 (5.6) 15.6 95 27) 67
Care 19.0 (5.4) 13.6 217 83) 135
Total 184.4 (134.5) 499 178 5 {148 5) 300

A summary of the consolidated cash flow 1s detalled below tagether with explanaticns in respect of the major movements

2018 2017
£m £m MNote
Operating profit 30.8 285
Amortsation of acquisition intangibles 4.4 106
Depreciation and amortisation 8.2 83 1
EBITDA 43.4 474
Other adjustments 0.6 01
Change In inventories (11.0) (75) 2
Change In operating receivables (13.9) oumn
Change In operating payahles (17.5) (110 3
Cash inflow from operating activities 1.6 287
Taxes pald 0.7 (38) 4
Cash outflow from discontinued operations (1.6) ©4) 5
Capital expenditure (10.8) 52) &
Purchase of subsidiary undertakings (37.8) (50) 7
Issue of shares 221 19 8
Dividends (13.1) 27 9
Interest received / (paid) (3.2) 22)
Other financing and investing activities 2.0 (16) 10
Change In net debt (40.1) (13 4)
Opening net debt (25.8) (12 4)
Closing net debt (65.9} (25 8)
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Strateqic report

Financial review continued

1

The major movements in the year are:

Depreciation of £5 8m, amortisation of other intangible
assets of £2 4m and share based payments of £0 6m

The outflaw In respect of iInventories is entirely
due to working capital ahsorbed in Housing
Development activities

The change in operating payables reflects both the
changing sales mix and good payment practices
Relates to the corporation tax deduction in respect
of IFRS 15, resulting in a refund of corporation tax
previously paid

Legal and other professional costs incurred in the
year in relation ta the discontinued M&E activity
based in the UAE There was no impact to the income
statement Due to release of a provision attached to
performarnce guaraniee

Balance sheet
A summary of the Group Balance Sheet s detalled below together with explanations in respect of the most significant
balances and the major movements

Tangible fixed asset additions of £8 7m (2017 £81m)
and T development costs of £31m (2017 £37/m)
however the cash flow statement only reports the cash
flows attached to this expenditure and therefare differs
fram the balance sheet additions which are recogmsed
on an accruals basis

Initial constderation of £22 5min respect of the
acquisition of MPS and deferred consideration of

£11 Tm inregpect of Gmega

Primarily the equity placing associated with the
acquisition of MPS, £22 5m was raised fess costs

and a small number of share options exercrsed during
the pencd

The £12 5m pard to Mears shareholders and £4 6m paid
i respect of nan-contraliing interests

10 Property assels held for resaie, {oans to other entities,

and discharges of finance lease liatithties

Adjusiments

Reported MPS Pre-MPS 2017 as for (FRS 2017 as

2018  acquisition 2018 restated 9815 reported
£m £m £fm £m £m £m Note
Goodwill and intang ble assets 228.6 (215) 2071 2109 - 2109 1
Property, plant and equioment 25.0 a3 247 220 — 220 2
Inventories 29.8 - 298 187 — 87 3
Trade racevables 178.2 (376} 1406 1220 {31 6] 1536 3
Property assets held for resale 12.4 - 124 139 - 139 5
Trade payables (180.4) 277 (152 7) (167 8) - (1678) 4

Onerating net debt (65.9) 28 6313 (25 8) — {258)
Property acquisition facility (15.0) - (150) {13 9) — (139) [
Deferred consideration (2.0} 20 ga (11 1) = (G} 6
Gther payables (12.4} - (12 4) (10 6} - 10 6) 7
Net pension 13.6 - 136 223 - 223 8

Taxation (1.6) 34 18 33 60 27

Net agsets 210.3 {23.5) 186.8 183.9 {256) 2096

The major movements in the year were:

1

50

The carrying value of goodwill of £1971m

(2017 £193 6m) 15 not amartised but 1s reviewed for
impairment on an annual basis or more frequently
where there 1s an indication of imparmrment

The headroom hetween the carrying value of the Care
asset and anticipated future value that will be delivered
by the Care division has been low over a number of
years The increase in goodwill during the period relates
to the acauisition of MPS

Group capttal expenditure of £8 7m {2017 £81m)
includes an addition dunng the year of £3 6m (2077 £nil)
relating to the development of 70 modular homes which

are currently under construction which, upon completion,

will be used to deliver a homelessness solution within
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our Housing Management activities The homes are
expected to be completed in Novernber 2019 at a
total cost of £5 8m Mears is looking for a long term
funder to acquite these properties upon completion

A further £2 Omi s expected to be capitatised dunng
2019 Excluding the investrment in modular homes,
the remaming expenditure of £51m (2017 £81m)
relates to |T hardware, other office equipment and the
refurbishment of new office premises The level of
capital expenditure In respect of property, plant and
equipment in any single year has a close carrelation to
the number of new contracts mobilised in that period
The fow level of investment n 2018 reflects a quiet
period of new contract mobillsations



£20.6m

taxes incurred and
paid to HMRC

£95.6m

taxes collected and
paid to HMRC

Inaddition, Intangible assets includes the capitahsation
of expenditure incurred on developing our in-house

IT platform Additions in the year amounted to

£31m (2017 £3 7m) with a carrying value of £8 4m
(2017 £77m), which 1s amortised over five years
Having made significant investment in our IT systems
over a number of years, we are starting to see @
reduction in aur development expenditure moving
forward and this 15 reflected in the 2018 amounts

The majornty of plant utihsed by our operational teams
1s subject to short-term hire arrangements and motor
vehicles are subject to operating leases, hence neither
are included within capital expenditure or recognised as
an asset within the balance sheet Similarly, the Housing
Management business has a large number of short-
term property leases which are similarly not carried

on the balance sheet The new accounting standard,
IFRS 16 Leases, willimpact upon this treatment as
discussed below

3 Trade recelvables and inventories increased to

£208 0m (2017 £172 3m) This predominantly relates
10 an Increase 1N working capital associated with the
Housing Develapment activities which accounts for an
increase of £20 7m The IFRS15 adjustment resulted in
a reduction of £31 4m whilst balances acquired on the
acquisttion of MPS resulted in an increase of £376m

4 Trade payables reported an increase to £130 4m

(2017 £167 8m}, however the acquisttion of MPS
brought a balance of £277m As such, there was an
underlying reduction in payables by £16 2m reflecting
changing sales mix and good payment practice

5 The Group has secured a property acquisition credit

facihty of £30m to acquire and build portfolios for

resale At 31 December 2018, assets held for rezale
ubihsing this facility amounted to £12 4m {2017 £13 9m)
At 31 December 2018, the associated draw-down for
these acquisitions was £15 0m {2017 £13 9m), funding
both these assets for re-sale together with also part-
funding the modular homes included within fixed assets
as discussed above

6

In January 2018, deferred consideration of £17 1m
was paid in full and final settlement of all deferred
consideration relatng to the acquisition of Omega
in 2014 The balance at 31 December 2018 relates
to the contingent censideration in respect of the
acquisition of MPS and, subject 1o performance,
would be due for settlerent in 2021

Other payables predorminantly relates to provision for
expected losses in relation to the 1nsurance captive which
manages the Group's insurance nsks Finance lease
habilies are also included within this category

The Group participates in two principal Group pensian
schemes (2017 iwa) together with a further 28

(2017 28) individual defined benefit schemes where
the Group has received Admitted Body status in a Local
Government Pension Scheme [LGPS)

The Graup hokls a number of pension arrangements with
Local Government Pension Schemes The accounting
treatment for these schemes follows the guidelines

set for defined benefit schemes This does not present
the cammercial reality for a number of our LGPS
arrangerents, where the Group holds back-to-back
indemnities from its clents in respect of both its exposure
to changes in pension contnbution rates and to future
deficit nsk These have been identified in the table below
as ‘limited nisk’ For the remaining LGPS arrangements
where the Group does not benefit from indemnities,

the nsks attaching to these schemes matches the time
harnzon of the underlying contract which, whilst not
removing all nsks, does reduce the penod over which

a deficit can anse This second category has been
identified 1n the table below as ‘medium term' The Group
schetmes are typical defined benefit arrangements
where the Group 1s ultimately responsible for any deficit
resuiting from movements (n discount rates, interest
rates, mortality rates and investrent performance

This last category has been classified as lTong-term’

Group LGPS

schemes schemes LGPS

(no indemrmity) (no indemrity}  {indemnified)
long-term  mediwm-term limited-nsk Total
Nurmber of schemes 2 13 15 30
Assets fm 15290 621 2175 4325
Liabilities £m {136 5) 64G) (2175) (418 9)
Net surplus/(deficit) fm 164 (7 8) - 126
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Strategic report

Financial review continued

£13.6m

nension net surpius

£25.6m

opening reserves
adjustment resuiting
from adoption of
IFRS 9 and 15

Changes to accounting standards
IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’

In respect of IFRS 9, Mears does nat hold complex
financial Instruments and the impact of this standard on

its hedging instruments 1s not matenal However, ncluded
within financial assets are trade and other receivables
From 1 January 2018, Mears is required to recognise a loss
allowance for expected credit logses on thege financial
assets The new standard states that if the credit nsk on a
financial instrument has significantly increased since initiat
recogmition, the loss allowance must be measured using
the Ifetime expected credit loss

Given the significant mayonty of our invoteing 1s to publie
sector clients, assessed 1o have a very low credit nisk,
expected credit josses to this customer type are deemed
to be neghgible However, Mears provides regulated
services to private indviduals in both its Housing and Care
businesses and, as such, services cannot immediately

be withdrawn when the Group becomes aware of an
increased credit nsk Mears has both a moral and legai
obligation to continue to provide services whilst alternative
arrangements are being made for these service users

The difference between the previous carrying amount
and the carrying amount at the beginning of the reporting
penad under (FRS 9 1s recognised as an adjustment to the
opening balance of equity The impact of this change at

1 January 2018 is a reduction in the opening halance of
equity of £2 3m

JFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’

IFRS 15 changes the tirming of recognising revenue and
costs In respect of certain lang-term contracts In the

case of the large majanty of our contracts, the accounting
methadology will be unchanged Mears has typically looked
to recognise revenue and cost at the indivdual works arder
level, whether that be a singular maintenance order or care
visit This has ensured that the valuation of working capital
balances 1s straightfarward and contans fewer ateas of
significant jJudgment

However there are a small number of arrangemerits where
the Gioup has accounted for multiple service contracts by
treating them as a single supply of a service This occurs
where {ocal contract mechanics were not easily aligned
with the commercial framework of the contract The new
accaunting standard requires Mears to allacate the total
transaction price to each distinct performance obligation
In addriton, a number of contracts inctude variable
consideration, where revenue and profit are inked to the
achievement of performance targets and milestones

The new standarg requires mare detaled analysis

n determinng the appropnate tirming of recognising

this revenue
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IFRS 15 has been apphed using the modified retrospective
approach on transition which results in an adjustment to
the opening balance of equity at 1 January 2018 and no
restatement of the prior penod The impact of this change
1N 2018 will see a reduction In the opening balance of
equity of £23 9m The change to IFRS 15 has no impact
on the lifetime profitability of the contracts and there are
no cash flow impacts, although the change will drive better
alignment between the timing of profit recognition and

its associated cash flow Mowing forward, it1s expected

to have a positive Impact in respect of operating profit
from 2018 through to 2027, as performarice obligations
are satisfied The impact of adopting (FRS 15 tias been

to increase the operating result for 2018 hy £0 9m

IFRS 16 ‘Leases’

The new leasing standard, IFRS 16 Leases, 1s effective from
1 January 2019 and will have a significant impact on the
Group's Balance Sheet, principally due to the use of leased
vehicles and residential property for the operational delivery
of Housing Maintenance and Housing Management

The standard provides a single lessee accounting model,
requinng lessees 1o recognise assets and liabilities for alk
leases unless the lease term s under 12 maonths or the
underiying asset s of a low value

The Group will use the madified retrospecive transition
method on adoption Under this method, the asset is
calculated as if IFRS 16 had always been apphed, however
the hability 1s calculated as if all leases start on 1 January
2019, which will result in na change to comparatve
numbers but an adjustment within the reserves of

the Group

Under IFRS 16, a lessee will recogrvse its right 1o use a
leased asset and a lease lability representing its obhigation
to make lease payments The depreciation cost of the
newly recognised night of use’ lease asset will be charged
to profit within administrative costs, whilst the interest cost
of the newly recognised lease liability will be charged to net
finance costs On the basis that depreciation 1s required

to be charged on a straight-hne basis, whilst the interest
element s charged on a reducing balance basis, this results
in a higher charge being apphed to the income statement
In the early years of a [ease, with this impact reversing over
the later years The profitimpact over the life of a lease 1s
neutral and {FRS 16 has no cash impact

The Graup is th the process of finalismg its work in applying
the new requirements of IFRS 16 As 2 result, it 1s posstble
that there may be changes to estimates and Judgement
used m applying this new standard These will be finahsed
pror to the release of the Group's 2019 intenm results later
in the year
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The current estimate of the iImpact of IFRS 16 to the Group, o
at the pomt of transition, 1s detalled below %
(=]
1 From a balance sheet perspective, the transitional %
adjustment will see a nght of use asset recognised of ‘§
¢ £118m, and an associated lease hiabihity of ¢ £126m, g
heing the present value of future lease payments o
The riet hability being recognised on transition results 2
in an adjustment to opening reserves
2 Interms of the income statement, and based on the -
existing business at the date of transition, the impact will g'
be an ingrease tc EBITDA by in the region of £35 0m per a
year, as the operating lease charge previously applied 1s %
replaced by a depreciation charge applied on a straight &
Iine basis to the night of use asset The impact to PBT I1s g
expected to be broadly neutral as teases reach maturity, e
however the impact 1s not linear due to increased lease @
hability interest cost in earlier years of leases, and this
will result in & srnall reduction in profitin 2018 with this w
impact unwinding in later perinds ni';
The adoption of IFRS 16 1s particularly relevant to the %
Group's new AASC contract which will see the Group enter §
into around 4,500 residential preperty leases [t is nat g
possible to estimate the balance sheet impact without an é’"
accurate assessment of the mix of lease lengths However, g
as detailed above, the impact of IFRS 16 on profits from §'

a contract of this nature 1s that profit generated in the

early years of the contract will be reduced by a fugher
interest cost However IFRS 16 shauld not be considered in
isolation Securing good quality properties, cost effectively
over the long-term s a key element of delivering operational
cutperformance and ncreasing the financial return
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Strategic report
Social value and impact

Delivering social
value in practice

Our strategy

For us, social valte is not something
we simply pay lip service to. It is part
of our DNA, completely embedded in
everything we do. We work in some of
the most socially deprived areas of the
country and we feel a strong sense of
responsibility towards finding ways to
improve the long-term prospects of the
people who live in these communities
that make a real and positive difference
to people’s lives.

Highlights

2018: A year of qrowth

We have heen recognised as an organisation which s
delivering on the social responsibility agenda, but we
are never content to rest. Dunng 2018, we increased
the number of social value projects we are engaged
in by 10% and continued to develop our strategy and
framework to ensure social value is truly embedded
in the Mears culture

At a strategic level, we see sociat value as part of the
‘Red Thread' that binds Mears empioyees together
and defines the values and behaviours we exhibit as
we go about our daily work Our employees set high
standards, focusing not just on providing customer
service excellence but also on acting as role models
We believe that these values are not predicated by
academic achievement or social position, but instead
are influenced by attitude, character and the strong
work ethic of our teams

This is translated into practical action which delivers
autcames thraugh a framework of approaches to
effectively engage with communities on the ground
and rohust mechanmsms for measuring the social
impact that s created
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Our goals
Our work continues to be aligned to our four Mears’ Social
Value Priorities:

1. Fair for all

Reducing prejudice, improving
understanding of differences,
supporting social inclusion

2. Championing local

Impraving the wellbeing of
people and the communities
we serve

3. Creating chances

Providing career, skills and
employment opportunities

4. Healthy planet

\aking a positive contribution
to our planet




Our governance
How do we ensure we continue 1o do the right things?

Going forward
Focus areas for the Social Value Board in 2018 and beyond

yiodai 3153jENS

To drive social value throughout the business, we continue
to operate our 50cial Value Board, which1s endarsed and
chaired by our Executive Management Team Our Social
Value Board ensures we take a strateqic approach to frarnework 1s key, to drive ocutcomes and impacts that
corporate social responsibility and embed 1t into every area are real and long lasting
of our business The board 1s endorsed by three external ~ Making a real impact through the Group brand, to
experts whose role it s to challenge us to drive forward our reinforce Mears as a leading socially responsible
social value agends and 1o hold us to account business 2019 will see us bullding on this through a
series of national theme campaigns developed with
the members, demonstrating the overarching work
of the Group on employability, welibeing, diversity
and inclusion

77

Mears Group is an organisation which
truly understands the importance

of the social value they create both
through their core business and
community activities. In my opinion
this will future proof the business for
shareholders, customers, and the
communities in which Mears operates.

77

In my book we need to take a longer-
term view and make sure that what we
do has a positive impact on people and
communities. | think Mears gets this
and that's why | am pleased to he part
of the Social Value Board.

(4

| hope that by working with Mears as
part of its Social Value Board, we can
steer the business to maximise the
benefits to the communities in which
it operates.

~  Ensuring measurement continues to be relevant and
real Measuring the nght things within the social value

Meet our Social Value Board external experts

Richard Kennedy
Richard 1s chair of the board

for Social Value UK and co-chair
of Sooial Value thtermatianal

Keith Edwards

Keith1s the lead associate for
the Housing Quality Network
in Wales and author of several
reports for local authonties,
nattonal bodies and the Welsh
Government, and previously
Director of tha Chartered
Instituie of Housing {CIH)
Cymru for 14 years

Barry Malki
Barry s Head of Communities

for HACT, an innovation agency
supparting the housing sector
Outside of this he serves on the
boards of several youth charities
and acts as a speaker for Save
the Children
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Strategic report
Social value and impact continued

Mon-financial statement

We aim to comply with the Non-Financiai Reporting requirements contained in sections 414CA and 414CE of the Cornpanies Act of 2006
The balow table and information It refers 1615 intended to help stakehalders understand our posttion on key non-financial matters

Commitments Cominmunity commitment

Environmental matters

Human rights, anti-
corruption and anti-bribery

We have a clear social value plan
with four strategic priarities.

Paolicies and

Mears recognises and is
fully commutted to reduce its

Qur palicies include:

HH ~ maodem slavery and
d Ihgence 1. Falr for all: Reducing impact an the environment. human trafficking;
prejudice, impraving We are determined to minimise ~ preventing engagement
understanding of differences, our carbon footprint and of child labour;
supporting soctal inclusion minimisé waste 1o landfill. ~ whistleblowing policy;
2 Championing local. Improving We have a commitment 10 ~ anti-bribery, and
the wellbeing of peaple and reduce landfill by 5% per year ~ gender equality
the communities we serve. and to achieve or exceed a
3 Creating chances. diversion rate of waste from
Providing career, skills and landfill of 95%.
emplayment opportunities. . X
0 licies include
4. Realthy planet. Making a ur F’O. ¢ ) sine .
positive contribution to ~ delivering e'nwronmenta1
our planet. ;upply chain. \
~ t olicy.
We have a Social Value Board ~ e:jir:::\:r;r;er:mm‘:inh ¥
with independent Directors. P 9
StatUS In 2018 we generated in excess We have set environmental Mears is proud of our Social

of £24m in social value.

Mears Group has been
recognised for its outstanding
environmental, social and
gavernance practices by gaining
a place in the FTSE4Good index
— which places Mears in the top
9% of companies in the index
which measures commitment
ta envitonimental, social and
governance practices.

targets to reduce our waste to
landfill each year and we are
currently achieving over 95%.
Our water/efiluent discharge is
only though our offices and on-
site colleagues. Mears Group
P1.C does not release water by
any other source.

in 2818 we recycled 31,698
tonnes of waste, a diversion
from landfilt of 95.88%.

Mears Group has full
visibility of its waste disposal
processes across the

whole company, including
our subcontractars.

Mobility Champion status,
creating opportunites and
enabling people to develop

new skills in some of the most
disadvantaged and marginalised
communities in the UK.

We are committed to ensuring
that there is no modern slavery
ar human trafficking in our
supply chains or in any part of
our business. We are commnitted
ta acting ethically and with
integrity in all our business
relationships, and implementing
and enfotcing effective systems
and controls.

Description of
principal risks and
impact of business

@ Read mare on pages 30-31

activity

Non-ﬂnanC'aI @ Read more on pages 30—31
key performance

indicators

Business model o

Q8 Read more on pages 36-31
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Employees

Health and safety

We want to be a great place to work and to place our colleagues at the very heart
of what we do.

Our policies include.

whistleblowing;

family friendly;

safeguarding;

equality, diversity and inclusion; and
approach to labour standards compliance.

We aim to be industry leaders in creating a safe
working environment.

Mears operates a full health and safety
training pregramme. We fully monitor accident
frequency rates and have a proud record on
safety within our workplaces and contracts.

Our policies include:

~ reducing accidents by 10% per year,

~ implementing a behavicural safety and
change programme; and

~ increasing near miss reporting

Mears aims to be a great place 1o work and we have recently been awarded a place inthe 25
Best Big Companies to Work For in conjunction with the Sunday Times. We are accredited
as an Investor in People and have been awarded Diversity Network Accreditation.

Our employees are at the heart of our business and we provide staff benefits, a
commitment to a transparent pay policy and a commitment to training and development.
Red Thread

Wearing the Mears badge carries a lot of responsibility. All Mears coileagues are bound by
a common set of behaviours. We call this the Red Thread. Itis in our DNA and it helps us
achieve more as individuals, as a team, and as a company.

Motivation: There are no lirmts; we can all reach our persenal goals and aspirations.
Individually and collectively we can deliver the services our customers expect a little bit
better every day

Empowerment: Great leaders are not born; they grow. We urge employees to take the
initiative, take ownership and take responsibility, and support them every step of the way.
Customer focus' It is very simple; we are here to serve. The success of Mears is built
on 36(-degree service and appreciating that the needs of clients and customeis are
complex and muiti-dimensicnal.

Role models. Everyone who represents the Company is expected to lead by exampie,
whether they are locking after vulnerable people or making sure the homes of elderly
tenants are properly mairtained

High standards. We set industry-wide standards and encourage everyone to work hard,
present themselves well and keep raising the bar If we do, success is guaranteed

in 2018 we reduced Accidents Rates by over 10%
and achieved the RoSPA Highly Commended
Industry Sector Award {16 cansecutive Goalds),
for our continued commitment to accident and
ifl-health prevention.

We successfully continued our certification to
I1SO 9001, ISC 14001 and OHSAS 18001. We also
attained a diversion to landfill of over 95%,

Over the year we have carried out over 50,000
hours of training to ensure we continue our
commitment to improving the skills and
awareness of all employees.

We continue to improve our working practices
and monitoring regimes to ensure that we
continue to improve and look at additional ways
in which to create a safer and environmentally
friendly environment for all of our employees
and partners to work.

in 2019 we will continue to challenge our

standards and look to continuously improve the
safety environment for all of our employees.
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Strategic report
Social value and impact continued

Felix Road charity

Delivering sacial value in practice

Mears Foundation

The Mears Foundation is chaired by Bob Holt, former
Chairman of Mears Group PLC, with commitied support
from nominated board members from across the business
It was established to help improve the lives of young peaple,
vulnerable groups, the elderly and those with significant
health 1ssues, in the UK and abroad, through practical

help, suppart and intervention. It aims to provide support
thtough volunteerng and hands on help for nominatea
causes, not just financial support This year, teams across
the Group have been taking partin a vanety of events,
specifically focusing on soaial isolation

Making a difference: Who has benefitted?

Silver Surfer Computer Club

This club supports service users to develap basic computer
and internet skills to enable them to surf the net, shop
anline, access soclal networks, hobbies and interests and
SUPPOrt groups

The idea came about when a mermber of staff purchased
alaptop far his 82 year old father He realised that thete
was no support available to help him learn the basics

of how to use the computer or the internet Our staff
member provided the support himself, helping his father
becorne proficient, even develop a following on Facebocok!
Seeing the impact this has had on his father’s life, the
staff mermber wanted to prowide the same benefit to other
residents of Mears' extra care schemes

The project aims to utihse the skills of the Mears IT team
10 provide a helphne which provides basic IT advice ang
suppart Longer term, it hopes to work wn collaboration
with a chanty such as Alzheimar's Socety to develop the
use of agsistive technofogy to try and help peapte with
memory 10ss

iPads for Young Bristol
Mears Foundation deliverad 1Pads for Young Bristol,
a youth-drtven chanty working in the aity

Party time for Meet and Mingie, Stowmarket

The Mears Foundation generously donated £500 to

the Mears Care, Stowmarket's Meet and Mingle group
This group was set up ta help with social 1salation in the
lagal community, over the last few yeais day centres
have been closing sa this group has been a hig asset

to the cormmunity

Felix Road charit
The Mears Foundation delivered a cheque to the Felix

Road chanty to support its adventure playground project
The chanity apens the playground for children to use for free
and runs self-defence and martial arts classes far children
and adults

Social value at Mears

Nothing demonstrates the way we are delivering social
value hke the real stones of how our work 1s impachng
people and commurities on the ground The following
pages describe our approach and telf just some of the
staries of how we are delivering social value under each
of our four priority areas
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fReducing prejudice, impioving unte standing
of differences, supporiing social inchision

Our commitment and approach to diversity and inclusion: ~ Gender diversity table

opportunities available to women in the sector, and
support women alfready employed in trades roles.

Addressing the shortage of women in trades 2017 Male Female
A staggering 99% of tradespeople are male; this does not Board P 3
look set to change any time soon with low numbers of Seniar Manager 24 7
uacem women taking up apprenticeships in this area. At Mears Employee 5227 6,353
@ we are working to address the issue, ailong with our
social housing partners, through our Tradeswomen
R inte Maintenance project which is working with women 2018 Male Fernale
& to identify the barriers to getting and retaining jobs in Board 8 3
s Repairs and Maintenance, raise awareness about the Senmor Manager 26 8
- Employee 4,789 5,304
o
4y
A

Sarah's story
Sarah Bull is an apprentice plumber working for Celtic
Horizons, in partnership with United Welsh

“I've always enjoyed manual work and plumbing, but |
never thought It was possible because | had never seen a

womsn plumber,” she said I've always enjoyed manual work and

"l attended college, working towards level 1 and instantly plumbing, but | never thoughi it was

loved everything about plumbing While completing level possible because | had never seen a
2, I was lucky enough to get an apprenticeship with Celtic
woman plumber.
Harizons. While at Celtic Horizons, | have also had the P
opportunity to be a Tradeswoman Ambassador for the Saran Bull
Tradeswomen into Maintenance project.” Apprentice plumbetr

Focus on

e

v

P

l%@—«
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Focus on

{nclusive Culture Pledge marks Mears’ commitment
1o prioritise diversity and inclusion

Mears is a commitied member of feading companies
from the energy, transport, engineering and creative
sectors in taking the inclusive Cuiture Pledge, overseen
by leading diversity consuitancy EW Group.

Wa work in some of the most diverse communities n the
UK and we believe we are stronger in avery way when our
workforce fully refiects those communities. The pledge
helps us to focus on five areas of diversity and inclusfon
development: feadership, peopfe, data, brand and future,
providing a framework to build on the work we are already
doing to improve equality and diversity across the business,
2018 saw a business-wide training focus on afl managers
and senior colieagues atiending a diversity and inclusion
training and awareness course

Gary Jackson, Group Director of Communications &
Customer Success, said, “We are a national Sociat
Mobility Champion and, as such, we have a responsibility
to support and promote good practice in diversity

and inclusion, which is a fundamental enabler to

greater sacial mobility. Over the next 12 months, we

are building on the work of 2018 to make coileagues
further aware and actively involved in heiping to improve
diversity and inclusion through every tevei of our work.
Qur acereditation reports from 2018 will provide an ideal
opportunity for us to build on our good practice, while
challenging us to do more where we needto.”

Mears supports Alzheimer's Society Dementia-Friendly
Housing Charter

Mears has signed up ta the Dementia-Friendly Housing
Charter. This chatter seeks to make the housing secter

- including hausing organisations, corparate bodies and
sectar professionals — aware of the challenges of Iiving
with dermentia sa that it can improve home environments
far people with the candition

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018

Gary Jackson, Group Director of Communications

& Customer Success, said, "By becoming a mare
dementia-friendly provider, we will be able to support
and help people to stay in the setting of their choice
far as iong as possibfe, and by understanding the
condition, we can make a huge difference 1o people
ftiving with dementia and their quality of fife.”

YourMK team volunteering to support Mind

During the sumimer, calleagues fram YourbMK — our
regeneration partnership with Milton Keynies Council
- spent the day volunteering atongside residents
and staff from the local branch of Mind to make
improvements to a community garden.

The mental health charity uses the garden each week
ta run weltbeing and support sessions for a group of
local people, but the garden needed same TLC to get
it ready for the auturnn. Colleagues from Mears' Gas
Planning and Customer Success teams went along
to prune, dig, paint and gravel areas of the garden,
working hard to get it iri top shape for the local group.

4

The interest YourMK has shown

in volunteering with the group has
given them a greal sense of pride.
The help offered has made the
group feel valued and recognised.
It has enabled the larger johs to be
completed and we can now fock
forward to planning the garden

for next year.

sua Varkey
Group leader

YourMi team
valunteenng to
stipport MIND
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Improving the wellbeing of people and the
communities we serve

We work closely with our partners and clients to identify
local social value projects to get involved in
This local approach makes all the difference Through the

development of branch social value plans, we can push
the boundanes to deliver real impact, enabling individuals
and the communities in which we aperate ta ftnnrish

and thrive

Food-wise classes in | ambeth

Wellbeing is a key locus, s0 a recent project to deliver
food budgeting, cocking and nutrition classes in Lainbeth
was a great success, with groups coming together to
learn some key skills to support their lifestyle, making
healthy meals for nnby £ 1.00.

Art sessions are a hit with young and old
A new project running at Blaise Weston Court in Bristol s

using art to bridge the generation gap between members
of the local community.

Since it started in October, the Paint Pals project has been
bringing together the older residents of the care scheme
and young people from Terwood House School each
month to work together to produce beautiful works of art.

The project was started with a £1,500 grant from the
Bristol Ageing Better Community Kick-Start Fund.
Members of the Blaise Weston Social Club applied for the
maney, which will pay for a year of monthly art sessions,
culminating in an exhibition of the works later this year.
Beyond this, the group hopes to find additional funds to
continue the project into the future.

Learning key skills

Suppeorting the homeless in Glasgow

Our Glasgow branch decided to help and support
the homeless people in Glasgow for many reasons,
But one event really brought it to life for us.

James's stor
James, ane of our carers working in Glasgow, was

supporting a wheelchair service user one day when
he found himself in a situation in 2 busy Glasgow
street where the wheel had come off the wheelchair
and he was struggling to get help.

The service user himself was unable to help because of
his lack of mobility and the pair watched as numeraus
people Just passed by, This was very distressing for
Jarnes as he knew he was not able to fix the chair alone
and if they were to remain in this situation, the service
user would have been at risk of harm.

Then one person did stop; a young homeless man
who came over and helped James re-align the wheel
on the wheelchair and then walked the pair to the
taxi rank to ensure that no further help was needed.
He even offered James the £5 note he was carrying
to help pay for the taxi fare to take the service user
home. James thanked him but declined the offer

of money.

This made us all think* why had anly the vulnerable
homeless person stopped? And what could we do as
a branch to help repay the kindness of this person?

So, we decided to support two small local charities
that work with people who are homeless: All 2
together now and H4TH (Help for the Homeless).

Fundraising, donated clathing, sleeping bags and
toiletries poured in from the teams to help support the
two charities and the people of Glasgow.

Qver 100 winter survival packs, which will belp people
living on the streets to get through the Scottish winter
were purchased from donations and fund raising

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018
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Providing career, skills and employment
opportunities

Creating chances

Mears works in some of the most marginalised
communities in the UK. We recognise that we can make
a positive difference by creating chances for learning
and career development, providing individuals in those
communities with entry routes into employment.

Over the last 12 months, Mears has deveioped and
implemented programmes to upskill the existing Mears
warkforce as well as individuals living in the local
comrunity who are not emplayed by Mears

Heather Hughes, Head of Training and Development,
said, "l am delighted to see Mears has made a difference
to peoples’ lives and provided new cpportunities; 1t's an
incredibly worthwhile investment

“Our training facilities and resources have been used
by various stakeholders in local communities for wide-
ranging apprenticeships and other courses, enabling
s0 many peopie to progress. It has been great to see
the diversity of programmes we have on offer, and the
innovative work to address the under-representation
of women in construction.”

Mears Group PLC Annuat Report and Accounts 2018

Chief Executive Officer David Miles says there are clear
business benefits for investing in apprentices.

“It's a great way of growing our own talent within the
business,” he says "Our apprentices bring fresh ideas
and enthusiasm and keep our qualified staff up to date
with maodern technology and practices The result

is a highly skilled, loyal workforce, trained to work in
the Mears way. Ultimately, that helps us to deliver the
very best service to our customers”. David goes onto
explain that Mears' drive for running apprenticeship
programmes is not confined to busihess outcomes:

(4

We work in some of the most
marginalised communities in the
country. At the heart of everything
we do is the desire to make a positive
difference in those communities.
Giving pecple the opportunity to
learn a skill and build a careeris

a great way to do that.

David Miles
Chief Executive Officer
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Skilled workfarce trained to work i the Mears way

Making & positive contribution
1o our planst

Mears is responsible for the maintenance of 15% of all
social housing in the UK — more than 700,000 homes

We visit more than 30,000 people several times a week to
deliver care and support in their homes We recognise we
have a big responsibility to minimise the environmental
impact of our activities. For an organisation of our size,
even small changes can deliver big impacts.

Mears’ approach to positively impact supply chain

environmental value

Delivering social value with our supply partners
At Mears, we believe we are more effective in delivering

social value where we can share resources, skills,
experience and financial support with our supply partners
To ensure a consistent approach throughout our supply
chain, we expect our suppliers to have or adopt simifar
husiness principles to our awn. Qur suppliers are required
to acknowledge the significance of social, environmental
and ethical matters in their conduct and must have

a commitment to working towards improving quality
standards and performance in these areas.

Above all, we expect suppliers to be able to demanstrate
compliance with all the UK, EU and international
legislation that applies to business operations from
modetn slavery, anti-bribery and health, safety and
weltbeing laws to product specific regulations.

Sacial value: what is the future agenda focus?

Whilst the Public Services {Social Value) Act 2012 is
making a difference, with a greater proportion of public
sector procurement spend being shaped by the Act and
increased focus from organisations to support individuals,
local communities and economies, more can be done.

2018 announcements from the Minister for the
Cabinet Office say the Act will be extended to ensure
that all Government departments explicitly evaluate
social value when commissioning services, as
opposed to considering social value when awarding
Central Government contracts. This provides

a positive indicator for later extension to Local
Government contracts and the public sector to follow

The Social Housing Green Paper provided a sound
platform for the voice and engagement of residents
to come back to the fore, in shaping and responding
to service in their communities — again, a further

positive move to progressing the social value agenda.

Mears 1s excited by these positive indicators and has
already started to put plans into place to actively and
continually deliver more impact, at a national and
local level, through our sacial value aclivities.

We are proud of our reputation as a company that
makes a POSITIVE difference; enabling individuals
and communities to flourish and thrive.

Together we really can make Mears a
better business.

We work closely with our suppliers,
who see this as a great opportunity
to collaboratively invest for the
improveiment of our communities,
We have & commitment o
continuously increase the numbey
of local SME subcontractors on
our approved list, ensuring that

a proportion of contract spend
remains within tha local economy
by supporting increassad reveniia
generation and increasing
empiloyment opportunitis:

far Watuon

Prccurement Directar

The strategic report from pages 1 to pages 63 was approved by the board and signed on its behalf by.

D J Miles

Chief Executive Officer

22 March 2019
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Carporate governance

introduction to corporate governance

An effective culture
of governance

3‘;\\1
Kieran Murphy
Chairman

Dear shareholder,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased 1o present my

first corporate governance report for the year ended

31 December 2018 As it previous years, we repart against
the UK Corpaorate Governanice Code (the ‘Cade ') issued

by the Mnancial Reporting Council (FRC) | am pleased to
confirm that durmg 2018 we have fully complied with the
provisions of the Cade

Effectiveness

The Board continues 1o set itself ugh standards of
corporate governance Our corparate governance report,
issued within our Annual Report, detalls how we approach
novernance and the areas of focus for the Board in

2018 and mto the future The Board utilises the Group's
established governance framework, based upon the Cude,
to support the operation of good governance practices
throughout the Mears business

In accordance with the Code, the performance of the
Board, its Commitiees and mdividual Directors 1s evaluated
on an annuat bass, with the 2017 evaluation being
externally facilitated



Changes to the Board
At the 2018 Annual General Meeting (AGM), the Board

sald farewell to Peter Dicks, Non-Executive Directa
Having reached nine years’ service, Peter did not stand
for re-election

In July 2018, as part of the continuing evolution of the
Board, the then Chalirman, Bob Hoit, indicated his intention
to the Board not to stand for re-election at the 2019 AGM
The Board commenced a considered, competitive and
structured process for the recruitment of the new Chairman
and | was delighted to be offered the position during
December 2018 | would like to place on record my thanks
to Bob Holt, who joined the Group in 1995 shortly before

its flotation for his many years of service

Engage our workforce

In June 2018, the Company became one of the first listed
camparies in the UK to appoint an Employee Director,
Amanda Hillerby, clearly underlining the Company's
commitment to progressive business practice and
corporate governance Mears understands the vital role
that our workforce plays in the success of the Group

Succession

Under the Code, succession planning 1s one of the
mostimportant roles vested in non-executive directars
Your Board recognises this role wholeheartedly and this
has been clearly demonstrated in recent years with your
Board evolving steadily, reflecting the development ¢f both
the Company and its key operating markets, and bringing
valuable relevant sector experience and knowledge to

the Board

The evolution and succession within the Mears
hoardroom has been a continuous process and one
which the Company intends to continue in ine with the
Group's development

Shareholder engagement
The Board continued to engage with shareholders

N an open and meaningful way throughout 2018

Since my appaintment, I have met with each of our major
sharehclders to understand their views and concerns

| have also been present at a Capital Markets Day, attended
by all our major shareholders, hosted by the Chief Executive
QOfficer | hope shareholders take the opportunity te meet
other Board members at the 2019 AGM

K Murphy

Chairman
kieran.murphy@mearsgroup.co uk
22 March 2019

(4

In June 2018, the Company became
one of the first listed companies

in the UK to appoint an Employee
Director, Amanda Hillerby, clearly
underlining the Company's
commitment to progressive business
practice and corporate governance.
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Corporate governance
Board of Directors

The right skills and experience
to deliver our strategy
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1. Kieran Murphy
Non-Executive Chairman

Age: 60

Tenure: 3 months

Skills and experience:

Kieran has spent much of his career working in
finance, holding senior pasitions At Kleinwort
Benson, he built @ market-leading carporate
finance advisory business in the bulding and
caonstruction sector and hecame a member
of the bank’s Investrment Bank Management
Commitiee More recently, at Gleacher
Shacklock, the boutique corporate finance
advisery firm, Kieran extended tis advisory
work Into the business services sector
Principal external appointments:

Allaxis SA

Qrdnance Survey

University of London

2. David J Miles

Chief Executive Officer

Age: 53

Tenure: 22 years (12 years on the Board)
Skills and experience:

David joined Mears in 1996 and, prior to his
appointment to the Board in January 2007,
was Managing Director of the Mears Social
Housing division Prior to joining Mears, David
held a semar position with the Mitie Group
His background 15 In electrical engineering
Principal external appointments:

None

3. Andrew C M Smith

Finance Director

Age: 46

Tenure: 14 years (12 years on the Board)
Skills and experience:

Andrew Joined Mears in 1999 and, prior to

his appointment 1o the Board, was Finance
Director covering the Group's subsidianes
Andrew qualified as a Chartered Accountant in
1984 and worked in prafessional practice prior
to joining Mears

Principal external appointments:

None

4, Jason Burt

Non-Executive Director

Age: 53

Tenure: 2 years

Skills and experience:

Jason was a senjor partner at Plexus Law and
has 32 years experience of defending complex
regulatory prosecutions and employers” and
public hiability claims, bringing significant
experience n the area of health and safety
Jason chairs a Health, Safety and Environment
core group (Compliance Committeg},

dnving good working and health and safety
practices into the Group’s governance
structures Jason is also a member of the
Audit Committee

Principal external appointments:

None

5. Roy frwin
Non-Executive Deputy Chairman

Age: 64

Tenure: 2 years

Skills and experience:

Roy has significant experience in the sacial
housing sectar, having lately been Chief
Inspector of the Audit Cornrmission fallowing
a career of over 30 years in public sector
housing Since 2013, Roy has held the postion
of Non-Executive Chairman of Plexus and
Omega Housing, being Mears’ Registered
Prowviders of social housing with the Regulator
of Social Housing

Principal external appointments:

None

6. Julia Unwin CBE

Non-Executive Director

Age: 62

Tenure: 3 years

Skills and experience:

Juha s former Chief Executive of the Joseph
Rowntree Foundation and the Joseph
Rowntree Housing Trust She has signmificant
experence in the housing and care sectors,
having been a member of the Housing
Corporation Board for ten years

Principal external appointments:

Yorkshire Water Services Limited

Financial Reporting Council

7. Alan Long
Executive Director

Age: 56

Tenure: 13 years (9 years on the Board)

Skills and experience:

Alanjoined Mears 1In 2005 and, prior to his
appointment to the Board in August 2008, was

Managing Director of the Group's Care division,

having previously held the position of Group
Sales and Marketing Director Prior to joining
Mears, Alan held serior roles at Britanmia
Buillding Society, Mars and Smith & Nephew
Principal external appointrnents:

None

8. Geraint Davies CBE

Non-Executive Director

Age: 64

Tenure: 3 years

Skills and experience:

Geramntis a fellow member of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales He was previocusly a partner for a
leading professional practice for over 25
years His commercial experience includes
working with Registered Social Landlords
and a number of organisations in the
hesalthcare sector

Principal external appointments:

Cardiff International Arrport Lirmited

9. Elizabeth F Corrado

Non-Executive Director

Age: 53

Tenure: 1 year

Skills and experience:

Elizabeth was until recently an Executive
Director of the Power to Change charitable
trust, with a facus on creabing innovative
projects In housing and energy, enabling
investment into UK communities at scale
and generating both financial and social
returns for investors and local comrmunities
Liz previously held senior positions in
investment banking providing advice and
structured finance to both the Government
and a range of business sectora

Principal external appointments:

None

10. Amanda L Hiflerby

Employee Nominated

Non-Executive Director

Age: 30

Tenure: 9 months

Skills and experience:

Amanda has worked for the Group since
2011, commencing her career on the Group's
graduate management programme during
which she worked across all areas of the
husmess including Care, Housing and Central
Support Amanda is currently delivering a
national role of Quality Manager within the
Care divsion

Principal externat appointments:

None

11. Ben Westran

Company Secretary

Age: 42

Tenure: 15 years

(4 years as Company Secretary)

Skills and experience:

Ben is a Chartered Accountant and, priar to
hig appointment as Company Secretary, was
Group Financial Controller and Director of a
number of the Group’s subsidiaries Ben joined
the Group in 2004 having previously worked in
professional practice

Principal external appointments:

None
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Corporate governance
Corporate governance report
Leadership

How the Board operates

The Board leads and provides strategic direction
to the Group and carries ultimate responsibility
for management of the Group’s activities and
financial performance. The Board acknowledges
accountability to shareholders for proper
conduct of the business, and responsibility for
the long-term success of the Group, having
regard to the interests of all stakeholders.

The Board’s prime ohjective 1s 1o ensure the ongoing commercial and
financial success of the Group The Board provides entrepreneurial
leadership of the Group within a sound and prudent nsk management
framework using effective mternal control systems which enable nsk
to be assessed and managed The Board sets the Group's strategic
objectives, and the nature and extent of principal risks it 1s willing to take
in achieving these strategic objectives, and ensures that the necessary
financial and human resources are In place for the Group to meet thege
objectives The Board sets the Group's values and standards, and
ensures that the Group's obligations to its shateholders and athers

are understood and met
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Corporate governance framework

As a Board we aim to be sector leaders in our
standards of corporate governance across
the business.

The governance framework extends to operational activities,
as outlined in the nsk management process on pages 38 to 42

Leadership and effectiveness

Qur Board

Role and responsibilities

~ Develop proposals on strategy and deliver value
to shareholders and stakeholders.
~  Monitor management activity and performance
against targets.
~ Provide constructive challenge to management.
~ Set parameters for pramoting and €ngaging the interest
of shareholders and investors.
~ Ensure satisfactory dialogue with shareholders
takes place.

Matters reserved for the Board’s decision

~ Group strategy, business chjectives, lang-range plans
and annual hudgets.

~ Annual and interim results approval

~  Material acquisitions, disposals and contract
bidding apptoval.

~ Major changes to internal controls, risk management
or financial reporting palicies and procedures.

~ Changes to advisers.

~ Setting the risk appetite of the Group.

~ Changes to capital and management structure,

~ Succession planning for the Board and senior management,

~ Board appointments and independence.

~ Appointment, termination and remuneration of Ditectors
and the Company Secretary.



Key responsibilities

~ ls responsible far the leadership of the Board and ensuring its effectiveness.

~ Sets the Board's agenda and ensures adequate time is available for discussion of all agenda items.
~ Ensures all discussion is in the context of the leng-term success of the Group.

~ Pramotes a culture of openness and debate by facilitating the effective contribution

of Non-Executive Directors

~ Ensures that the Directors receive accurate, timely and clear information.
~ Is responsible for designing a rigorous annual evaluation of the performance of the Board

and individual Directors.

Audit Committee

Key objective
The Audit Committee is

responsible for effective
corporate governance

in respect of financial
reporting, agreeing the
scope of the external audit,
the setting of the auditar’s
remuneration and reviewing
the effectiveness of the
Group's internal controls,
risk management and
internal audit processes,

&
Read the Report of the
Audit Committee on
pages 74to 78

Key objective

The Board

Remuneration

Committee

Key objective
The Remuneration

Committee is responsible
for setting, reviewing

and recommending the
remuneration policy and
strategy in respect of
Executive remuneration.

®

Read the Report of the
Remuneration Committee
on pages 79 to 81

Divisional Boards

Carnies out activities delegated by the Board, including
~ Day-to-day operational management of the business
~ Monitoring service debvery performance measures and driving improvements.

~ Financial performance reviews and comparison to forecasts and updated forecasts

~ Business development activity not subject to Board approval

Nomination

Commitiee

Key objective
The Nomination Committee

is responsible for ensuring
that the Board comprises
a high level and range

of business experience,
skills and diversity to
enable the Group to be
managed effectively.

&

Read the Report of the
Naomination Committee
on pages 72 and 73

The Chief
Executive Officer

Key responsibilities

~ Manages the day-
to-day business
operations of
the Group.

~  Ensures that
the appropriate
standards of
corporate governance
perimeate throughout
the organisation.

~ Recommends key
strategies and is
responsible for
execution of those
agreed by the Board

~ Takes a leading role in
the relationship with
all external agencies
and in promating
Mears Group PLC.

~ Directs the risk profile
of the Group in hne
with the risk appetite
and categories of
risk identified and

accepted by the Board.

®
Read the Review
of operations on
pages 1610 21
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Corporate governance

Corporate governance report continued

Leadership

Board composition and meetings in 2018

Governance framework

Qur governance framework supports the development of good governance practices throughout the Group Mo one indvidual has unfettered powers
of decision The Board works closely with the Executive team wiich ensures Board behaviours and culture are effectively cormmunicated and

embedded within the Group Regular updates are received from the Executive Directors in order to keep the Non-Executive Board members informed
of how the business 1s progressing

Role Potential  Attended  Responsibilities include

Chairman

Kieran Murphy EM—_O 0 ~ Promoeting a culture of chailenge, debate, openness énd support T ) ) o
Bob Helt & 6 ~ Leadership of the Board and ensuring its effectiveness

Senior Independent Director
Peter Dicks p
Julia Unwin 6

Ensuring Directors allocate sufficient time to the Company to discharge their responsibilities effectively
Efiective communication between the Board, the sub-cammitices and its key stakeholders
Ensuring the Board demonstrates cultuie, values and behaviours of the Group

Ensuring the Board presents a fair, balanced and understandable assessment of the position and
prospects of the Group

Being the principal conduit between the Chairman, Non-Executive Directors and sharehoiders

Leading the annual performance evaluation of the Chairman, including collecting the views of the
Execunve Directors

Providing a sounding board for the Chairman

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Jason Burt &
Roy Irwin 6
Julia Unwin 6
Gerant Davies 6
Ehzabeth Corrado &

5]

> o OO

Promating the highest standards of integnty, probity and corperate governance throughout the Group
and the Board

Constructively challenging decisions proposed by the Executive Directors
Assisting in developing proposals on strategy

Contributing ta the performance evaluation of the Chairman

Briefing the Board on decisions made and key 1ssues from each Committee Chair

Non-independent Non-Executive Directors

Amanda Hillerby 3 3 ~ Promoting the highest standards of integnty and probity

~ Assisting In developing proposals on strategy

- Ensuring that the Board recerves full, open and hanest insight and wiews from its workforce on how

strategic initiatives are being implemented

~ Melping to provide the wider workforce with a better understanding of how the Board operates
Executive Directors [N
Dawvid Miles 6 6 -~ Managing the day-to-day running of the business in line with the strategy and objectives set by the Board
Chief Executive ~ Ensuring the Board 1s suppired with sufficient and appropriate infarmation on a timely basis
Officer ~ Leading the business within the scope set by the Board

~ Developing strategy and setting objectives to meet the Group strategy

~ Managing the Group’s operatian to ensure it meets the risk appetite set by the Board
Andrew Smith 6 6 ~ Supportingthe Chief Executive Officer In developing strategy and meeting objectives
Group Finance ~ Establishing strong control processes
Drector ~ Managing the treasury actwvities in accordance with the credit risk appetite set by the Board

~ Supporting the Chief Executive Qfficer with investor relations

~ Leading the development of talent within the finance functian
Alan Long 6 6§ ~ Supporting the Chief Executive Officer in developmg strategy and mesting objectives
gi’;‘éfos"ecuwe ~ Supporting the Chief Executive Officer 1n managing external communications and investor relations

Setting the Group social value policies and procedures
Leading the operational leadership and developrment function of the Group

In addition to planned Board meetings, the Chairman meets with the Non-Executive Directors to discuss, on a less formal basis, Group performance,
strategy, governance and Board succession plans The Executive Directors do not attend these meetings

The Board considers all Nan-Executive Directors who served dunng the year to be independent in terms of jJudgement and character and free from
any relationship that might matenially interfere with the exercise of independent jJudgement
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Activities of the Board during the year

Board discussion during 2018 to deliver strateqic priorities

Strategy

~ Discussed performanne of boath
oherating segments

~ Discussed strateqy to ensure the Deliver
Group is well placed as tha market s
evolves, with particular focus in our _Str.ai_:e Ic
interdependencies between Hausing rlorltles
and Care.

Deepening our client relationships
in both Care and Housing

Financial performance

Increasing quality leadershi
~ Approval of 2018 budget 9 quality P

~ Reviewed performance by
husiness segment.
~ Appraval of 20117 Annual Report

Develuplust vur penple

Artl dividena
~ Approval of announcement of final
results for 2017. @

Read about our strategic priorities
on pages 32 and 33

Corporate governance

and risk management

Heviewed and considered

matters discussed at Audit
Committee meetings.

Selection and appointment of new
Non-Executive Directors

Reviewed statutory policies such
as tax strategy, anti-slavery,

and gender pay policy and
disclosure requirement.

Reviewed risk register and associated
mitigation strategy.

Values and ethics

Reinforcing the Red Thread principles
which set out the behaviours

and values underpinning the

Group's cuiture.

Review of output from employee
satisfaction survey.

Stakeholder engagement

tngaged with private shareholders
at AGM.

Reviewed and considered investor
feedback following final and interim
results investor roadshows.
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Corporate governance
Corporate governance report continued
Effectiveness

Board performance evaluation overview
The performance evaluation process included:

~ areview of the areas of Board roles and responsibility;

~ aninternally facilitated review by the Chairman, which included
meeting with all Board members individually,

~ the struciure and composition of the Board and its
Committees and the performance of the Committees;

~ the quantity, quality and scope of information provided to
the Board;

~ an assessment of the appropriateness of Directors’ terms
of reference,

~ the content of Board meetings and presentations to meetings,
and

~ the openness of communications hetween the Board
members and the Executive Management team.

Director informatian, induction and development

1115 a key responsibility of the Chairman to ensure all Non-Executive
Directors receive appropriate training and development to ensure they
can discharge their duties to the Board and the Committees to the best
of ther abilty Non-Executive Directors are fully engaged with ther
ongoing development, which 1s discussed wher each Non-Executive
Director has their annual individual meeting wath the Chairman

All Directors have access to the Company Secretary, who 1s responsible
for all Board compliance requirements, to ensure they are updated on
all legislative developments In addition to this, the Company Secretary
ensures the Board agenda and papers are provided at least seven

days in advance of the meeting Minutes and actions from previous
meetings are distnbuted on a timely basis As per the Board policies
and procedures, any Non-Executive Director may, on request through
the Company Secretary, meet with any member of staff in the Group
Non-Executive Directors are able 1o reguest the support of an
independent adviser from the Company Secretary

The quality and timeliness of information prowvided by the Company
Secretary was included as part of the Board evaluation The findmgs
were that information was thorough and relevant, and in all Instances
provided suitably in advance

There were no hew appointments during the year However, since

the vear end, Non-Executive Chairman, Kieran Murphy, recesved an
individual induchon, which included meetings with senor management,
adwisers and shareholders Kieran aiso attended the Group’s annual
conference which provided access to a cross-section of the colleagues
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Board appraisal

Performance evaluation of the Board, its Committees and ndradual
Directors takes place on an annual basis Every three years, the

review Is externally facilitated with the last external review heing 2017
Board performance evaluation was externally facilitated Each Board
member provided feedback and key observations on the Board's
effectiveness as well as suggestions for further enhancement

The Chairman reviewed the range of feedback provided and identified
some broad themes Some recommendations were proposed which
have been iImplemented, but the overall conclusion was that the Board
1s working effectively In additian, the performance of the Chairman s
evaluated by the Sentor Independent Directar, having collected the views
of the other Directars

Independence of Non-Executive Directors and re-election of Directors
The Board adopts the principles of the Code regarding tenure of the
board, and seeks to stnke an appropriate balance between continuity of
experience and refreshment Rigorous review 1s applied in assessing the
continuous independence of Directors having served for aver rine years,
wrth attenbion 1o ensuring that they remain independent in character and
judgement, and continue to present an chjective constructive challenge
in respect of Peter Dicks, the Board recognises that independence
cannot be determined arbrtranly on the basis of a set penod of time

The Board concluded that Peter Dicks remained independent for the
report period

To promote best practice governance, and in accordance with the
requirements of the Code, each of the current Directors will offer
themselves for re-elecion annually Foliowing the evaluation of

the Board's performance dunng the year, it1s confirmed that the
performance of each of the Non-Executive Directors continues to be
effective and that they are considered to demonstrate appropriate
commitment to the role The AGM papers include an accompanying
statement as to why the Board believes each Non-Executive Director
should be re-elected

{ndemnifications of Directors

In accordance with our Articles of Association and to the extent
permitted by the laws of England and Wales, Directors are granted

an mdemnity fram the Company In respect of labnlities incurred as a
result of therr position 1n office However, our indemnity does not cover
Oirectors or officers in the event of being praven of acting dishonestly
or fraudulently



Shareholder engagement

Principal methods of communication with investors
Annual Repent and Accounto
Interitn wlaletnents

~ Trading updates

~ Quarterly newsletters

~ Group website (www mearsgroup co uk}

Investor relations

The Company 1s cormnmitted to maintaining good commurnication

with nveatlurs Nonidl sharshinlaer contant 15 the reapnnsibility of

the Excoutive Direulurs, who respond on a daily basis to gueries

from mstitutional and private investors The Chairman, the Sentor
Independent Director and other Nan-Fxeciihve Direetars ara auallahle
1o shareholders to discuss any matters they wish ta raise The Directors
1egulatly meet shareholders at operational locatons, which hath parties
tind more rewarding as (L pruvides grester msight into the business and
its processes All Directors are available at each AGM and shareholder
participation 1s encauraged

The Board 1s committed to maintaining regular contact through the
prowvision of the Annual Report, regular Interim Reports and regular
trading updates This information can be found on the Group's website
(www mearsgroup co uk)

There 15 50 geuve programme of commumcabion wilh existng and
potential shareholders There 1s Increased dialogue with institutional
investors following the pubhcation of final and mterim results, which s
facilitated through a senes of formal presentations The Company has
also looked to hold additional mvester days during the year to ensure
that they are hatter infarmed of market and Cutnipdny thwelnpsments
A Capital Markets Day in June 2018 covered 'The changing nature of
affordable housing in the UK’ A further day in Febriiary 2019 prowidad
background ndornallon on the Asylum Accommodation and Support
Services Contract (ASSC) award and the Mitre Property Services
acquisttion (MPS})

The Group reqularly recewves and responds to gquestions raised by small
private shareholders through the investor enguiry portal within the
Group's website In addition, a number of private shareholders attend
the Company’s AGM

Feedback from communication with shareholders and other investors,
where necessary, 1s discussed at Board Meetings Feedback from this
years' shareholder dialogue included the following

~ Shareholders are generally supportive of the progress made by the
Group Inrespect of Housing Maintenance and Management

~ There s a range of differing views in respect of Care but alarge
number of sharchaolders are negative in respect of this area,
given challenges of recrurment and retention together with risks
to reputation

~ Shareholders have been critical of the Group's financial performance,
in particular the reliabiity of forecasts and cash generation

~ Views on succession planning and a feeling that there 15 lass reliance
on the Group Chief Executive Officer

The Group also has regular dialogue with 1ts banking partners, valuing
the close relationship with Barclays and HSBC

J Unwin

Senior Independent Non-Executive Director
Juha unwin@mearsgroup co uk

22 March 2019
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Q1 2018

Investor meetings prior to the close period.

Following release of final results for 2017, investor roadshow
spanning six days, meeting with both ‘buy’ and "sell’ sides.

Q2 2018
Reqular ypdate meetings with existing and
prospective shareholders.

AGM held in June 2018, providing an opportunity to meet a
number of private investors.

Capital Markets Day held in June 2018 to focus on ‘The changing

nature of Affordable Housing inthe UK.

Q3 2018

Following release of interim results for 2018, investor roadshow

spanning five days, meeting with both ‘buy’ and ‘sell’ side.

Q4 2018

Regular update meetings with existing and prespective sharehalders.

Investor lunch providing cross-section of fund managers to meet

the key management beneath the PLC Board.

Total shareholdings over 1.5%

82.5m £
74.6% T
%
o
PrimeStone Capital 15.0m 13 6%
Shareholder Value Management 12.8m 11 6%
Majedie Asset Management 10.5m 95%
Artemis Investment Management 79m 7%
Hercnbridge Investment Management 72m  65%
Fidelity Management & Research 53m  48%
Legal & General Investment Management  51m  46%
Dimensional Fund Advisors 47m  43%
Columbia Threadneedle Investments 4.3m 3%
Close Asset Management 2.6m 23%
Mantanaro Asset Management 2.5m 2%
M&G Investment Management 24m  702%
Slater Investments 22m  70%
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Corporate governance
Report of the Nomination Committee

JUnwin
Nomination Committee Chairman

Meeting attendance

JUnwin ( 11 )
R Holt *e e
K Murphy -
A Hillerby (Non-independent, in attendance) 0

Key
Attended @ Ahsent @
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During the first quarter of 2018, the Group advertised internally for

an Employee Director The Board understands the vital rele that our
workforce plays in the success of the Group The Board believes that
this role will ensure that the Board receives full, open and honest insight
and views from nis workforce on how strategic Intiatives are being
implemented and will provide the workforce with a better understanding
of how the Board aperates The interview process was very proactive,
with apphgants delivering presentations ta the panel In June 2018,
Amanda Hillerby was appointed to the Board Mears 15 one of the

first isted compames to take this bold step | firmly beheve that better
employee representation can improve the quality of decision making
The benefits of hstening to employees and engaging them in both
consultation and decision making are already widely recognised

n July 2018, as part of the conbinuing evolition of the Board, the
Chairman, Bob Holt, indicated his intention to the Board not to stand

for re-election at the 2019 AGM The Board cornmenced a rigorous
appointment process utilising the expertise of an external recruitment
consultant and open advertising The external recruitment consultants
used have no connection with the Company The external recruitment
consultant assisted with short-listing candidates Following this ngarous
process, Kieran Murphy was appointed to the Board in January 2019

We have considered the culture of the Board and the Group as a whole
dunng our discussions this year The Mears culture is articulated in the
Social value section of the Strategic Report, which can be found on pages
52 to 61 The Nomination Committee plays a vitaf rofe in embedding

a positive culture throughout the Group This 1s done by ensunng our
succession planning and appointment processes identify candidates
who demonstrate our viston, values and desired culture This will continue
to be an area of focus for the Nomination Comrmuttee going forward

Role of the Committee
The Namination Commuttee’s responsibilities include:

~ keeping under review the composition of the Board and succession
to 1f, and succession plannmg for senior managemert positians
within the Group;

~ making recommendations to the Board concerning appointments to
the Board, whether of Executive or Non-Executive Directors, hawing
regard to the balance of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity
of the Board,

~ reviewing the length of service of Non-Executive Directors o ensure
a progressive refreshing of the Board, whilst retaining the correct
level of experience,

~  making recommendations to the Board concerning the re-
appointment of any Non-Executive Director at the conclusion of hus/
her specified term and the re-election of any Director by shareholders
under the retirement prowisions of the Company’s Articles
of Assaciatian,

~ managing a formal, ngorous and transparent procedure for any
appointrments of new Directors to the Board,

~  prior to the appaintrnent of a Directot, requiring that the proposed
appointee discloses any other business interests that may result in
a conflict of interest and reports any future business interests that
could result in 2 conflict of interest, and

~ ensuring that, on appaintment to the Board, Nen-Executive Directors
receve a formal letter of appointment setting out clearly what s
expected of therm in terms of time comrmitment, Comimiitee service
and involvernent outside Board meetings



Activities during the year

- Reviewed Board effectiveness, Board governance, Executive and
Non-Executive Director succession and deliberation of person
requirements for the appeintments to the Board

~ Carned out appeintment process for Employee Director

~ Carned out & rigorous appolintment process to appoint a
replacement for Bob Holt, recommended to the Board the
appointment of Kieran Murphy ag the new Non-Executive Chairman

~ Recommended to the Board that all Directors stand for re-election

~ Reviewed the performance of the Committee against its terms
of reference

~ Reviewed and discussed the Internal leadership and develapment
programme to ensure 1ts appropriateness for succession 1o
the Board

Diversity

We have a number of active diversity iniatives across the Group,
including the Tradeswomen into Maintenance project and our social
mobility focus, as mentioned in the Charrman's introduction te
corporate governance

The Commuttee recerves updates cn all diversity mitiatives, and monitors
the level of engagement and investrnent The Executive Directors are
challenged by the Nomination Commuttee 1o ensure that these diversity
initiatives remain high profile

The appointments In 2018 have Increased the diversity of our Board
in terms of gender and expenence tam delighted that the Board
now comprises 30% female Directors, which falls broadly in line with
the recommendation of the Hamptan-Alexander Review to target
33% ferale board representation by 2020 Notwithstanding this,
the Committee follows a ngereus appointment process which the
Committee feels s free from bias

Director induction

Following Board approval, a tallored induction programme 1s developed
hetween the Cormmittee and the Group's insourced leadership and
development team

The terms and conditions of each appaintment of Non-Fxecutive
Directors are made avallable on reguest of the Company Secretary,
and are avallable for inspection at the AGM

JUnwin

Nomination Committee Chairman
julia unwin@mearsgroup.co uk
22 March 2019
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Corporate governance
Report of the Audit Committee
Accountability

G Davies
Audit Committee Chairman

Meeting attendance

G Davies 900000
J Burt 2000060
E Carrado 9000009
Key

Attended @ Absent @
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This report sets out how the Committee has fulfilled
its responsibilities during the year. This report also
sets out, in relation to financial reporting matters, the
significant issues that were considered and how they
were addressed.

A new committee dealing with health, safety and enviranmental risks
has been formed This Camphance Cammittee s a sub-committee
of the Audit Committee and 13 chaired by Jasan Rurt With ks
detailed knowledge of the faciors which cause and drive regulatory
prosecutions and employers’ and public habity claims he 1s ideal for
the rale The extent to which the full integration of health, salely and
environmental nsks are now embedded 1n the governance structures
af the Group i1s lighhighted by the members of the Comipltance
Commitiee who include the Group’s Chief Executive Officer, Chief
Risk Officer, Health and Safety Director and Health and Safety
Sahcrtor The Comphiance Committce has detaited terms of reference
which include

~ 1o review and monitor the Group's policies in relation to health, safety
and environmental (HSE) matters,

~ toreview HSE nsks and risk assessments on the Group risk register
and rmitigation achons and controls related thereto including
subcontractor controls and related procurement, and

~ tareview Group builldings compliance and safety including fire and
other nsks

[ have continued ta have a number of detalled review meetings with the
Chief Rigk Officet

In relation to financial reporting the two primary significant jJudgements
remain the carrying value of Care gocdwill and revenue recognition
Both of these continue to have a high level of materiality and carry

a significant fevel of judgement In reaching its conclusions the
Committee has had very detailed discussions with management and
gained assurance from the detalled procedures carried out by the
external auditor, Grant Thornton UK LLP

A third key Judgement 1s the assumptions surrounding the defined
hanefit pension valuations Despite the valuations being prepared by
independent actuaries the Committee 1s very aware that, in a volatile
economic environment, assumptions around bond rates and discount
rates are less predictable and small movements in these assumptions
can result n a material change to the carrying value of assets and
liabilties in a reporting period Given the requirement that the Annual
Report is far, balanced, concrse and understandable, the Commuttee
supports the analysis prepared by the Finance Director on pages 45
ta 51 which enables stakeholders to understand the differing nisks
associated with our LGPS and non-LGPS pension schermes and the
impact of gender equalisation

In relation 16 nsk management and internal controls, the Chief Risk
Officer manages an extended internal audit team whose annual plan

1s based on the Group risk register and is approved by the Commitiee
The 2018 Annual Internal Audit Report, presented ta the Committee for
approval in February 2019, included more coverage than ever before

| was particularly pleased to note the extent to which management has
respanded pasitively and quickly to the system changes suggested by
the internal audit work



During the year, the audit engagement was tendered Following a
rigorous process which s discussed in greater detail later in this

repart, the Audit Committee chose Grant Thornton UK LLP to retain

the audit, which was ratified by the AGM As Grant Thornton UK LLP
was reappointed the Audit Commiitee has reviewed the Independence
regulations and recommended to the Board that the audit be retendered
far the years beginning 1 January 2022 at which time Grant Thornton
UK LLP will not be invited to retender The Committee will continue

to review the Independeance and effectiveness of its external audit on

an annual basis The review process includes reviewing the external
auditor's plan, and subsequent reports and discussion by the Committee
of the appropnateness of audit procedures and processes

Role of the Committee

The Committee has access 1o the financial experuse of the Group and
its audritor and, if required, can seek further professional advice at the
expense of the Group

The key responsibifities of the Committee are to

~ consgider the appointment of the exlernal auditor, its reports to the
Committee and 1ts Independence, Including an assessment of its
appropnateness to conduct any non-audit work,

~ review the financial statements and announcements relating to the
financial performance of the Company,

~ review the internal audit programme and ensure that the internal
audit function 1s adeguately rescurced and has appropriate standing
within the Company,

~ discuss with the external auditor the nature and scope of the audit,

~ review, and challenge where necessary, the actions and judgements
of management, in relation to the intenm and annual financial
statements before submission to the Board,

~ formally review the effectiveness of the external and internal
audit processes,

~ consider management's response 1o ahy major external or internal
audit recommendations,

~ review the Company's plans far business continuity,

~ review the Company's plans for prevention and detection of fraud,
bribery and corruption,

~ review the effectiveness of the whistleblowing arrangements, and

~ report to the Board on how 1t has discharged its responsibilities

The Committee’s terms of reference are available on the Company’s
website and on request from the Company Secretary

Committee meetings

The Committee met five imes duning the year with attendance by all
members These meectings were also attended by the Group Chief
Executive Officer, the Graup Finance Director and the Chief Risk Officer
as reqguired by invitation from the Chairman of the Audit Committee
The external auditor, Grant Thornten UK LLP, was invited {o all meetings
There was also significant dialogue outside formal meetings between
Committee members, Executive Directors and the external auditor,
particularly during the audit process and the preparation of the Annual
Report The Audit Committee Chairman meets with the external auditor
regularly throughout the year

Main activities of the Committee during the year

Financial and business reporting

The Audit Committee shares the responsibility with the Board for
reviewing the appropriatenass of the Annual Report and half-year
announcements, to ensure that they properly reflect the Group's
business model, strategic priorities, key risks, and financial and non-
financial performance Consideration 1s given 1o the reasonableness
of the accounting policies, adherence ta accounting standards, and
sufficiency and clanty of the information disclosed

The primary areas of judgement considered by the Committee in
relation to the 2018 accounts, and how these were addressed, were

Carrying value of goodwill

For the purposes of assessing irmpairment, assets are grouped at

the lowest level for which there are separately 1dentifiable cash flows,
these are termed as cash-generating urits (CGUs) Due to the Board
successfully Integrating the newly acguired Care business into the
existing Care business, there have been two CGUs identified Soctal
Housing and Care Determining whether goodwill 1s impaired requires an
estimate of the value in use of each of the CGUs to which goodwill has
been allocated The value-in-use calculation involves an estimate of the
future cash flows of the CGU and also the selection of an appropriate
discount rate to calculate present values Future cash flows are
estimated using the current one-year hudget, extrapclated for five years
to December 2023 using specific rates with a general terminal growth
rate being used thereafter This has been derved from the extensive
business planning process described In greater detall within note 13 to
the financial statements on pages 128 to 130 Estimated growth rates
over each period are based on past expenence and knowledge of the
indvtdual sector's markets The Directors consider that the estimates
and Judgements involved 1n determining the value In use of the Care
CGU goodwili are the most significant to the Group and they have
therefore utilised the services of an external consultant to assist with
this Impairment review The value in use 1S most sensitive to changes
in the terminal growth rate, the expliot growth rate during the forecast
period and the discount rate

The sensitivity ta changes in these estimations is detalled nnote 13 to
the financial statements The Audit Committee takes reassurance from
the previous years impairment 1eview, where the key assumptions have
stibsequently been found to have been reasonably conservative and that
the actual resuits in the subsequent year have delivered better outcomes
than anticipated The headroom in the perod, being the excess between
value In use compared with carrying value, has reduced and the Audit
Cormmittee 1s mindful that there s stll significant uncertainty in the Care
sector and the key assumptions could change and matenally impact on
the carrying value of the Care business

The Audit Committec addressed this area of judgement by reviewing the
key assumptions proposed by management, notably forecast growth
rate, discount rate, terminal growth rate, and carer recruitment and
retention rates

~  The Committee reviewed the disclosure in the notes to the
financial statements

~  This area represented a prime area of audit focus and Grant
Tharnton UK LLP prowvtded detailed feedback ta the Committee
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Corporate governance
Report of the Audit Committee continued
Accountability continued

Revenue recognition

The Audit Commitiee reviewed in detail the impact of the new
accounting standard, IFRS 15, which came into effect on 1 Jaruary
2018 and will impact on the timing of recognising revenug and costs on
a small number of contracts, whilst being mindful that the comparative
figures cantinue to be prepared using accounting poficies under {AS 18
The key changes are as follows

~  Previously IAS 18 'Revenue’ and 1AS 11 'Construction Contracts’
allowed contracts with a vanety of services to be combined in gertain
circumstances in determining the percentage of completion of those
mult-service contracts Disaggregating these coniracts 1o determine
the satisfaction of performance obligations, as detalled above,
significantly changes the timing of revenue recognition £19 Tm of
the reduction in the opening halance of equity at 1 Jahuary 2018
relates to the disaggregation of contracts previously combined
The total transaction price of these contracts does not change under
IFRS 15

~ The Group’s assessment of vanable consideration revenue
recagritian under {FRS 1515 detailed above The judgement apphed
under [FRS 15 mare closely ahgns timing of revenue recognition with
cash inflows whare the contractual mechanism containg uncertainty
Previously, the Group utlised expected value calculations in
determining the vanahle consideration revenue o be recogrnised
£4 8m of the reduction in the opening balance of equity at 1 January
2018 relates to the Group’s apphcation of IFRS 15 n relation to
variable consideration

The Audit Committee addressed this area of judgement in the
follawing ways

~ The Committee reviewed the key jJudgements report prepared by
management which provided a detailed explanation in respect
of the valuation of unbilled works and the recognition of revenues

~ The Committee took comfort from the contract management
system which 1s central in generating the vaiuation of works {both
billed and unbilied} and the mtegrated process that follows o ensure
an accurate cut-off so that revenue I1s appropriately matched to
cost Grant Thornton UK LLP tested these systems dunng its audrt
fieldwork and provided feedback to the Comumitiee on this crucial
area, and this area represented a prime area of external audit
focus Grant Thornton UK LLP carned out both controls-based
and substantive testing of the amaounts recoverable on contracts,
adopting a blend of nsk-based and random sampling approaches
to testing, and provided detailed feedback to the Comrmittee in thig
area Grant Thornton UK LLP's comments can be seen on page 98
Grant Thornton UK LLP aiso carried out a detailed review of the
impact of the adoption of IFRS 15
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The acquisition of MPS Housing and MPM Revenue recognaition

In Novemnber 2018, the group acquired the entire share capital of

MPS Housing Limited and Mitie Property Management Limited

This acquisition has had @ materialimpact on the financial statements,
resulting in the recognition of gaodwill and intangible assets of

£21 5 milhon The goodwill measured at the acquisition date is the fair
value of the consideration, including the estimated value of contingent
cansideration, less the net recognised amount of identifiable assets
acquired and liabthities assumed The Committee was also mmdful of
the proximity of the acquisition to the year end which was considered to
add further nsk Although the estimates are provisional for 2018 and will
be finalised dunng the course of 2019, significant jJudgement 1s required
in deniving the value assigned to contingent consideration and the
dentifiable assets

The Audit Committee addressed this area of jJudgement in the
following ways

~ obtaimng an understanding of the acquisition through review of legal
agreements and discussion with management The Committes
took comfort from the fact that the acquired activities are very
similar in nature to the Group's core activities, and management
have been shown over many years 10 a high level of expertise in this
area This was reflected In a good understanding of the underlying
contracts and the bases for vaiuing unbiffed works,

~ considering the assumptions set by management i respect of
discount rate, customer attrition and long term growth rate through
the sales pipeline These are the most sensitive assumptions
which impact upon both the estimated value of the contingent
consideration and the recognition of acquired intangibles, and

~ fhis area represented a prime area of external audit focus and Grant
Tharnton UK LLP provided detalled feedback to the Committee

Defined benefit pension valuation
Anumber of key estimates have been made, which are given below and
which are largely dependent on factors outside the control of the Group

~ Inflation rates

~ Mortality

-~ Discount rate

Salary and pension INngreases

t

Detalls of the particular estmates used are included in the pensions
nate (note 29) to the financial statements on pages 144 to 147

Where the Group has a contractual night to recover the costs of making
good any deficit pension scheme, the fair value of that asset hag

been recognised and disclosed The nght to recover costs is imited

to exclude situations where the Graup causes the scheme to iIncur
service costs in excess of those which waould have been incurred were
the members employed within Local Government The Directors have
made judgements in respect of whether any of the deficit s as a result
of such situations

The nght to recover costs 1s also inited to situations where the cap

on contributions payable by the Group 1s not set so as to contnbute to
reducing the deficit in the scheme The Directors, in conjunction with the
scheme actuanes, have made jJudgements in respect of the predicled
future service cost and contributions to the scheme to reflect this in the
fair value of the asset recognised



The Audtt Committee addressed this area of judgerment in the
following ways

~ The Committee reviewed the key assumptions proposed by
management, notably assumptlions in respect of discount rate, RPI,
CPland future salary increases Given the materiality of this area, the
Committee reviewed a report prepared by PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP which validated the assumptions set by management and
provided a comparison with other quoted companies

~ The Committee reviewed the accounting treatment of pension
refated transactions Full disclosure has been provided within the
pensions note (note 26) to the financial statements on pages 144
t0 147 and the Committee concurred with the analysis provided an
pages 47 and 50 of the Financial Review in respect of defined benefit
scheme pensian obligations

~ Given the technical nature of this area, the Committee placed
rebance upen the actuanal reports prepared by the respective
scheme actuaries In respect of each of the defined benefit pension
schemes, Including an assessment of gender equatisation

New standards and interpi etations not yet applied

The Group is required to disclose information on standards that are
In1ssue, not yet effective that have not been early adopted in the
financial staterments

The Comimittee has met with management to discuss management's
interpretation and proposed implementation of IFRS 16 ‘Leases’
Following these discussions, the Committee reviewed the disclosures
within Principal Accounting Poficies on pages 105and 114

The Commuttee satisfied itself of the appropriateness of the disclosures
after the discussions with management and the review of the
disclosures by the external auditor

Internal controls and risk management
With respect to its oversight of risk management and internal

controls, the Board reviewed and discussed a wide range of matters
with management, Internal audit and external audn, as appropriate
This extends to caver all matenial controls, including operational,
comphance and financial controls and risk management systems

The Directors are satisfied that procedures are in place to ensure thet
the Group complies with the Guidance on Risk Management, Internal
Control and Related Finangial and Business Reporting published by the
Financial Reparting Council in September 2014

The Board has delegated some of these responsibiities to the Audit
Committee which has reviewed the effectiveness of the systerm of
internal controls and ensured that any remedial action has been or

Is being taken on any Identified weaknesses The system of internal
controls 1s designed to manage rather than eliminate the nsk of fallure
to achieve business objectives and can only provide reascnable, but not
absolute, assurance against matenal misstatement or loss It includes
all controls including finanaial, operational and compliance controls
and nisk management procedures

In addition, the Audit Commuttee has a new sub-comimiitee, the
Compliance Committes An overview of the terms of reference of

this Committee 1s Included within the Audit Committee Charrman’s
mtroductian, the Comphance Committee 1eports to the Audit Committee
under these terms of reference

The Group has an ongoing pracess for identifying, evaluating and
managing the significant rnisks faced by the Group The Group
endeavours to ensure that the appropriate controls, systems and
training are In place and has established procedures for all business
units to operate appropnate and effective nsk management

The processes used to assess the effectiveness of the internal control
systems are ongoing, allowing a cumulative assessment to be made,
and include the following

~ Delegation of day-to-day management to operational management
within clearly defined systems of control, including
the identification of levels of authonty within clearly identified
organisational reporting structures,
the identification and appraisal of financial risks both formally,
within the annual process of prepanng business plans and
budgets, and informally, through close monitering of operations,
a comprehansive financial reporting system within which actual
results are compared with approved budgets, quarterly reforecasts
and previous years' fiqures an a maonthly bagsis and reviewed at
hoth local and Group level, and
an Investment evaluation procedure to ensure an apprapnate level
of approval for all capital and revenue expenditure
~ Discussion and approval by the Board of the Group's strategrc
directions, plans and objectives and the risks to achieving them,
combined with regular reviews by management of the nsks to
achieving objectives and actions being taken to mitigate them
~ Review and approval by the Board of annual budgets, combined with
reqular eperational and financial reviews of performance against
budget, prior year results and regular forecasts by management and
the Board
~ Regular reviews by the Board and the Audit Committee of
identified fraudulent activity and actions being taken 1o remedy any
control weaknesses
~ Regular reviews by managerent and the Audit Committee of the
scope and results of internal and external audit wark across the
Group and the implementation of recommendations
-~ Consideration by the Board and by the Audit Committee of the
major nsks facing the Group and of the procedures in place to
rmanage them and to ensure controls react to changes in the
Group's overall nsk profile These include health and safety, people,
legal comphance, quality assurance, insurance and security, and
reputational, social, ethical and environmental nsks
Discussion relating to a presentation from the IT Director on
cyber-secunity, ncluding an assessment of vulnerabilities and the
programmes being implemented ta protect the Group against this
evolving and potentially catastrophic nsk
~ Consideration and discussion relating to regular updates from the
Finance Director regarding developments within the finance function

7 he Board has reviewed these procedures and considers them
appropriale given the nature of the Group's operations The Chief Risk
Officer and the Finance Director presented a report on the robustness
of the internal controls for the year and an internal audit plan for 7019
The Committee has concluded that the system of intetnal controls and
nsk management 1s embedded nto the operations of the Group and the
actions laken to mitigate any weaknesses are carefully monitared
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Corporate governance
Report of the Audit Committee continued
Accountability continued

The key controls in place are

~ adefined orgarisational structure and an appropriate level of
delegated responsibility to operational management,

~ authorisation himits for financial and non-financial transactions,

~ written operational procedures,

~ arobust system of financial budgeting and forecasting,

~ arobust system of financial reporting with actual results compared
to budget and forecast results, and

~ regular reporting of aperational performance and nisks to the Board,
ncluding the work of the Compliance Commuittee

In 2014 a detailed review of internal controls was performed by
independent internal audit outsourced partners KPMG This work
was cormmissioned on a risk-based approach and was performed to
provide the Committee with Independent assurance over the quality
of nsk management and strength of Internal contrals The procedures
perfarmed by KPMG were undertaken within inherently risky areas that
would affect KP{ perfarmance This assignment was finalised dunng
2015 and the independent view of internal controls was that controls
were generally adequate, though improverments were suggested

The improverments have been implemented as envisaged m the

2076 Annual Report, KPMG, as outsourced internal audit resaurce,
carried out an updated review of centralised controls and processes
Management has accepted recommendations from the 2017
updated review

The Company has in place internal control and risk management
systems in relation to the Company's financial reparting process and
the Group's process for the preparation of conseolidated accounts

The consgeolidated financial statements are produced by the Group
finance function, which is responsible for the review and compilation
of reports and financial results from each of the operating subsidianes
in accordance with the Group reporting procedures The consakdated
financial statements are supported by detalled working papers

The Audit Cammittee Is responsible for overseemng and monitoring
these processes, which are designed to ensure that the Company
complies with refevant regulatory reporting and filing requirements

As at the end of the period coveled by this report, the Audit Committee,
with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and the Finance
Directar, evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of
disclosure controls and pracedures designed 1o ensure that information
required to be disclosed in financial reports 1s recorded, processed,
summansed and reported within spectfied brne penods

The Committee carried out a review of its effectiveness with input from
Committee and Beard members, management and the external auditor
The review concluded that the Audit Commitiee members had sufficient
expertise and committed time to discharge their responsibiities
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External gudit related services

As noted in the Annual Report last year and approved by shareholders at
the AGM last June the audit was tendered during the year Twa ‘Big Four’
firms and the incurmbents, Grant Tharnton UK LLP, having confirmed
their interest In tendering, were contacted in January 2018 and invited

ta meet key personnel including the Group Finance Director, the Chief
Risk Officer and myself as Chawr of the Audit Committee during February
and March The firms were asked for therr written subrissions in April
2078 with their fee proposals provided separately in a sealed envelope
The fee proposals were only apened after the Audit Committee had
scored and ranked the quality of the written proposais and subisequent
presentations and interviews, so that the focus of the Audit Commitiee
was on the quality of the submissions being presented

The Audit Commuttee deterrmined the key cnteria for the appointment
would include audit professional scepticism and challenge of the
executive, business understanding and sector knowledge, serjonty and
axperience of the audii team to be deployed, transitional planning where
applicable, the depth of involverment of the proposed Semior Statutory
Auditor, and detalled confirmation of the iIndependence of the both the
firm and the indmvdual working directly on the audit

After the presentations and interviews the Audit Committee chose Grant
Thornton UK LLP to retain the audit based on the overall highest scores
The fee proposal was then reviewed, which did not alter our view

The Audit Committee then recommended Grant Thornton UK LLP to the
Board which confirmed its appoiniment, which was ratified by the AGM

As Grant Thornton UK LLP was reappointed the Audit Commmittee has
reviewed the independence regulations and recommended 1o the Board
that the audit be retendered for the years beginning 1 January 2022 at
which time Grant Thornton UK LLP will not be invited to retender

The Company has adopted a strict policy of prohibiting the external
auditor from carrying out non-audit services, in order to safeguard
audit objectity and independence The Commitiee 1s responsible for
approval of all non-audit services provided by Grant Thorntan UK LLP,
hawever, this is considered ta be in exceptanal aircumstances only

In such an exceptional event, the Audit Commuttee would approve only
where the Company would be disadvantaged by engaging an glternative
provider, for instance where Grant Thornton UK LLP possesses a
detalled knowledge of the structure of the business or an understanding
of the markets that the Group operates in No non-audit services were
provided by Grant Thornton UK LLP during 2018

G Qavies

Audit Committee Chairman
geraint.davies@mearsgroup co.uk
22 March 2019



Corporate governance

Report of the Remuneration Committee

2

R frwin
Remuneration Committee Chairman
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Dear shareholder,
| am pleased to deliver my first report since taking over as
Commuttee Chairman

The Directers' remuneration policy report sets out the Company's
remuneration policy for Directors This policy was subject to a binding
vote at the 2017 AGM and will remain unchanged for a period of at least
three years For completeness, the policy 1s detalled in full within this
Annual Report

The Annual Report on Remuneration sets out payments and awards
made to the Directors and details the link between Company performance
and remuneration for the 2018 financial year This repart, together wath
this fetter, 1s subject to an advisery shareholder vote at the 2019 AGM

You will have read earlier in the Annual Report that 2018 has been a
solid year, The financial results were satisfactory although sharehaolders
have heen critical around the cash flow, and the working capital
absorbed in areas such as Housing Development The Group did
regrster significant success in the period In securing three regions of
the Asylum Accommodation and Suppert Contract The contract is
vaiued at £1bn over the ten-year term and was the key sales target for
the year Ancther highlight was completing the acquisition of certain
business assets from the property maintenance business of Mitie

The transaction took several months to complete, and the final valuation
and deal structure s eredit to the Executive team

The Directors’ achieverment agamst their key performance indicators

is detailed on pages 34 ta 37 The Committee, in reviewing the
performance of the business, concluded that no award should be
made under the EIP in respect of 2018, a view with which the Executive
Directors agreed

1 am mindful that the Directors’ remuneration policy 1s not delivering the
desired outcomes in terms of motivation, retention and alignment in the
Interests of senior management with shareholders It 1s my intention

to commence dialogue during 2019 to ensure that we have a revised
remuneration policy before the start of 2020, which will be ratified
through a hinding vate at the 2020 AGM

The Remuneration Committee 1s acutely aware of the sensiivity around
ncreasing pay levels m excess of the general workforce In thes regard
we have broadened the Commuttee terms of reference and strengthened
its mermbership through the inciusion of our new Chairman Kieran
Murphy and also, from last autumn, our Employee Director Amanda
Hillerby The Executive team 1s alse mindful of the pay structure of the
wider workforce, and has emphasised 1ts desire to ensure that, where
possible, resources are targeted to those at the lower end of the pay
scale No pay increases are praposed for the Executive tearn for the
coming year

I hope you find the information 1n this report helpful and | fook forward
to your support at the forthcoming AGM | am always happy to hear
from the Company's sharehotders and you can contact me direct, o via
the Company Secretary, Ben Westran, if you have any questions on this
report or maore generally in relation te the Company's remuneration

R Irwin

Remuneration Committee Chairman
roy kwin@mearsgroup co.uk

22 March 2019
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Corporate governance
Remuneration policy

Directors’ remuneration policy

Remuneration policy and philosephy
Remuneration policy

How 1s this achieved?

A simple and transparent remuneration structure that retams and
motivates Executives while being sympathetic to Mears’ operating
environment from both an external and internal perspechve.

Conservative levels of fixed remuneration balanced with one annual
incentive strongly linked to performance

The perfarmance element of the annual incentive incorporates robust
financial, operational and strategic KPls that are aligned with an
evolving business strategy 1 an uncertain econormic environment

All incentive payments are deferred into equity over a five-year penod

ensuring clear alignment with shareholders’ interests and ‘at-risk’
remuneration

A proportion of each Executive’s total compensation should be linked to - ~
performance related pay and the pravision of equity

All incentive payments are delivered in 'deferred’ shares At stretching
performance, around one third of the Executive Directors’ total
remuneration Is based on the achievement of key corporate metnics
that are alighed to the Company’s long-term strategy

There should be a commuitment to fosterng a performance culture that -~
aligns an individual's rewards with the key corporate metrics that drive
shareholder value creation

The performance measures used in the Executive Incentive Plan are
directly ahgned with our corporate goals and as such ensure that there
15 no payment for poor performance

The Committee will ensure that the remuneration package does not

lead to iresponsible behawiour and that it takes appropniate account
of nsk

Executive Directors

The table below sets out the key elements of the nolicy for Executive Directors

Objective and

ink 10 strateqy

Operation

Perfarmance measures

Maximum opportunity and assessment

Base salary

The purpose of the
base salaryis to

The Committee reviews base salanes annually
n April

~ help recruit The Committee will retain the discretion to increase
and retan key an indiwvdual’s salary where there 15 a significant
individuals, difference between current levels and a market

- reflect the competitive rate When determining base salaries
individual's and whether to increase levels the Committee will

experience, role and
contribution within -~ ~
the Group, and

~ ensure fair reward ~
for ‘doing the job’

take the following into consideration

the performance of the individual Executive
Director,

the individual Executive Director's experience
and responsibilities,

~ theimpact on fixed costs of any increase,
~  pay and conditions throughout the Group, and
~ the economic environment

When setting the salary fevels for the Executive
Directors, in addtion to the factors summarnsed
above, salary levels paid by compantes of a simtar
size and complexity to Mears are taken into account

The annual Increase will not Not applicable
exceed 10% of annual base

salary

The Cornmitiee 1s guided by
the general Increase far the
broader employee population
but may decide to award a
lower increase for Executive
Directors or indeed exceed this
1o recognise, for example, an
mcrease in the scale, scape ar
responsibiity of the role and/
or to take into account relevant
market movements

The Corpany wilt set

out in the section headed
Statement of iImplementation
of remuneration policy, i the
following financial year, the
salaries for that year for each
of the Executive Directors

Other benefits

To provide benefits
that are vaiued by
the recipient and
are appropriately
competitive

The Executive Directars receive additional henefits
including a company-provided car or an allowance
i1 heu, Wfe assurance and private medical insurance
Other benefits may be provided where appropriate
Benefiis in kind are not pensionable

Pension

Ta provide a framework
to save for retirament
that is appropriately

Benefit values vary year on year Not applicable
depending on premiums and

the maximum potential value is

the cost of these provisions

All Executive Directors receve a contribution nto
their respective defined contribution plans, which
are subject to pertodic review to ensure that they

The Executive Directors receive  Not applicahle
a contribution of 15% of salary

competitive remain in ine with rates applicable in the market
Only the base salary 1s pensionable
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Objective and
link to strategy

Operation Maximum oppartunity

Performance measures
and assessment

Executive [ncentive Plan (E1P)

To provide a link
hetween reward and
corporate performance
Inorder 1o appropriately
retain and motivate the
Executive Directors and
senior management
who are critical 1o
executing the business
strategy

To align the interests of
Executive Directors and
senior management
mare closely with
shareholders over the
longer terim and provide
a greater exposure to
share price movements
over this period

Annual awards made to
Executive Directors will be
capped at 8 maximum of 200%
of salary For Part A of the
award, 100% will vest if the EPS
metricis met in full For Part B
of the award

~ 20% of the award will vest
for threshotfd performance,
and

~ 100% of the award wifi vest
for maximum performance
There 1s straight-line vesting
between these points

Annual awards of nil-cost options will be made
based on the achieverment of annual performance
Measures

Awards will be made in two parts

~ 50% of the maximum award will be granted
in deferred shares (‘Part A7), and

~  50% of the maximum award will be granted
based on the achievement of a range of annual
nerformance measures ('Part B%)

Both awards will vest 60% after three years, with

a further 20% after four years and the remaining
20% after five years

The Comimittee may award drvidends/diidend
equivalents on shares to the extent that the

shares vest

In exceptional circumstances (such as recruitment)
the: Cornrmittee retains the discretion to provide an
element of the award in cash

Further details of the operation of the EIP, including
the performance measures for 2019, are set out on
page 90

The performance measure for Part
A will be earnings per share

The performance measures for
Part B of the 2019 awards are

as follows earnings per share
(EPS), return on capital employed
(ROCE), cash conversion, customer
satisfaction, and health and safety

The Remuneration Committee
has discretton to set performance
measures and weightings on an
annual basis, with performance
measures for the next financial
year set out in the Staterment of
Implementaticn on pages 89

and 90

The EIP contains malus {up to dale
of vesting) and clawback (two years
post vesting) provisions

All-employee share plans

Encourages employees
to own shares In order
to increase aignment
aver the longer term

Under the SIP, Sharesave Plan
and CSOP, the maxtmum
amount 1s equal to the
regulatory hmits set fromtime

All employees are eligible to participate in the
Company's Share Incentive Plan (SIP) and
Sharesave Plan (Save As You Earn)

Under the terms of the Sharesave Plan all
employees can apply for three or five-year options to 10 1Me
acquire the Company's shares priced at & discount

of up to 20%

Under the terms of the SIP the Company can choose

o offer free shares, partnership shares, matching

shares {up to two for one on any partnership shares
purchased) and/or dividend shares

In addition the Company operates a discretionary
uhapproved share plan and a Company Share
Option Plan (CSCP) Na awards to Executive
Directors are propased under these plans

Not applicable

Shareholding requirement

Secures along-term
locked-in ahgnment
between the Executive
Directors and
shareholders, ensuring
that they build up and
maintain a mimnimum
level of shareholding
throughout their
employment with

the Company

Mintmum shareholding
reguirement 15 400% of salary

The shareholding requirement will operate in the

following manner

~ only shares unconditionally owned by the
Executive Director will count against the
requirement, and

= shares can be huilt up over a five-year perod
from implementation of the policy through the
vesting and retention of share awards and/or
MIP/EIP payments

Not applicable
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Corporate governance
Remuneration policy continued

Reasons for selecting performance measures

The Committee wanted to ensure that the performance measures
selected provide a holistic assessment of overaff corporate performance
and tie In to the non-financial objectives that the Company embraces
throughout the organisation

EPS growth has been selected as it prowvides direct alignment to

the Company's strategic objectives over the Jong term and s also
transparent, fully understood by participants and an externally audited
metric over which they have ine of sight

The use of ROCE and cash conversion (previously incarporated
as underping) ensures that qualty of earmings 1s protected and the
Company maintans strong working capital management

Customer satisfaction and health and safety performance conditions
are included as these are key KPls that the Company focuses on and,
by performing strongly in these areas, it will help win new contracts with
engd usears and support new \nnovative operating models

Targets are cahbrated to reflect the Committee's assessment of good to
exceptional performance and taking Into account internal budgets and
the current economic envircnment

Differences in remuneration policy for all employees

The Campany sets terms and conditions for employees which reflect
the different legislative and labour market conditions that operate

in each of our jursdictions We will always meet or exceed natonat
mmimum standards for terms and condiions of employment in each
of our business areas Pay arrangements in our businesses also reflect
local performance with persanal increases based on achievernent,
individually assessed Mears belleves in the value of continuous
improvement, both for the indnadual and for the Company

In general, all employees recerve base salary, benefits and pension, and
are eligible to participate In the Company's share plans Share awards
and bonus plans are cascaded down below Executive level 1o sentor
management, aligning the Semor Management Team to deliver value
for the Group

The remuneration of the Executive Directors and Senior Executives 1s
rmare heavily weighted towai ds vanable pay than for other emmiployees,
with a large proportion of their overall package dependent on successful
and sustained execution of the business strategy over the longer term
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Committee discretions

The Camrmttee will operate the EIP according 1o the plan rules

The Committee retains discretion, consistent with market practice, in a
number of regards to the aperation and adminisiration of these plans
These include, but are not kmited to, the following

~ The participants

~ The timing of grant of an award

~ The size of an award

« The determination of vesting

~  Discretion required when dealing with a change of control or
restructuring of the Group

~ Determination of the treatment of leavers based on the rules of the
plan and the appropriate treatment chosen

~ Adjustments required in certain circumstances (e g nghts 1ssues,
corporate restructuring events and special dividends)

~ The annuat review of performance measures and werghting for the
EIP and exercise conditions

~ In exceptional circumstances, the payment of a nroportion of the EIP
in cash

These discretions, which in certain circumstances can be operated In
both an upward and a downward manner, are consistent with market
practice and are deemed necessary for the proper and fawr aperation

of the schemes In order to achieve their original purpese 1t 1s the
Committee’s policy, however, that there should be no efement of reward
far poor performance and any upward discretion will only be applied in
exceptional circumstances

Mustrations of application of remuneration policy
Forillustrative purposes we set out below how the policy would operate
at three levels of performance

~  Minimum performance includes only fixed pay (salary, benefits
and pensiony

~  On-targel performance includes Part A of the EIP and 60% of Part B
of the EIP

~ Maximum performance includes the maximum opportunity under
the EIP

Fixed pay 1s base salary for 2019 plus the value of pension and
other henefits

The charts demonstrate the halance between fixed and variable pay for
minimum, threshold and maximum performance for Executive Directors’
remuneration in 2019 n ine with the relevant policy



Approach to recruitment remuneration

In the event that the Company recruits a new Executive Director

(either from within the organisation or externally), when determining
appropriate remuneration arrangements, the Committee will take

into consideration all relevant factors (including, but not mited to,
guantum, the type of remuneration being offered and the Junsdiction the
candidate was recruited from) to ensure that arrangements are in the
bast interests of both the Company and 1ts shareholders, without paying
more than s necessary 1o recruit an Executive of the required calibre

The Comrnittee would generally seek to align the remuneration of any
new Executive Director following the same principles as for the current
Executive Directors (set out in the policy table on pages 80 and 81)

The elements that would be considered by the Company for inclusion
In the remuneration package for a new Director are in line with those
offered to existing Directors (see the policy table on page 84 for

more details)

~ Salary and benefits including defined contribution pension
parucipation or a salary supplement in lieu of pension provision

~ Participation In the EiP of up to 200% of salary

~ Participation In all-employee share plans operating at that time

~ Costs relating to, but not hmited to, relocation, tegal, financial,
tax and visa advice and pre-employment medical checks

The maximum vanable remuneration will be 200% of salary

The Committee may make awards on appointing an Executive Director
to ‘buy out' remuneration arrangements forfeited on leaving a previous
empioyer Awards made by way of compensation for forfeited awards
would be made on a comparable basis, taking account of performance
achieved (or likely 1o be achieved), the proportion of the performance
period remaining and the form of the award Compensation could be
In cash or shares

D J Miles

Remuneration (£'000)
1,400
1,200
1.000

800

400

200 & Annual incentives

B Fixed

Minimum

A C M Smith
Rernuneration {£'000)

1,400
1,200
1,000
800
600
400

200 £ Annual incentives

B Fixed

Along
Remuneratian (£'000)

1400
1,200
1,000

800

1% Annual ingentives
W Fixed
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Corporate governance
Remuneration policy continued

Service contracts and payment for loss of office

Dwector Date of contract/letter of appommtment Notice penod by Company or Director
Executive

D J Miles June 2008 Twelve months
ACMSmith June 2008 Twelve months
Alang August 2008 Twelve months
Chairman/Non-Executive

K Murphy January 2019 Six months

G Davies October 2015 Six months
JUnwin January 2016 Six manths

J Burt February 2017 Six months

R Irwin Fehruary 2017 Six months

E Corrado Septernber 2077 Six manths

A Hillerby June 2018 Three months

All Executive Directors' cantracts are roling and, therefore, will continue
unless terminated by written notice In the event of the termination of an
Executive Director's contract, salary and benefits will be payable during
the notice period There will, however, be no automatic entitlement to
bonus payrments or share incentive grants during the period of notice

The rules of the EIP set out what happens to awards if a participant
ceases to be an employee or Oirector of Mears before the end af the
vesting period Generally, any outstanding share awards will lapse on
such cessation, except In certain cicumstances

If the Executive Director ceases to be an employee or Director as a
result of death, injury, Il health, redundancy, retirement, the sale of the
business or company that employs the individual or any other reason
at the discretion of the Cammittee, then they will be treated as a 'good

Under the EIP, a propartion of a goad leaver's award will vest on
cessation of employment by reference to the time elapsed from grant to
cessation The Committee has discretion to determine the penod during
which the good leaver may exercise thelr award after cessation

0n a change of control, all awards under the EIP will vest immediately

Chairman and Non-Executive Directors

The Board as a whole 1s responsible for setting the remuneration of the
Non-Executive Directors, other than the Chairman, whase remuneration
is determined by the Committee and recormmended to the Board

The table below sets out the key elements of the policy for the Chairman

and Nan-Executive Direciors

leaver' under the plan rules

Qbjective ang
Iink 1o strategy

Operation

Performance measures

Maximum opportunity and assessment

To provide
compensation that
attracts individuals with
appropnate knowledge
and experence

Fee levels are reviewed periodically taking
into account independent advice and the time
commitment required of Non-Executive Directors

The fees paid to the Chairman and the fees of the

other Non-Executive Directors aim to be compebiive

with other isted companies which the Commitice
{(in the case of the Charrmanj and the Board (in
respect of the Non-Executive Directors) consider
1o be of equivalent size and complexity

Non-Executive Directors receive a hase fee and
additional fees for the role of Senior independent
Director or membership and/or charrmanship of
certain Committees

The Chairman receives a single fee and does not
receive any additional fees for membership and/or
charrmanship of Committees

Non-Executive Dwrectors also receive
reimbursement of reasonable expenses (and any
tax thereon) Incurred through undertaking their
duties and/or Company business

Non-Executive Director fees are
not performance related

Any Increase in Non-Executive
Director base fees of additional
Committee/mernbership fees
(if introduced) may be abave
the level awarded to other
employees, given that they may
only he reviewed periodically
and may need to reflect any
changes 16 time commitments
or responsibilties

The maximum potential value
of any benefits provided I1s the
cost of these provisions

Non-Executive Directors do
nat recerve any variable
remungration element

The Company will pay
reasonable expenses Incurred
by Non-Executive Divectors

Current fee levels are set
out in the Statement of
implementation on page 90
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Other Non-Executive appointments

Executive Directors have an obligation to nform the Board, specifically
the Rermuneration Committee, of any Non-Executive positions held

or being contemplated and of the associated remuneration package
The Remuneration Committee will consider the merits of each case
and carefully consider the work and ime commitment required to fulfil
the Non-Executive duties and the potential benefit to the Group and
then determine whether the remuneration should be retained by the
Executive or passed over ta the Group

Consideration of employment conditions elsewhere in the Group

in developing policy

In setling the remuneration policy for Executive Directors, the
Rernuneration Commuttee takes into account Group and business
unit performance including both financial performance and safety
improvements in the year Due to the wide variety of labour market
conditions and the markets in which we cperate, pay rates are not
normally considered when considering Executive Director base pay
reviews The Remuneration Committee reviews and nates the salares
of Serior Executives within the Group

The Committee has not expressly sought the views of employees and
no remuneration camparnson measurements were used when drawing
up the Directors’ remuneration policy Through the Board, however, the
Committee 1s updated as to employee views on remuneration generally

Constideration of shareholder views

The Committee 1s committed to an ongoing dialogue with shareholders
and seeks shareholder views when any significant changes are being
made to remuneration arrangements We remain sensitive to the views
of shareholders and sought to consult many of our largest shareholders
reqarding the changes we made 10 the remuneration policy in 2017

The Company will continue to moniter shareholder comments and
retain an open dialogue as necessary
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Carporate governance
Annual remuneration report 2018

Annual report gn remuneraticn
This section of the remuneration report contains details of how the Company’s remuneration pohcy for Directors was implemented during the
financial year

Single total figure of remuneration (audited)

Executive Directors

The remuneration of Executive Directors showing the breakdown between elements and comparative figures 1s shown below Figures provided have
been calculated in accordance with the regulations

Taxabie Annual Tatal

Executive Director (£'000) Year Salary benefits Pension Incentives  remuneratian
D J Miles 2018 387 10 58 - 455
2017 368 19 55 - 443

ACMSMith 2018 258 6 39 - 303
2017 250 7 37 ~ 294

A Long 2018 211 1% 32 -~ 254
2017 205 12 31 - 248

Non-Executive Directors
The remuneration of Non-Executive Directars showing the breakdown between elements and comparative figures 1s shown below Figures provided
have been calculated in accordance with the regulations

Taxable Annual Total

Chairman and Non-Executive Director (£:000) Year Salary benefts Pension Incentives  remuneration
R Holt 2018 220 = - - 220
2017 233 14 38 - 285

G Davies 2018 70 - - - 70
2017 &0 - - - 60

J Unwin 2018 70 - - - 70
2017 60 - - - 60

R Irwin 2018 70 - - - 70
2017 42 - - - 42

J Burt 2018 70 - - - 70
2017 58 - - - a8

E Corrado 2018 55 - - - 55
2017 14 - - - 14

A Hillerby 2018 29 2 - - 31
2017 - - - - -

K Murphy 2018 - - - - -
2017 - - - - -

P FDicks 2018 35 - - - a5
2017 60 - - - 60

M G Rogers 2018 - - - - -
2017 20 - - - 20

D L Hosen 2018 - - - - -
2017 20 - - - 20
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Additional details in respect of single total figure table (audited)

The performance measures and targets for the EIP for the year ended 31 December 20718 are detailed below Despite the fact that a number
of performance targets were met, the Executive team requested that ne awards are made under the EIP in respect of the 2018 financial year

Description Weighting Calculation Targets
Earnings per 40% ~ Growth in diluted EPS Threshold
share (EPS) ~ Diluted EPS 1s stated before exceptional costs and ~ 8% EPS growth leads to 20% maximum
amortsation of acquisiion ntangibles and s adjusted contribution
for a normalised tax charge from 1 January 2018 to Maximum
31D ber 2018
ecember ~ 13% EPS growth leads to 100% maximum
~ Base figure of 30 36p to be used contribution
~ Straight-ine contnbution between 8% and 13%
Return on capital  20% ~  Qperating profit divided by capital employed Threshold
emplayed (ROCE) ~ Operating profitis stated before acquisition intangible  ~ 15% ROCE leads to 20% maximum contribution
amortisation and exceptional costs Maxirmurm
~ Capital employed 1s defined as total assets less current .. 209 ROCE leads to 100% maximurn contribution
labifities less ali balances relating to bank barrowings o .
and overdrafts classified within non-current habilities = Straight-hne contribution between 15% and 20%
at 31 December 2018
EBITDA cash 20% ~ Cash mflow from operating activities as a proportion Threshold
conversion of EBITDA measured at 31 December 2678 ~ B0% cash conversion leads to 20% maximum
contribution
Maximum
~ 100% cash conversion leads to 100% maximum
contribution
~  Straight-ine contribution between 80% and 100%
Customer 10% ~ The measure 1s the percentage of custormers whorate  ~ A level of customer service ‘excellent’ rating

satisfaction

our service as ‘excellent’

This output 1s generated from around 80,000 customer
surveys carned out during 2018

of 80% must be achieved in arder to deliver
a maximum contribution

Health and safety 10%

The measure 1s accident frequency rate (AFR) Itis
calculated as the number of reportable incidents divided
hy the number of hours worked, multpled by 100,000

~  An AFR below 0 25 must be achieved in order
to deliver a maximum contribution

The actual perfermance achievement 1s summansed below

% of target

Performance measures Actual satisfied
EPS growth 4% 0%
ROCF 17% 45%
EBITDA to cash conversion 4% 0%
Customer service — 'excellent’ rating 93% 100%

022 100%

AFR

The Remuneration Committee and the Executive team have agreed thal ne awards will be made under the FIP 1n respect of the 2018 financial year
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Corporate governance
Annual remuneration report 2018 continued

Statement of Directors’ shareholding and share interests {audited)

Directors' share interests are set out below

_Share interests
Vested but

m f

t[)\le‘:wef?cel;ﬁy M |nterestsTf?eL€jl
Director owned shares Options at year end
D JMiles 175,020 164,729 339,749
A C M Smith 110,000 69,333 179,333
AlLong 36,230 56,727 92,957
K Murphy - - ~
G Davies 2,500 - 2,500
JUnwin - - -
J Burt - - -
R Irwin - - -
E Corrado - - -
AHillerby - ~ -
Shareholder dilution

In accordance with the Association of Brntish Insurers’ guidelines, the Company can issue a maximum cf 10% of its 1ssued share capital in a rolling
ten-year pertad to employees under all tts share plans In addition, of this 10% the Company can issue 5% to satisfy awards under discretionary or

Executive plans The Company operates all its share plans within these guidelines

Performance graph and table {unaudited)

The graph below shows the Group's performance, measured by TSR, compared with the constituents of the FTSE All-Share Support Services sector
over the last nine years The index)s the most relevant to compare the Group's performance against 1is peers
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The table below shows the Chief Executive Officer's remuneration package over the past nine years, together with incentive payout/vesting as

compared to the maximurm opportunity

Long-term

single figure incentive

of total Bonus payout  accrual rate (as

remuneration  (as % maximum % maximum

Year Name {£'000) apporfunity} opportunity)

2018 D J Miles 455 - -

2017 D J Miles 443 - -

2076 D .} Miles 436 - -

2015 D J Miles 436 - 20%

2014 D J Miles 412 - 35%

2013 D J Miles 825 - 100%

2012 D J Miles 409 - -

20mM D J Miles 384 - -

2010 D J Miles 270 - -

R Halt 600 - -

2009 R Halt 1,065 100% -

Percentage change in Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration (unaudited)
The table below compares the percentage change in the salary of the Chief Executive Officer with that of the wider employee population
Remuneration

Salary Bonus/

entitlernent Benefits mncentives

Chief Executive Officer - - -

Office salaries 13% - -

The Chief Executive Qfficer's hasic salary equates ta 10 3 times the pay of the average administrative employee, normalised to reflect a 60 hour
working week On g similar basis, the Chief Executive Officer's pay equates to 15 8 imes the lowest paid worker This will reduce to 157 times

following the pay Increases to be applied in Apnl 2019

Relative importance of spend on pay (unaudited)

The table below sets out the relative Impartance of spend on pay in the financial year and previous financial year compared with other disbursements

from prafit

Disbursements

Dishursements from profit
from profitin In previous
financial year financial year
2018 2017 %
Swnificant distributions £000 £'000 change
Total Directors’ pay 1,628 1634 -
Profit distributed by way of dividend 12,539 12,219 +2%
Underlying profit before tax 38,522 37122 +4%
Statement of implementation of remuneration policy in the following financial year
Executive Directors
Salary
The salary entitlements for the forthcoming year are set out below
2019 2018 %
Executive Director £ £ change
D J Miles 386,817 386,817 0%
A CMSmith 257,912 257912 0%
A Long 211,019 211,019 0%

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018 a1

wodal sifiajeng

EEREEL G ETEI )

SIUBWAIR)S [RIDURLIY

UOHBWLIOJU JBP|OYRIRYS



Corporate governance
Annual remuneration report 2018 continued

Pension
Detalls of pension contnbutions for the year ended 37 December 2019 are set out below

Executive Director Pension
D J Miles 15%
AC M Smith 15%
Along 15%
EIP

As set outin the policy table, the EIP 1s splitinto two parts the deferred share award and the performance share award Set out below I1s the
maximum opportunity of each part for the year ended 31 December 2019

Part A — Deferred share award Part B ~ Performance share award
(% of salary) (% of salary)
100% 100%

For the 2019 EIP, the perfarmance share award threshold level of vestingis 20% for each measure The measures and welghtings are set out below

Payout range
(threshold to

maximurm
Condition Weighting  apportunity)
EPS 40%  20%=-100%
ROCE 40%  20%-100%
EBITDA cash conversion 20%-100%
Other Customer satisfaction 20%  20%-100%
Heaith and safety 2(%-100%
In setting targets, the Commuttee takes into consideration (amongst other items)
~ the Company's business plan,
~ consensus forecasts for the Campany, and
~ alignment with the Company’s business strateqgy
Non-Executive Directors
The following table sets out the fee rates for the Non-Executive Directors
%
2019 2018 change
Chairrman fee 160,000 220,000 27%
Base fee 50,000 50,000 0%
Committee Chairman fee 15,000 15,000 0%
Committee membership fee 5,000 5,000 0%

Role of the Committee and activities

The Committee determines the total Individual rermuneration packages of each Executive Director of the Group and certain other senior employees
(and any exit terms) and recommends to the Board the frarmework and broad palicies of the Group i refation to Senior Executive remuneration
The Cammittee determines the targets for all of the Group's performance related remuneration and exercises the Board's powers in relation to all
of the Group's share and incentive plans

There 1s a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on Executive remuneration and for determining the reruneration
of individual Directors

The Remuneration Committee 1S responsible for

~ determining and agreeing with the Board the broad remuneration policy for
the Chairman, the Executive Directors and senior management, and
the Executive Directors’ remuneration and other henefits and terms of employment, including performance related bonuses and share options,
and

~ approving the service agreements of each Executive Director, including termination arrangements

No Director Is involved n determining his/her own remuneration
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Annual overview
The Committee has continued to work to build investor confidence with regard to its Executive remuneration policies and remains committed to the

following actions

~ Improving the lavel of openness and transparency In remuneration reporting through a detalled Annual Remuneration Report

~ Qperating a structured incentive arrangement with clear financial performance targets for each year

~ Undertaking a regular review of the remuneration policies for Executive Directors and other Senior Executives within the Group to ensure that they
remain appropriate to retain and motivate such individuals

~ Considering pay policies within the Group as a whole when determining Executive Directors’ remuneration packages

~ Encouraging Executive Directors and Sentor Executives to build up a meaningful shareholding in the Company to more closely align the interests

of shareholders and Executives
~ Being kept fully aware and informed on developments and best practice in the field of remuneration and corporate governance from external

advisers, institutional sharehalders and therr representative bodies

Notwithstanding the abave, the Committee recognises that the success of the Group 1s dependent on the efforts of key individuals and that they
should be fairly rewarded for their efforts and contributions in making Mears the success it 1s

Statement of voting at general meeting
The table below shows the historical voling outcomes in respect of the remuneration policy and Annual Remuneration Report

Voles Votes Votes
lem for % aganst % withheld
To approve the Annual Report on Remuneration 775885806 93 5,932,133 7 4,000

The total number of ordinary shares eligible to vote at the 2018 AGM was 103,621,576 Every shareholder has one vote for every ordinary share held
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Corporate governance
Report of the Directors

The Directors present their report together with the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2018.

Drincipal activities

The principal activities of the Group are the provision of a range of
outsourced services to the pubhc and private sectors The principal
activity of the Company 1s to act as a helding company

Business review

The Company 15 reguired to set out a fair review of the business of

the Group dunng the reporting period The information that fulfils this
requirement can be found in the Strategic Report, Review of Operations
and Financial Review The results of the Group can be found within the
consolidated income statement Information required to be disclosed
In respect of emissions and futdre developments 1s inciuded within the
Strategic Report

Dividend

The final dwidend in respect of 2017 of 8 55p per share was paid in
July 2018 Anintenim dividend in respect of 2018 of 3 55p was paid

to shareholders in November 2018 The Directors recommend a final
dwidend of 8 85p per share for payment on 4 July 2079 to shareholders
on the Register of Mernbers on 14 June 2019 This has not been
ncluded within the consolidated financral statements as no obligation
existed at 31 Decernber 2018

Corporate governance
Detalls of the Group's corporate governance are set oul on pages 66
to 71

Key performance indicators (KPls)

We focus on a range of key indicators 1o assess our performance
Our performance indicators are both financial and non-financial and
ensure that the Group targets its resources around 1ts customers,
employees, operations and finance Collectively they farm an integral
part of the way that we manage the business to deliver our strateqic
goals Our pnmary performance indicators are detailled on pages 34
ta 37

Directors
The present membership of the Board is sel out with the biographical
detall on pages 64 and 65

I line wath current practice, all of the Directors wall retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the AGM In May 2019

Any person appointed by the Oirectors must retire at the next AGM but
will be eligible for re-election at that meeting

The heneficial Interests of the Directors in the shares of the Company
at 31 December 2018 are detalled within the Remuneration Report on
page 88

The process governing the appointment and replacement of Directors

15 detalled within the Report of the Nomination Committee on pages 72
and 73

94 Mears Group PLC Annual Repert and Accounts 2018

Amendment to Articles of Association

The Gompany's Articles of Association can be amended only by a
special resolution of the members, requinng a majority of not less than
75% of such members voting in person or by proxy

Share capital authorisations
The 2018 Annual General Meeting {AGM) held 1n Jurte 2018 authorsed

-~ the Directors to alfot shares within defined imits The Companies
Act 2006 requires directors to seek this autharity and, following
changes to Financial Services Authonty {(FSA) rules and institutional
guidelines, the authority was limited to one third of the 1ssued share
capital, a total of £345 405 plus an additional one third of 1ssued
share capital of £345,405 that can only be used for a nghts 1ssue or
similar fundrasing,

~  the Directars to tssue shares for cash an a non-preemptive basts
This authority was limited to 10% of the 1ssued share capital of
£103,620 and 1s required to facilitate technical matters such as
dealing with fractional entittements or passibly a smalt placing, and

~ the convening of general meetings (other than an AGM) o1 14 days’
notice This results from a European Union directive that became
effective on 3 August 2010 and will overnide Section 307 of the
Comparnies Act 2006 where the requirerent to give 21 days’ nohce
for certain meetings has been amended.

Further details of these authonsations are avallable in the notes to the
2018 Notice of AGM Shareholders are also referred to the 2019 Notice
of AGM, which contans similar provisions in respect of the Company's
equity share capital as detailed below

AGM

The 2019 AGM will be held on 31 May 2019 at 9 30arm and a formal
Notice of Meeting and Form of Proxy will be issued in advance

The ordinary business to be conducted will include the reappointment
of all Directors

Principal risks and uncertainties
Risk1s an accepted part of doing business The Group’s financial

nsk management 1s based on sound economic abjectives and good
corparate practice The Beard has overall responsibility for nisk
management and internal contrals within the context of achieving the
Group's objectives Qur process for identifying and managing risks 1s set
outinrnore detail within the Corporate Governance Statement The key
risks and mihgating factors are set out on pages 40 ta 42 Detalls of
financial nsk management and exposure to price rsk, credit nsk and
liquidity rsk are given in note 24 to the financial statements

Contracts of significance
The Group Is party to significant contracts within each segment of its

business The Directors do not consider that any one of those contracts
15 essential In it own nght to the continuation of the Group's activities



Payment policy
The Company acts purely as a holding company and as such Is non-

trading Accordingly, no payment policy has been defined However, the
pelicy for Group trading companies 1s to set the terms of payment with
suppliers when enternng into e transaction and to ensure suppliers are
aware of these terms Group trade creditors duning the year amounted
to 55 days (2017 60 days) of average supphes for the year

Capital structure

The Group 1s financed through both equity share capital and debt
Details of changes t¢ the Company's share capital are given in note

26 to the financial statements The Company has a single class of
shares - ordinary 1p shares — with no nght to any fixed income and
with each share carrying the night to one vate at the general meetings
of the Cornpany Under the Company’s Articles of Association, holders
of ordinary shares are entitfed to participate in any dividends pro-rata
to thewr holding The Board may propose and pay interim dividends and
recommend a final daadend for approval by the shareholders at the
AGM A final dividend may be declared by the shareholders in a general
meeting by ordinary resolution but such dividend cannot exceed the
amount recormmended by lhe Board

Substantial shareholdings
As at 27 February 2019 the Company has been notified of, or 1s aware of,

the shareholders halding 1 5% or more of the 1ssued share capital of the
Company, as detalled in the table below

Fund manager City  Shares(m) % 1C

PrimeStone Capital London 150 13 6%

Shareholder Value Management  Frankfurt 128 11 6%

Majedie Asset Management London 105 95%

Artemis Investment Edinburgh, 79 T1%
Management London

Heronhridge Investment Bath 72 65%
Management

Fidehty Management & Research Boston 53 4 8%

Legal & General Invastment Londan 51 46%
Management

Dimensional Fund Adwvisors London 47 4 3%

Columbia Threadneed|e London 43 39%
investments

Close Asset Management London 26 23%

Montanaro Asset Management London 25 2 2%

M&G Investment Management I ondan 24 ?22%

Slater Investments London 22 20%

Disabled employees
Applications for employment by disabled persons are always fully

considered, bearing In mind the aptitudes of the applicant cancerned

In the event of members of staff becoming disabled, every effort s
made to ensure that their employment with the Group continues and
thal appropriate training 1s arranged 1tis the policy of the Group that the
traning, career development and prometion of disabled persons should,
as far as possible, be identical to that of other employees

GHG emissions

The Group's carbon emissions data for the year s prowided below
Scope 1 ermissions, which are generated from awned or controlled
sources such as vehicles, have reduced while Scope 2 emissions, which
are from the generation of purchased energy, have increased This s

as a result of the change in mix between traditional maintenance work,
which naturally requires significant vehicle usage and management

of properties, which consume electricity There has also been an

overall reduction as a result of more efficient working practices across
the Group

These figures have been generated from independently provided
reports of carbon emissions or energy usage from a varety of sources
and, where necessary, energy usage has been converted into carbon
emissions using the 2018 dataset provided by the Department for
Environment, Food & Rural Affairs

Scope units 2017 2018
Scope 1 Tonnes CO-e 19069 17437
Srope 2 Tonngs COze 1482 2008
Scope 1 and Scope 2 2017 2018
Intensity tonnes CO:e/£m Revenue 22 83 2236

Employee information and consultation

The Group has received recognition under the ‘Investors in Peoptfe’
award The Group continues to involve (ts staff In the future development
of the husiness Information s provided to empleyees through a daily
news emall, a quarterly newsletter posted out to all staff, the Group
website and the intranet to ensure that employees are kept well Informed
of the performance and ohjectives of the Group

CREST

CREST is the computenised system for the settlement of share
dealings on the London Stock Exchange CREST reduces the amaount
of documentation required and also makes the trading of shares faster
and more secure CREST enables shares to be held in an electronic
form mstead of the traditional share certificates CREST 1s voluntary
and shareholders can keep their share certificates if they wish

This may be preferable for shareholders who do not trade in shares

on a frequent basis

Auditor
Grant Thornton UK LLP offers itself for reappointment as auditar
in accordance with Section 489 of the Companies Act 2006

By order of the Board
B Westran
Company Secretary

ben westran@mearsgroup co uk
22 March 2019
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Corporate governance
Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

in respect of the Directors’ Report and financial statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the
Annual Report, the Remuneration Report and the
financial statements in accordance with applicable
law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for
each financial year Under that law the Directors are required 10 prepare
Group financial statements in accordance with infernational Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Urion and have
elected to prepare the Company financial statements in accordance with
United Kingdam Generally Accepted Accounting Practice including FRS
101 'Reduced Disclosure Framework' Under company law the Directors
must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that
they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs and profit or loss of
the Group and the Company for that period In prepanng these financial
statements, the Directors are required to

~  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,

~ make Judgements and eshimates that are reasonable and prudent,

~ state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed,
subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the
financial staterments, and

~ prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless
it is 1nappropriate to presume that the Company will continue
Inbusiness

The Directors are responsible for keeping adeguate accounting records
that are sufficient to show and explain the Group's and Company's
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Group and Company and enable them to ensure
that the financial statements and Remuneration Report comply with the
Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the |AS Regulation They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other irregularities

The Directors confirm that

~ so far as each Director1s aware there 1s no relevant audit infermation
of which the Company's auditor 1s unaware; and

~ the Directors have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken
as Directors in order to make themseives aware of any relevant
audit mformation and to establish that the auditor 1s aware of
that information

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integnty of
the corporate and financial information ingluded on the Company’s
website Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation
and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation
in other jurisdictions
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To the best of our knowledge

~ the financial staternents, prepared in accordance with the zpplicable
set of accounting standards, give a true and fair view of the assets,
liatwlitres, financial position and profit or ioss of the Company and the
undertakings included in the consclidation taken as a whole, and

~ the Annual Report includes a fair review of the development and
performance of the business and the position of the Company and
the undertakings Included in the conschdation taken as a whole,
together with a descrnption of the principal nsks and uncertainties
that they face

The Directors are responsile for preparng the Annual Repart in
accordance with apnlicable law and regulations The Board considers
the Annual Report and Accounts, taken as a whole, 1s fair, balanced
and understandable and that it provides the information necessary for
shareholders to assess the Company’s perfarmance, business model
and strategy

Going concern
We principally operate in robust defensive markets, social housing and

care, where spend 1s largely non-discretionary and our contracts tend to
be long-term partnerships

The Group had net debt of £659m at 31 December 2018 The core debt
required 1o sahsfy the day-10-day requirements of the business is in

the region of £120m This represents significant headroom against the
£155m unsecured revolving credit facility, with an additional accordion
mechanism allowing the facility to be increased to a maximum of £45m,
maturing in November 2022

After reviewing the Group and Company's budget for the next financial
year and longer-term plans, the Directors consider that, as at the date of
approving the financial statements, 1t Is appropriate to adopt the going
concern basis in prepanng the financial statements

On behalf of the Board

A CMSmith

Finance Director

andrew smith@mearsgroup co.uk
22 March 2019



Corporate governance
Independent auditor’s report
To the members of Mears Group PLC

Qur epinion on the financial statements is unmodified

We have audited the financial statements of Mears Group PLC (the
‘parenl company') and its subsidianies (the ‘group’) for the year

ended 31 December 2018, which comprise the Consaldated income
statement, the Consolidated statement of comprehensive ncome, the
Consolidated balance sheet, the Consolidated cash flow statement,

the Consechidated statements of changes in equity, the parent company
balance sheet, the parent company statement of changes i equity and
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies The financial reporting framewark that has been
applied n the preparaticn of the group financial statements 1s applicable
law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted
by the European Union The financial reporting framework that has been
applied in the preparation of the parent company financial statements

1s applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including
Financial Reporting Standard 102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’ (United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice)

In our opinion

~ the financial statements give a true and fan view of the state of the
group’s and of the parent company's affairs as at 31 December 2018
and of the group’s profit for the year then ended,

~ the group financial statements have been praperly prepared in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union,

~ the parent company financial staterments have been properly
prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice, and

~ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the group
financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation

Basis for apinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on

Audrting (UK) (1ISAs (UK)) and applicable law Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities
far the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report We are
independent of the group and the parent company In accordance with
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethucal Standard as apphed
to listed public nterest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
respensibilities in accordance with these requirements We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtamed is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion

Canclusions relating to principal risks, geing concern

and viability statement

We have nothing to report in respect of the following infarmation in the
annual report, in relation to which the 1ISAs (UK) require us to repoit to
you whether we have anything matenal to add or draw attention to

~ the disclosures in the annual report sel out on pages 38-42 that
describe the principal nisks and explain how they are baing managed
or mitigated,
the direclors’ confirmation set out on page 40 of the annual report
that they have camed out a robust assessment of the principal nisks
facing the group, ncluding those that would threaten 1ts business
maodel, future performance, solvency or hguidity,

~  the directors’ statement set out on page 96 of the financial
statements abiout whether the directors considered it appropriate
to adopt the gaing concern basis of accounting in preparing the
financial statements and the directors’ idenufication of any matenal
uncertamties to the group and the parent company’s shility to
continue to do so over a penod of at feast twelve months from the
date of appreval of the financial statements,

~ whether the directors’ staterment relating to going concern required
under the Listing Rules in accordance with Listing Rule 9 8 6R(3) 1s
matenally inconsistent with our knowledge obtained in the audit, or

- the directors’ explanation set out on pages 43—44 of the annual
repart as to how they have assessed the prospects of the group,
aver what penad they have done so and why they consider that
penod to be appropriate, and their stateiment as to whether they have
a reasonable expectation that the group will be able to continue in
operation and meet its Labilities as they fall due over the period of
their assessment, including any related disclosures drawing attenbion
to any necessary qualfications or assumptions

Overview of our audit approach
~ We determined materiality for the audit of

the financial statements as a whole to be
£2 0 milhon,

~ Key audit matters were identified as
revenue recognition {Including contract
accounting, conftract assets and contract
accruals), goodwill impairment, defined
benefit pension schemes and acquisition
accounting (including valuation of goodwill
and intangibles), and

~  We performed full scope audit procedures
on the financial iInformation of six
companies and specific audit procedures
over certain balances and transactions at
four further companies to gain sufficient,
appropriate audit evidence over all materal
balances at both divisionat and group levels
We performed analytical procedures on the
financial nformation on the remaining thirty
three companies n the group

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional Judgment,

were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of

the current period and include the most significant assessed nsks of
material misstatermnent (whether or not due to fraud} that we identified
These matters included those that had the greatest effect on the overall
audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit, and directing

the efforts of the engagement team These matters were addressed In
the context of our audit of the financial staterments as & whole, and in
forming our optnion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
an these matters
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Corporate governance

Independent auditor’s report continued
To the members of Mears Group PLC

Key Audit Matter — Group

How the matter was addressed in the audit - Group

Revenue recognition (including contract
accounting, contract assets and contract accruals)

RevenLe I1s recognised throughout the group as the
fair value of consideration receivable in respect of
the performance of contracts and the provision of
services The group adopted International Financial
Reporiing Standard (IFRS) 15) ‘Revenue from
Contracts with Customers’ for the finanaial year
ended 31 Decemnber 2018

Determiming the amount of revenue to be recognised
requires management to make significant
judgements and estimates in the apphication of

ihe new IFRS, the stage of cornpletion of certain
contracts and the recoverabifity of work-in-progress,
mohihsation costs and contract assets

We therefore iderntified revenue recognition,
ncluding contract accounting, contract assets
and contract accruals, as a significant nsk, which
was one of the mast sigrificant assessed nsks of
matenal misstatement

Ouwr audit work included, but was not restricted to:

~ assessing whether the accounting policies adopted by the directors are in accordance
with the requirements of IFRS 15, ang whether management accounted for revenue in
accordance with the accounting policies, including the accounting and disclosure for the
transition to the new IFRS,

~ testing key controls, where applicable, over the recognition of revenue and the allocation
of costs G the contracts, covenng mvorcing and cost approvals and for the Care business
unit to timesheet authorisation,

~ gelecting contracts by reference to matenality and other nsk factors including loss making
contracts, contracts with significant aged contract assets and recelvables balances or
significant increases in these balances, contracts with disputes, and cantracts relating to
site locations we visited dunng the year,

~ selecting a further sarmple of revenue transactions, contract assets and contract aceruals
halances, to ensure coverage across the group,

~ assessing, for the selected items and samples, whether the revenue recognised 18
in accordance with the group’s accounting policies by agreeing details to contract
terms, support for costs on which the revenue 1g derved, re-performing management's
calculations and assessing management’s assumptions and assertions underpinning their
forecasts for contracts’ future performance by reference to supporting documentation,
such as contract KPls, histonical performance against forecasts, actual performance
agalnst previous estimates and discussions with key contract accounting personnel,

~ investgating the recoverablity of contract assets and work-in-progress balances by
reference ta post batance sheet cash collection, certifications performed by the group or
external quantity surveyors, reviewing the quality of supporting evidence, including internal
and external iegal opimians, expert value reports and correspondence with customers, and
examining the group's historical experience of recovery,

~ dentifying contracts that were at nsk of incurning future losses durning the reraining ife of
the contract This included assessing all potentially onerous contracts in the priar year, but
also any that had incurred significant losses during 2018, and

~ examining such contracts and challenging management's assumptions and assertions
relating to the future resuits of those contracts by reference to supporting evidence
such as rmanagement’s plans to return the contract to profit, forecast models, previous
history of turning around loss making contracts and correspondence with clients where
appropriate

The group’s accounting policy on revenue recognition is shown in "Principal accounting
policies — group’ to the financial statements an pages 108-109 and related disclosures are
nciuded in note 1 The Audit Committee identified revenue recogniiion as @ primary area of
judgement in its report on page 78 where the Audit Committee also described the action that
it has taken to address this 1ssue

Key observations
Based on our audit work, we did not identify any matenal misstatement in the revenue

recognised In the yeal to 31 Decernber 2018 or in the contract assets and contract accrual
balances as at that date
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Goodwill impairment

Our audit work included, but was not restricted to:

The directors are required 1o make an annual
assessment to determine whether the carrying

value of goodwill of £196 7 million 1s impaired Past
experience has indicated that there 15 significant
headroom in the goodwill balance relating to the
Social Housing division Cash Generating Unit ('{CGUY
but imited headraom in the goodwill balance relating
to the Care division CGU, which accounts for £112 4
million of the carried goodwill

The process for agsessing whether an impairment
exists under Internal Accounting Standard (JAS) 36
‘Impairment of Assets’ s complex Calculating the
value In use, through forecasting cash flows related
to CGUs and the determination of the appropriate
discount rate and other assumptions to be applied
can be highly jJudgemental and can significantly
impact the results of the Impairment review

We therefore identified the impairment review of
goodwill undertaken by management in relation to
the Care division as a significant nsk, whirh was
one of the mast significant assessed nisks of
matenal misstatement

- assessing whethe! the accounting policies adopted by the directors are consistent with
the prior year and in accordance with the regquirements of 1AS 36,

~ ohtaming management’s discounted cash flow forecast for the Care division used inthe
impatrment review and comparing 1t to cur understanding of the diviston and recalculating
the arithmetical accuracy of those calculations,

~ testing and challenging the assumptions utilised in the iImpairment medels, including the
Increase In carer hours, the new contract wins and the ability to pass on uplifts in payroll
costs tolocal authonues,

~ considering whether the market level assumptions used were appropriate and where
passible, benchmarking these assumptions against availlable industry data including
assessing these against the work done by an external expert,

~ performing sensitivity analysis on the vanious assumptions used for this madel to consider
the headroom levels for various scenarios, and

~ testing the accuracy of management’s forecasting through a comparison of budget to
actual data and fustoneal vanance trends and investigating the cash flows for exceptional
or unusual items or assumptions

The group’s accounting policy on impairment 1s shawn in "Principal accounting policies —

greup' to the financial statements on page 107 and related disclosures are included in note 13

The Audil Committee identitied carrying value of goodwill as a primary area of judgementn

its report on page 77, where the Audit Committee also described the action that it has taken

to address this 1ssue

Key observations

Based an our audit work, we found the valuation methodologies and assumptions made (n

management's assessment of goodwill impairment were approprate We consider that the

group's disclosure to be in accordance with I1AS 36 and have found ne matenal errors

n calculations

Defined benefit pension schemes

Our audit work included, but was not restricted to:

The group operates a number of defined benefit
pension schemes and 1s admitted body of a number
of other defined benefit pension schemes At

31 Becember 2018 the definad benefit pension
schermes had a combined net surplus of £20m, of
which £14m 15 recogrised In the financial statements
as recoverable The gross value of the pension assets
and obligations which form the net surplus amounted
to £439m and £419m respectively

The meaasurement of the abligations in accordance
with 1AS 19 'Employee benefits’ involves significant
Judgement and their valuation is subject to complex
actuanizl assumptions Small variations in those
actuanal agsumptions can lead to a matenally
different value of pension labilities being recognised
within the group financial statements

We therefore identified the valuation of the defined
benefit pension schemes obhgations as a significant
nsk, which was one of the mast significant assessed
risks of matenal misstaterment

~ assessing whether the accounting policies adopted by the directors are appropriate and
n acoordance with the requirements of 1AS 19,

~ utilising the expertise of our actuarial specialists in order 1o review the appropriateness of
the assumptions used in the calculation of the obligations and testing the apprepriateness
of the valuaticn methodologies and therr inherent actuanal assumptions by benchmarking
key assumptions such as discount rates, wages and salary growth rates and mortality
rates to availlable market data,

~ testing the accuracy of underlying membership data utilised by the group’s actuaries for
the purpose of calculating the scheme lizbilities by selecting a sample of employees and
agreeing membership to underlying records,

~ directly confirming the existence and valuation of pension scheme assets with asset
managers for group schemes and analysing the movements on assets for admitted body
schemes, and

~ checking the treatment of Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) service cost and ensuring
this has been accounted and disclosed for carrectly

The group's accounting policy on defined benefit pensions is shown in ‘Principal accounting

policies — group’ to the financial statemenits on page 110 and related disclosures are included

In note 29 The Audit Committee identified defined benefit pension valuation as a pnimary area

of Judgement In its report on page 78, where the Audit Committee also described the action

that it has taken to address this 1ssue

Key observations

Based on our audit wark, we found the actuanal assumptions used for the defined benefit

pension schemes to be reasonable We consider that the group’s disclosure appropriately

describes the significant degree of inherent uncertainty in the assumptions and estimates

and the potential impact on future penods of revisions 1o these estimates We found no

material errors in calculations

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018 99

odai o)fajens

S)uBLLIRIE)S JeloUBRUL] asueulanch sjelodion

UONELWION] 1apjoyaleys



Corporate governance

Independent auditor's report continued
To the members of Mears Group PLC

Acquisition accounting (including valuation of
goodwill and intangibles)

Dunng the year the group acquired the entire share
capial of MPS Housing Limited and Mitie Property
Management Limited This acquisition has had

a material impact on the financial statements,
resulting in the recognition of goodwill and intangible
assets on consolidation of £20 7 million into the
group

The group measures goadwill at the acquisiiion date
as being the fair vaiue of consideration, including
the estimated value of deferred consideration,
transferred less the net recogrised amount of
dentifiable assets acquired and lishiliies assumed
Goodwill of £3 3 million was recognised as a result
of the acguisition of MPS Housing Limited and Mitie
Property Management Limited

Under |AS 38 Intangible Assels’, intangible assets
acquired in a husiness combination are deemed

to have a cost 1o the group equal to their fair value
at the acquisition date Intangible assets of £174
mithon were recognised as a result of the acquisition
These intangibles were valued, based on discounted
cash flow forecasts prepared by management,
which reguire judgement by the Directars around
key assumplions such as revenue growth, discount
rates, custorner attnition and long term growth rates

Onnitial recognition, the assets and habilites
acquired in a business combination are included in
the consolidated balance sheet at therr fair values,
which are also used as the basis far subsequent
measurement In accardance with the group
accounting polictes Determining the fair value of
certain assets and liabilities requires jJudgement to
be exercised by the Directors, particularly in respect
of estimating the value in use of assets acquired
and capturing contingent habilities not previously
recognised in the financial statements

Oue to the significant financial statement impact of
the acquisition, as well as the high level of estimation
required In determining the appropnate accounting
treatment, we therefore identified acquisition
accounting, including valuation of goodwill and
intangibles, as a sigrificant sk, which was one

of the mast significant assessed nsks of

material misstaternent

Our audit work included, but was not restricted to:

assessing whether the accounting poiicies adopted by the directors are in accordance
with the requirernents of |1AS 38,

- obtaning an understanding of the acquisition through review of legal agreements and

discussion with management of both Mears and the acquired companies,

re-performing management’s calculation of the fair value of the consideration, including
the estimated value of the deferred consideration transferred less the net recognised
amount of identfiable assets acquired and habilities assumed, ensuning this 15 n
accordance writh the requirements of IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”,

using cur internal valuation expert to evaluate and assess the assumptions used, inciuding
discount ratas, growth rates and forecast future trading performance, in the calculation of
the fair value of the intangtbles recagnised,

. testing the accuracy of the data used in the intangbles valuation by agreeng data to

pertinent supporting documentation such as long-term growth forecasts,

testing significant far value adjusiments made to the assets and liahilities acquired, and
challenging management's assumptions in the value in use assigned to certan assets,
and

assessing the adequacy of disclosures in respect of the acquistion 1o ensure these are
In accordance with IAS 38 and IFRS 3

The group's accounting policy on acquisition accounting 1s shown in ‘Principal accounting
policies — group’ to the financial statements on pages 105-106 and related disclosures are
included in note 28

Key abservations
Based on our audit work, we found that the assumptions and judgements used in

managemeant’s accounting treatment of the Mitie acquisition were reasonable We also
note that the valuation of goodwill and intangibles 1s not materially misstated We found
no matenial errors in the underlying calculations

We did not identify any key audit matters relating to the audit of the financial statements of the parent company
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QOur application of materiality

We define matenality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable that the economic decisions of a
reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced We use matenality in deterrmining the nature, trming and extent of our audit work
and in evaluating the results of that work

Matenality was determined as follows

Wateriality measure

Group

Parent

Financial statements
as a whole

we determined matenality for the audrt of the financial
statements as a whole to be £2 0 million

Our determination of matenality included a consideration
of a number of benchmarks that we believe to be of
Importance to the users of the financial statements,
most notably the group's prelimmary earnings before
interest, tax and amortisation This benchmark 1s
constdered particularly important due to the significant
level of user focus on this figure In assessing the group’s
performance

The level of matertality however, was not determined
using a single particular benchmark as we considered
the finangial statements m Lheir entirety, theretore the
apprapriate amount of matenality was determined

to be £2 0 mullon based on a review of the financial
statements, and this amount was evaluated for
appropriateness by reference to a range of key
benchmarks

Materiality for the current year 1s hugher than the level that
we determined for the year ended 31 December 2017

as a result of the ncreased adjusted earnings hefore
interest, tax and amortisation in the current year

We determined matenalily for the audit of the parent
company financial statements to be £0 75 milkon

Qur determination of materiglty included a consideration
of a number of benchmarks that we believe to be of
importance to the users of the financial statements, most
notably the company's total assets This benchmark s
considered particularly important due to the principal
activity of the company being an investment holding
comparly

The level of materiality however was not determined
using a single particular benchmark as we considered
the financial statements in their entirety, therefare the
appropriate amaount of matenality was determined

to be £0 75 million based on a review of the financial
statements, and this amount was evaluated for
appropriateness by reference to 2 range of key
henchmarks

Materiahty for the current year 1s higher than the level that
we determined for the year ended 31 December 2017 as
aresult of the ncrease In total assets of the company at
the year end

Performance materiality
used to drive the extent
of our testing

Based on our nsk assessment, Including the group's
overall contro! environment, we determined a performance
materiaty of 75% of the financial statement materiality

Based on our risk assessment, including the company's
overall control environment, we determined a perfarmance
materiahty of 75% of the financial statement materahty

Specific materiality

We determined a lower level of specific matenality far
certain areas such as directors' remuneration and related
party transactions

We determined a lower level of specific maternality for
certain areas such as directors' remuneration and related
party transactions

Communication of
misstatements to the
audit committee

warrant reporting on qualitative grounds

We communicate misstalements exceeding £0 1 mullion
and misstaternents below that threshold that, in our view,

We commurnicate misstatements exceeding £0 038
milion and misstatements belaw that threshold that,
1IN our view, warrant reporting on qualitative grounds
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Corporate governance
Independent auditor’s report continued
To the members of Mears Group PLC

An averview of the scape of gur audit

Our audit approach was a nisk-based appraach founded on a thorough
understanding of the group’s business, its environment and nisk profile
In order to address the nisks descnbed above as identified dunng our
planning procedures, we performed a full scope audit of the financial
statements of the parent company, Mears Group PLC and of the group's
aperations throughout the Urited Kingdom

The compantes of the group were evaluated by the group engagement
team based on a measure of materality considered as a percentage

aof total group assets, revenues and earnings before taxes, to assess
the sigritficance of the component and ta determine the planned audit
response For those components that we determined to be significant
companents, either a full scope approach or specific procedures

in relation to specific balances and transactions were carned out

This approach was deterrmined based on their relative matenality to the
group and our assessment of audit rigk, this approach s in line with our
approach used n the pnor year

The group's companies vary significantly in size We performed fuli
scope audits at six companies Specific audit procedures over certain
balances and transactions were performed on a further four companies,
to give appropriate coverage af all matertal balances at bath divisional
and levels Together, the reporting units subject to audit procedures,
bemng full scope and specific procedures, were respansible for 92%

of the group 's revenues, 82% of the group 's earnings before, interest,
tax and amortisation and 50% of group ‘s total assets We performed
analytical procedures over the remaining thirty three companies

For significant components requiring a full scope approach, an interim
visit was conducted before the year end to undertake substantive
procedures in advance of the final visit and to evaluate the group 's
internal control environment We sought wherever possible, to rely on
the effectiveness of the group 's mternal controls which allaws us to
reduce substantive testing. We then undertook substantive testing
on significant transactions and material account balances, including
the procedures outhned above in relation to the key risks Faor the
components where specific procedures were carned out a similar
testing strategy was apphed, focused on the significant transactions
and matenal account balances

The remaining non-significant cormponents of the group were subject to
analytical procedures over their financial perfarmance and position after
taking Into account the risks identified ahove and the significance of the
component to the group

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information The gther
information comprises the information included in the annual report
and accounts, other than the financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does net
caver the otherinfarmation and, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated 1 our report, we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility 1s to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information 1s matenally mconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtaned in the audit or otherwise
appears to he matenally misstated If we dentify such material
inconsistencies ar apparent material misstatements, we are required
to determine whether there 1s a matenal misstatement in the financial
statements or a matenial misstatement of the other information If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there1s a
material misstaiement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact

We have nothing to repert in this regard

In this context, we also have nothing to report in regard to our
responsibility to specifically address the foliowing 1tems in the other
information and 1o report as uncoirected material misstatements of
the other Information where we conclude that those items meet the
following conditions

~ Far, balanced and understandable set out on page 96 — the directors
consider the annual report and financial statements taken as a whole
15 faur, balanced and understandable and provides the information
necessary for shareholders to assess the group’s performance,
business maodel and strategy, 1s materially inconsistent with our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or

~ Audit committee reporting set out on pages 76 tc 80 — the section
descnbing the work of the audit commitiee does appropriately
address matters communicated by us te the audit commitiee, or

~ Directors’ statement of compliance with the UK Carporate
Governance Code set out on page 64 — the parts of the directors’
statement required under the Listing Rules relating to the company’s
compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Cade containing
arovisions spectfied for review by the auditor in accordance with
Listing Rule 9 8 10R{2} do properly disclose a departure from a
relevant provisian of the UK Corporate Goverhance Code

Qur opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
is unmodified

In our opinion, based on the woik undertaken in the course of the audit

~ theinformation given in the strategic report and the report of the
directors for the financial year for which the financial statements
are prepared 1s consistent with the financial statements, and

- the strategic report and the report of the directors have been
prepared in accordance with apphcable legal requirements

Matters on which we are required to report under the
Campanies Act 2006

In the kght of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the
parent company and Its enviranment obtained in the course of the audit,
we have not identified material misstatermnents in the strategic report or
the report of the directors



Matters on which we are required to report hy exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the followng matters in relation

to which the Campanies Act 2006 requires us to report to you If, In
our opinion

~ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent
company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us, or

~ the parent company financial statements and the part of the
directors’ remuneration report to be audited are not in agreement
with the accounting records and returns, or

~ certain disclosures of diractars’ remuneration specified by law are
not made, or

~ we have not received all the infarmation and explanations we reguire
for our audrt

Responsibilities of directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the statement of directors' respensibilities

set out on page 96, the directors are responsible for the preparation

of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true
and fair view, and for such Internal control as the directors determine 1s
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from matenal misstatement, whether due to fraud or error

In prepanng the financial statements, the directors are responsible for
assessing the group's and the parent company's ability to continue

as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors erther intend to hquidate the group or the parent company

or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the

financial staterments as a whole are free from maternal misstaternent,
whether due to fraud or error, and to 1ssue an auditor's report that
mcludes our opinion

Reasonable assurance 1s a high level of assurance, but 1s not

a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 1ISAs

{UK) will always detect a material misstaternent when it exists
Misstatements can anse from fraud or errar and are considered matenal
if, indmadually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the ecanomic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial staternents

We are responsible for obtaining reasonable assurance that the financial
statements taken as a whole are free fram material misstatement,
whether caused by fraud or error Qwing ta the inherent imitations of

an audit, there 15 an unavoidable nisk thal material misstaternents of

the financial statements may not be detected, even though the audrt

1s properly planned and performed in accordance with the 1SAs (UK)
Our audil approach 1s a nisk-hased approach and is explained more fully
in the ‘An overview of the scope of our audit’ section of our audit report

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be
expected to have a matenal effect on the financial statements from our
general commercial and sector experience and thraugh discussion with
the directors and other management (as required by auditing standards),
and from inspection of the group’s regulatory correspondence and
discussed with the directors and other management the policies

and procedures regarding campliance with laws and regulations

We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team
and remained alert to any indications of non-compliance throughout the
audit This included communication from the group to component audit
teams of relevant laws and requlations identified at group level

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial
statements varies considerably

The group 1s subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the
financial statements including financial reporting legislation (including
related companies legislatien), distnbutable profits legislation and
taxation legislation and we assessed the extent of compliance with
these laws and regulations as part of our procedures on the related
financial statement items

The group 1s subject to many other laws and regulations, we did not
identify any others where the consequences of non-campliance
alone could have a matenal effect on amounts or disclosures in the
financial statements

Owing to the inherent mitations of an audit, there 1s an unavaidable
rnisk that we rnay not have detected sorne matenal misstatements

in the financial statements, even though we have properly planned

and performed our audit in accordance with auditing standards

For example, the further removed non-compliance with laws and
requlations (irregularnities) 1s from the events and transactions reflected
in the financial statermnents, the less likely the inherently mited
procedures required by auditing standards would identify 1 In addition,
as with any audit, there remained a higher nisk of non-detection of
irregularities, as these may involve colluston, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the oveinde of internal controls

We are not responstble for preventing non-compliance and cannot be
expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the inancial
staterments 1s located on the Financial Reporting Council's website at
www frc org uk/auditorsresponsibiliies  This descrniption forms part
of our auditor's report

Other matters which we are required to address

Following the recommendation of the audit committee, we were
appointed by the Audit Commuttee in 1996 to audit the financial
statements for the year ending 31 Decernber 1896 and subsequent
financial penods
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Corpgorate governance
Independent auditor’s report continued
To the members of Mears Group PLC

The perad of total uninterrupted engagemient 15 twenty two years,
covering the years ending 31 Decernber 1696 to 31 December
2018 Following the recommendation of the audit committee, we
ware appointed by the board of the directors in 2017 to audit the
financial statements for the years ending 31 December 2017 to

37 December 2021

The non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's £thical Standard were
niot provided to the group or the parent company and we remain
independent of the group and the parent company in conducting

cur auatt

Qur audit opinion 1s consistent with the addiional report to the
audit commitiee

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006

Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
company’'s members those matters we are required 1o state to them
In an auditor's report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility ta anyone
other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for
aur audtt work, for this report, or for the opintons we have formed

Rebecca Eagle

Senior Statutory Auditor

for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP
Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants
Birmingham

22 March 2019
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Financial statements
Principal accounting policies — Group

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the Eutopean Union and with those

parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS and therefore the consolidated financial statements comply with
Article 4 of the EU International Acceunting Standards (1AS) Regulztion The financial staterments are prepared under the historical cost convention
as madified by the revaluation of derivative financial instruments and share-based payments

The most significant changes i accounting policies from the previous year were the introduction of IFRS 15 'Revenue from Contracts with
Customers' and IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments’ for which the impact of introduction has been disclosed in note 3 The accounting policies remain
otherwise unchanged from the previous year except for the medification of a number of standards with effect from 1 January 2018 Changes include
Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions (Amendments to IFRS 2) and Annual Improvements 2014-2016 (which
made amendments to IFRS 1 and IAS 28) The adoption of these amendments had no material effect on the Group’s financial staternents

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (UK GAAP) requires the use of estmates

and judgements that affect the reported amaounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported armounts of revenue
and expenses duning the year Although these estirnates are based on the Directors’ best knowledge of the ameunts, sctual results may ulimately
differ from those estimates The most significant estmates made by the Directors i these financial statements are set out In "Use of jJudgerments
and estimates’ on pages 112 tc 113

Mears Group PLC 15 Incarporated and domiciled in England and Wales {registration number 3232863) [ts registered office and principal place
of business 1s 1390 Montpellier Court, Gloucester Business Park, Brockworth, Gloucester GL3 4AH Mears Group PLC's shares are listed an the
I ondon Stock Exchange

The Directors consider that, as at the date of approving the financial statements, there 15 a reasonable expectation that the Group and the Company
have adequate resources o continue In operational existence for the foreseeable future For this reason, the Directers continue to adopt the gaing
concern basis In preparing the financial statements  The Directors have discussed the principal 1isks and uncertainties of the business in the Risk
Management section on pages 38 to 42

Basis of consolidation

The Consolidated Balance Sheet includes the assets and habilities of the Company and its subsidiaries and 1s made up to 31 December 2018
Entities over which the Group has the ability 1o exercise control over financial and operating policies are accounted for as subsidianes Controlis
achieved where the Company has existing rights that give 1t the current ability to direct the activities that affect the Company's returns and exposure
or rights to variable returns from the entity Interests acquired in entities are consolidated fram the effective date of acquisition and interests sold are

consoalidated up to the date of disposal

All significant intercormpany transactions and balances between Group enterpnses, including unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions,
are eliminated on consohdation, no profit i1s taken on sales between Group companies

Non-controling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately frorm the Group's equity therem Non-contraling
interests consist of the amaunt of those Interests at the date of the onginal business combination and the non-controlling sharehalders’ share of
changes In equity since the date of the combination Total comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling interests even If this results in the
nen-controlling interest having a deficit balance

Ajeint venture Is a joint arrangement whereby the parties thal have joint control have the nghts to the net assets of the arrangement Investments in
Joint ventures are accounted for Using the equity method of accounting Under this method, the Group's share of post-acquisitian profits o losses is
recognised in the Consolidated income Statement, the cast of the Investment 1n a given joint venture, together with the Group's share of that entity’s
post-acquisition changes to shareholders' funds, 1s included in Investments within the Consolidated Balance Sheet

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method The acquisition method involves the recognition at fair value of all
identifiable assets and labibties, Including contingent Liabilities of the subsidiary at the acquisition date, regardless of whether or not they were
recorded in the financial staternents of the subsidiary prior to acquisition On intial recognition, the assets and habilities of the subsidiary are included
in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at then far values, which are also used as the hases for subseruent measurement in accordance with the Group
accounting policies Goodwillis stated after separating out Identifiable intangible assets Gocdwill represents the excess of acquisition cost aver the
fair value of the Group's share of the 1dentifiable net assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition

Where applicable, the consideration for an acquisition includes any assets or liabilities ansing from a contingent consideration arrangement,
measured at farr value at the acquisition date Subsequent changes in such fair values are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they result
frorm additional information obtamed up to one year from the acquisition date about facts and circumstances that exsted at the acquisition date

All other subsequent changes in the fair value of contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability are recagnised in accordance with IFRS 9
in the Consohdated Income Statement

Costs relating to acquisitions i the year have been expensed
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Financial statements
Principal accounting policies — Group continued

Business combinations continued
For transactions with non-controlling parties that do not resit in a change of control, the difference hatween the fair value of the consideration paid
and the amount by which the non-controlling interest 1s adjusted 15 recogrised in equity

Any business combinations prior 1o 1 January 20710 were accounted for in accordance with the standards in place at the time, which differ in the
following respects iransaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition formed part of the acquisition costs, contingent consideration was
recognised 1f, and only if, the Group had & present obligation, the economic cutflow was mare likely than not and a reliable estimate was deterrminable,
and subsequent adjustmants io the contingent consideration were recognised as part of goodwill

Property, plant and eguipment

Iterms of property, plant and equipment are stated at histoncal cost, net of depreciation Historical cost includes expenditure that1s directly
attributable to the acquisttion of the items Subsequent coslts are included i the asset's carrying amount of recognised as a separate assel, as
appropriate, only when itis probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow into the Group and the cast of the tem can be
measured rehably All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the Consolidated Income Statement during the financial penod in which they
are incurred

Freehald land 1s not depreciated Depreciation on other asséts 1s calculated 1o wiite down the cost lass estimated residual value over ther estimated
useful econormic lives The rates generally applicable are

Freehold bulldings —2%pa, straghtine

Leasehold improvements - over the periad of the lease, straight Iine
Plant and machinery - 25%p a, reducing balance

Fixtures, fittings and equipment - 25% p a,reducing balance

Motor vehicles —25%p a, reducing balance

Residual values are rewewed annually and updated if appropriate The carrying value 1s reviewed for impairment in the perod if events or changes
in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable An assel’s carrying value 1s written down immediately to its recoverable amount
If the asset’s carrying amount is greater than 1ts estimated recoverable amount

Gans and losses on disposals are determined by companng the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within administrative
expenses In the Consolidated Income Statement

Intangible assets
In accordance with IFRS 3 (Revised) ‘Business Combinations’, an intangible asset acquired in a business combination is deemed to have a cost to

the Group of its fair value at the acquisition date The fair value of the intangible asset reflects market expectations abaut the probability that the
future economic benefits embodied In the asset will flow to the Group Where an intangible asset rmight be separable, but only together with a related
tangible or intangrble asset, the group of assets (s recognised as a single asset separately from goodwall where the indwidusl fair values of the assets
in the Group are not rellably measurable Where the individual farr values of the complermentary assets are reliably measurable, the Group recognises
them as a single asset provided the individual assets have similar useful lives Intangible assats are amortised over the useful ecanomic hfe of

those assets

Development costs mcurred an saftware development are capitalised when all the following conditions are satisfied

~ completion of the software module 1s technically feasible so that it will be avallable for use,

~ the Group intends to complete the development of the module and use It,

~ the software will be used In generating probable future economic benefits,

~ there are adequate techrical, financial and aother resources ta complete the develapment and to use the software, and
~ the expenditure attributable to the software duning ris development can be measured religbly

Costs incurred making intellectual property available for use (including any associated borrowing costs) are capitalised when all of the foliowing
conditions are satisfied

~ completion of the data sef 1s technucally feasible so that it wili be available for use,

~ the Group Intends to complete the preparation of the data and use it,

~ the data will be used in generating probable future economic benefits,

~ there are adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the data set and to use 1t, and

~ the expenditure attributable to the intellectual property duning its developrment can be measured reliably
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Intangible assets continued
Development costs not meeting the critena far capitalisation are expensed as incurred Careful jJudgement by management 1s apphed when deciding

whether the recognition requirements for development costs have been met This 1s necessary as the economic success of any development
IS uncertain and may be subject to future technical problems at the time of recogntion Judgemenits are based on the nformation avaifable at
each balance sheet date In addition, all Internal activities related to the research and development of new software are continually monitored
by management

The cost of an internally generated intangible asset compnses all directly attributable costs necessary to create, produce and prepare the asset o be
capable of operating In the manner intended by management Directly atiributable costs include employee costs incurred on software development

Amortisation commences upor completion of the asset and 1s shown within other administrative expenses Until the asset s available for use
on completion of the project, the assets are subject to iImpairment testing only Development expenditure 1s amortised over the period expected
to benefit

The identifiable intangible assets and associated periods of amartisation are as follows

Order book - aver the period of the order book, typically three years

Client relationships — over the period expected to benefit, typically five years

Development expenditure - over four to five years, straight ine

Intellectual property - aver the perniod of usefulness of the intellectual property, typically five years
Goodwill

Goodwill anses on the acquisition of subsidiares and represents any excess of the cost of the acguired entity over the Group's interest in the fair
value of the entity's identifiable assets and liabilities acguired and 1s capitalised as a separate item Goodwill is recognised as an intangible asset

Under the business combinations exemption of IFRS 1, goodwill previously written off directly to reserves under UK GAAP s not recycled to the
Consolidated Income Staterment on calculating a gain or loss on disposal

Impairment
For the purposes of assessing Impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows cash-

generating umits (CGUSs) As a result, some assets are tested individually for impairment and some are tested at CGU level Goodwill is allocated to
those GGUs that are expected to benefit fram synergies of the related business combination and represent the lowest level within the Group at which
management monitors the related cash flows

Goodwill or CGUs that include goodwill and these Intangible assets not yet avallable for use are tested for impairment at least annually All ather
individual assets or CGUs are tasted for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable

An mmpairment loss 1s recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement for the amount by which the asset's or CGU's carrying amount exceeds its
recoverahle amount The recoverable amount 1s the higher of fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs to sell, and value 1 use based on an
internal discounted cash flow evaluation Impairment losses recognised for CGUs, to which goodwill has been allocated, are credited initially to the
carrying amount of goodwill Any remairing impairment loss 1s charged pro-rata to the other assets in the CGU With the exception of goodwill, all
assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognised may no longer exist

Assets held for sale
Assets held for sale are recognised at the lower of their carrying amount and therr fair value less costs to sell and separately presented an the face
of the balance sheet These assets are expected to be held for a imited duration prior to being sold

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value Costis the actual purchase price of matenals

Work in progress
Work in progress is included in inventaries after deducting any foreseeable logses and payments on account not malched with revenue Work in

progress represents costs incurred on speculative construction projects where a customer has not yel been identifed Work in progress is stated
at the lower of cost and net tealisable value Cost comprises materials, direct labour and any subcantiacted work that has heen incurred in bringing
theinventories and work In progress to their present location and condition

Contract assels
Contract assets are included in trade and other recevables and represent revenue recognised in excess of the total of payments an account and
amaounts myvolced
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Financial statements
Principal accounting policies — Group continued

Trade receivables
Trade receivables represent amounts due from customers in respect of invoice They are initially measured at their transaction price and
subseqguently remeasured at amortised cost

Retention assets represent amounts held by customers for a peried following payrment of invaices, to cover any potential defects in the work
Retention assets are included in trade receivables and are therefore initially measured at therr transaction price

Accounting for taxes
Income tax comprises current and deferred taxation

Current tax assets and/or iabilities compnse those obhgations to, or claims from, fiscal authonties that are unpaid at the balance sheet date
They are calculated according ta the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the accounting periods to which they relate, based on the taxable profit for
the year

Where an item of mcome ar expense Is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement, any related tax generated 1s recognised as a component
of tax expense in the Consolidated Income Statement Where an item 1s recoghised directly to equity or presented within the Cansolidated Statement
of Comprehensive Income, any related tax generated s treated similarly

Deferred taxation s the tax expected to be repayable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and habilites in
the financial statements and corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit and is accounted for using the balance sheet
llability method

Deferred taxation liabiliies are generally recognised on all taxable temporary differences in full with no discounting Deferred taxation assets are
recognised to the extent that 1t is probable that taxable profits will be available aganst which deductible temporary differences can be utilised
However, defarred tax s not provided on the inrtal recagnitron of goodwill, nor on the mrtial recognition of an asset or hability, unless the related
transaction Is a business combination or affects tax or accounting profit

Deferred taxation 1s calculated using the tax rates and laws that are expected 10 apply in the penod when the liabibty 1s settled or the asset is realised,
provided they are enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date The carrying value of deferred taxation assets Is reviewed at each
halance sheet date and reduced to the extent that 1t 1s no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available against which taxable
temporary differences can be utiised Deferred tax 1s charged or credited to either the Consolidated Income Statement, the Congolidated Statement
of Comprehensive fncome or equity to the extent that 1t relates to ifems charged or crechited Deferred tax refating to items charged or credited directly
to equity 1g also credited or charged to equity

Revenue

IFRS 15 'Revenue from Contracts with Customers' replaces the previous measurement standards JAS 18 'Revenue’ and IAS 11 ‘Construction
Contracts” IFRS 15 has been apphed using the maodified retraspective approach on transibon which results i an adjustrment (o the opeming balance
of equity at 1 January 2018 and no restatement of the prior period. The scope of the transitional adjustment 1s all contracts with customers which
span the 1 January 2018 transition date For the comparative period, the financial statements are reparted under the aforementioned accounting
standards, IAS 18 and 1AS 11

IFRS 15 provides a single, principles-based, five-step model fo be apphed 1o all sales contracts as outhined below It 1s based on the transfer of control
of goods and services to custamers and replaces the separate madels for goods, services and construction assets The detall below sets out the
principal types of contract and how the revenue 1s recognised in accordance with IFRS 15

The Groun's contract portfolio has been assessed by operating segment The contracts with customers in Housing have a wide vanation of goods
and services bemng provided to customers with differing performance obhgations and levels of complexity Within Housing, IFRS 15 does not apply
to lease contracts within the scope of IAS 17 ‘Leases’ In Care, there 1s a single performance obhigation within all contracts and the segment follows
a single revenue recognition methadolagy None of the Grou's contracts are considered to have a sigrificant financing compaonent

Housing
Schedule of rates {SOR) contracts

These contracts are primanly for repairs and mainienance services Revenue 1s derived using a fixed pricing schedule, which allows each job to

be identified and valued This pricing schedule 15 referred to as the SOR, which determines the ransaction pnce Each work order represents a
performance obligation and as the customer controls the asset baing enhanced through the works, the performance obligation 1s satisfied over time
The stage of completion of the work order is assessed and an aporophiate propartion of the expected transaction price recagrised n revenue
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Revenue continued

Housing continued

Lump sum contracts

Lump sum contracts may involve delivening a range of goods and services, typically repairs, maimntenance and capital works, however, there 1s a
single fixed lump sum payment per period which represents the transaction price The abligation within a lump sum contract 1s deemed 1o be being
avallable to deliver the goods and services In the scope of the contract, not the actual performance of the individual works orders themselves
Therefore revenue will be recognised on & straight-line basis as perfarmance obligations are being met over time

Contracting

For contracting projects, the contract states the scope and specification of the construction works to be carnied out, for a fixed price Mearsis
continuously satisfying this single performance obligation as cost 1s incurred, deterrmiming progress against the performance obligation on an input
basis The custormer controls the site or output as the work s being perfarmed on it and therefare revenue 1s recognised over time where there 1s an
enforceable nght to payment for works conmpleted to date and the work completed does note create an asset with an alternative use to the Group
An assessment 1s made of costs incurred 10 date and the costs required to cornplete the project If a project i1s not deemed to be profitable, the
unavaidable costs of fulfilling the contract are pravided for immediately This categery also includes construction contracts where an end customer
has not yet been identified and the revenue 1s recognised at a paint in time, rather than over time

Variable consideration

The Group’s Housing revenie includes elements of vanable consideration Where there s uncertainty in the measurement of vanable consideration,
at both the start of the contract and subsequently, management will consider the facts and circumstances of the contract i determining erther

the most likely amonint of varrable consideration when the outcorme is binary, or the expected value based on a range of possible considerations
Included within this assessment will be the extent to which there s a high probability that a significant reversal in variable consideration revenues will
not oceur onee the uncertainty 1s subsequently resolved This assessment will include consideration of the following factors the total amaount of the
varable consideration, the proportion of consideration susceptible to judgements of customers or third parties, the length of time expected before
resolution of the uncertainty, and the Group's previous experience of similar contracts

Rentai iIncame
Where the Group 18 acting as principal, lessor operating lease revenue 1s recognised in revenue on a straight-line basis over the tenancy in accordance
with 1AS 17 'Leases’, which will be replaced by IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ from 1 January 2019

Where the Group 1s prowviding a management service, Mears recognises revenue as an agent {(the net management fee) on a straight-line basis
Where significant iniial costs are reguired to make good the housing to perform Housing Management activities, the costs directly attnbutable to
the inihial upgrade will be recognised as costs ncurred to fulfit a contract and held within current assets, to the extent that 1t 1s determined that costs
are recoverable

Care

The stand-alone selling prices for providing care are overtly stated in the contract, and the method of apphcation of the rate of charge 15 on & unit
of ime basis, usually expressed as a rate per visit Revenue will be recognised in respect of this single performance obligation, by reference ta the
chargeable rate and time for completed care wisits in the period

From time to time, care contracts with customers include a fixed fee per penod for performing a consistent scope of care For these contract types,
the revenue recognition is caonsistent with iump sum contracts above

There Is a shift towards rewarding providers of care on the basis of achievement of specific outputs achieved and moving away from the traditional
Input-based, per-hour measuremeant Care outputs are either achieved or not achieved and are determined by service user Revenue will be
recagrused when the specific performance obligation has been satisfied

Segment reporting
Segmenl information 1s presented in respect of the Group's operating segments based on the format that the Group reports to its chief cperating
decision maker

I'he Group considers that the chief operating decision maker comprises the Executive Directors and Senior Executives of the business
Exceptional costs
Exceptional costs are disclosed on the face of the Cansolidated Income Statement where these aie material and considered necessary to explain

the underlying financial performance of the Group They are either one-off in nature or necessary elements of expenditure to denve future benefits
for the Group which have not been capitalised in the Consolidated Balance Sheet

Costs of restructure are only considered 1o be exceptional where the restructure 1s transformational and the resultant costis significant

Acquisition costs ate only considerad to be exceptional where the acquisition and the resultant cost are significant
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Financial statements
Principal accounting policies — Group continued

Employee benefits
Retirement henefit obligations
The Group operates both defined benefit and defined contribution pension schemes as foliows

1) Defined contribution pensions
A defined contribution plan 1s a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions to an independent entity The Group has no legal
obligations ta pay further contnbutions after payment of the fixed contnbution

The contributions recognised in respect of defined contnbution plans are expensed as they fall due Liabilities and assets may be recognised if
underpayment or prepayment has occurred and are included in current hatulities or current assets as they are normally of a short-term nature

The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group in an independently administered fund

1) Defined henefit pensions
The Group contributes to defined benefit schemes which require contributions to be made 1o separately administered funds

A defined benefit plan s a pension plan that defines an amount of pensian benefit that an employee will recerve on retirement, usually dependent on
one or more factors such as age, years of service and satary The legal otligations for any benefits from this kind of pension plan remain with the
Group, even If plan assets for funding the defined benefit plan have been set aside

Scheme liabilities are measured using the projected unit funding method, applying the principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date
Assets are measured at market value In accordance with IFRIC 14, the asset that 1s recognised )s restricted to the amount by which the 1AS 19
(Revised) service cost 1s expected, over the ifetime of the scheme, to exceed funding contributions payable in respect of accruing benefits

Where the Group has a contractual obligation to make goed any deficit in s share of a Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) but also has the
right to recover the costs of making good any deficit from the Group's client, the fair value of that guarantee asset has been recogrised and disclosed
The nght ta recover costs 1s imited to exclude situations where the Group causes the scheme to mcur service costs in excess of those which would
have been incurred were the members employed within Local Government The right to recover costs 1s also imited to situations where the cap on
emplayer contributions payable by the Group 18 nat set sa as to contribute 1o reducing the deficit in the scheme Movements in the guarantee asset
are taken to the Consclidated Income Statement and to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income te mateh the movement in pension
assets and liabilities

Actuanal gains and losses are taken to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income as incurred For this purpose, actuarial gains and
Iosses comprise both the effects of changes in actuanal assumptions and experience adjustments ansing because of differences between the
previous actuanal assumptions and what has actually occurred

Other movements 1n the net surplus or deficit are recognised i the Consolidated income Statement, including the current service cast, any past
service cost and the effect of curtallments or settlements The net interest cost 1s also charged to the Consolidated Income Statement The armaunt
charged to the Consolidated Incame Statement in respect of these plans 1s Included within operating costs

The Group's contnbutions 1o the scheme are paid In accordance with the rules of the scheme and the recommendations of the schemne actuary

Share-based employee remuneration
All share-based payment arrangements that were granted after 7 November 2002 and had not vested before 1 January 2005 are recognised in the
consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS 2

The Group operates equity-settled and cash-settled share-based remuneration plans forits employees All employee services received in exchange
for the grant of any share-based remuneration are measured at therr fair values These are indirectly determined by reference 1o the fair value
{excluding the effect of non-market-based vesting conditians) of the share options awarded Therr value is determined at the date of grant and 1s not
subisequently remeasured uriless the conditions on which the award was granted are madified The fair value at the date of the grant 15 calculated
using the Black Scholes option pricing mode! and the cost 1s recognised on a straight-ine basis over the vesting period Adjustments are made to
reflect expected and actual forfertures duning the vesting period For Save As You Earn (SAYE) plans, employees are required to contribute towards
the plan This non-vesting condition 1s taken into account in calculating the fair value of the option at the grant date

Al share-based remuneration 1s uitimately recogmised as an expense iy the Cansolidated income Statement. For equity-settled share-based
payments there 1s a corresponding credit to the share-based payment reserve, for cash-settled share-hased payments the Group recognises a

Tiabiity at the baiance sheet date

Upon exercise of share options, the proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs up 1o the nominal value of the shares 1ssued
are allocated to share capital, with any excess being recorded as share premium
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Leases

In accordance with IAS 17 ‘Leases’, the economic ownership of a leased asset 1s transferred to the lessee If they bear substantially all the risks and
rewards related to the ownership of the leased asset The related asset 1s recogrised at the tme of inception of the lease at the fair value of the
leased asset or, If lower, the present value of the lease payments plus naidental payments, if any, to be borne by the lessee A correspanding amount
18 recognised as a finance leasing liahility, irrespective of whether same of these lease payments are payable upfront at the date of inception of

the lease

Subsequent accounting for assets held under finance lease agreements, 1 e depreciation methods and useful lives, correspond to those applied
to comparable acquired assets The correspanding finance leasing hability 15 reduced by lease payments less finance charges, which are expensed
to finance costs Finance charges represent a constant periodic rate of interest on the outstanding balance of the finance lease abiity

All other leases are treated as operating leases Payment on operating lease agreements 1s recognised as an expense on a straight-ine basis over
the lease term Associated costs, such as maintenance and Insurance, are expensed as incurred

Financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the Consolidated Balance Sheet when the Group becomes party to the contractual pravisions
of the nstrument The principal financial assets and kabilities of the Group are as follows

Financial assets, loans and receivahbles

From 1 January 2018, the assets generated from goods or services transferred to customers are now presented as either receivables or contract
assets, In accordance with IFRS 15 The assessment of nnpairment of recervables or contract assets from 1 January 2018 1s in accordance with
IFRS § ‘Financial Instruments’

All of Mears' cash flows from customers are solely payments of principal and interest, and do not contain a significant financing component
Financial assets generated from all of the Group's revenue streams are therefore initially measured at their fair vaiue, which s considered to be their
transaction price (ag defined in IFRS 15) and are subseguently remeasured at amortised cost

Under IFRS 9, Mears will now recognise a lass allowance for expected credit losses (ECL} on financial assets subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the ‘simplified approach’ Individually significant balances are reviewed separately for impairment based on the credit terms agreed with
the customer Other balances are grouped Into credit nsk categones and reviewed in aggregate

Trade recevables, contract assets and cash at bank and in hand are non-denvative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are

not guoted In an active market Trade receivables and contract assets are initially recorded at fair value net of transaction costs, being invoiced

value less any provisicnal estimate for impairment should this be necessary due to a loss event Trade receivables are subsequently remeasured at
invoiced value, less an updated provision for impairment  Any change in therr value through impairment or reversal of impairment 1s recognised in the
Consolidated income Statement

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand and bank deposits available with no notice or less than three months’ notice from
Inception that are suhject to an insignificant nsk of changes in value Bank overdrafts are presented as current hiabilities to the extent that there 1s no
rght of offset with eash balances The Group considers its revolving credi facility to be anintegral part of its cash management During the year, the
Comprehensive Statement of Cash Flows has been re-presented to show this separately from cash and cash equivalents This has resulted in a net
increase 11 revolving credit faciity of £43 2m (2017 decrease £14 7m) being added to cash moverments on financing activities in the Comprehensive
Statement of Cash Flows and a commensurate adjusiment to cash movement for the year, resulting In a cash and cash equivalents figure of £279m
(2017 £24 8rm) Amemc has been added to the Comprehensive Statement of Cash Flows to show cash and cash equivalents and the rolling credit
facility in total

Following iritial recognition, financial assets are subsequently remeasured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method
Financial liahilities
The Group's financial habilities are overdrafts, trade and other payables including contingent consideration, and interest rate swaps They are

included in the Consolidated Balance Sheet ine items ‘Short-term horrowings and averdrafts', Trade and other payables', ‘Financial liabilities’ and
‘Othet habilites’

Al interest related charges are recagnised as an expense In ‘Finance costs’ in the Consolidated Income Statement with the exception of those that
are directly attributable to the construction of a gualifying asset, which are caprtalised as part of that asset

Bank and other borrawings are imtially recogrused at fair value net of transaction costs Gaing and losses ansing on the repurchase, settlernent
or cancellation of hiabilities are recognised respectively in finance income and finance costs Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense In
the period In which they are Incurred with the exception of those which are directly attnbutable to the construction of a qualifying asset, which are
capitalised as part of that asset

Trade payables on normal tarms are not interest beanng and are stated at then farr value on inimial recognition and subsequently at amortised cost

Contingent consideration is initially recagnised at fair value and 1s subsequently measured at fair value through the Consolidated Income Staterment
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Financial statements
Principal accounting policies — Group continued

Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses dervative financial Instruments to hedge its exposure to interest rate rnisks ansing from operational and financing activities

Dervative financial instruments are recognised Intially and subsequently at fair value, with mark-to-market movements recogrised in the
Consolidated Income Statement except where cash flow hedge accounting 1s applied

The fair value of Interest rate swaps is the estimated amount that the Group would receive or pay to terminate the swap at the balance sheet date,
taking into account current interest rates and the current creditworthiness of the swap counterparties

In accardance with its treasury policy, the Group does not hold or 1ssue dervative financial instruments for trading purposes

Hedge accounting for interest rate swaps

Where an Interest rate swap 1s designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of an existing or hughly probable forecast loan interest payment,
the effective part of any valuation gain or loss on the swap instrument 1s recogmsed in 'Other comprehensive income’ In the hedging reserve

The curmulative gain or loss 1s remioved from equity and recognised in the Conselidated income Statement at the same time as the hedged
transaction The meffective part of any gan or foss s recognised ih the Consalidated Income Statement immiedrately

When a hedging instrument or hedge relationship is terrminated but the hedged transaction 1s stilf expected 1o occur, the cumulative gan or loss
at that point remains in equity and s recognised In accordance with the above policy when the transaction occurs If the hedged transaction 1s no
longer probable, the cumulative unrealised gain or loss recognised In equity 1s recognised in the Consolidated Incame Statement irmmediately

Nature and purpose of each reserve in equity
Share capital 1s determined using the nominal value of shares that have been 1ssued

Share premium represents the difference between the nominal value of shares 1ssued and the tolal consideration recewved

Equity-settied shared-based employee rermuneration 1S credited to the share-based payrment reserve urtl the related share optians are exercised
Upon exercise the share-based payment reserve Is transferred to retained earnings

The hedging reserve represents the effective part of any gain or loss on a cash flow hedge which has not been removed from equity and recognised
in the Consolidated Income Statement

The merger reserve relates to the difference between the normminal value and total consideration in respect of the acquisition of Careforce Group ple,
Supporta ple and Mornson Faciliies Services Limited where the Company was entriled to the merger relief offered by the Companies Act 2006

Dividends
Dividend distributions payable to equity shareholders are included in ‘Current financial liabilities’ when the dividends are approved in a general
meeting prior to the balance sheet date

Use of judgements and estimates
The preparation of financial statements requires management ta make estirmates and judgements that affect the reported amourits of assets

and habilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of income and
expendiiure during the reported penod The estimates and associated judgements are based on historical experience and vanous other factors that
are helieved 1o be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making jJudgements about carrying values of agsets
and llablihes that are not readily apparent from other sources

The estrmates and undeilying judgements are reviewed an an ongang basis Rewvistans to accounting estimates are recagnised  the period i which
the estimate 1s revised If the revision affects only that perod, or In the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects bath current and
future periods

In the preparation of these consolidated financial statements, estimates and jJudgements have been made by management concerning the selection
of useful lives of property, plant and eguipment, provisions hecessary for certain habilities, when o recognise revenue on long-term contracts,
actuanal jJudgements, discount rates used within impairment reviews, the underlying share price volatiity for valuing equity-based payrments and
other similar evaluatians Actual amounts could differ from those estimates
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Use of judgements and estimates continued

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies

Revenue recagnition

Previously IAS 18 ‘Revenue’ and IAS 11 ‘Construction Contracts’ allowed contracts with a variety of services to be combined in certain circumstances
In determining the percentage of completion of those multi-service contracts Under this standard, revenue was recorded to reflect the expected
profit margin on the contract based on the overall stage of completion Disaggregating these cantracts 1o determine the satisfaction of performance
cbhgations, as detalled above, significantly ¢changes the timing of revenue recognition, as In many contracts, stage of completien 1s now assessed

at the individual job level £19 1m of the reduction in the opening balance of equity at 1 January 2018 relates to the disaggregation of contracts
previously combined The total transaction price of these contracts does not change under IFRS 15

The Group’s assessment of variable consideraton tevenue recognition under IFRS 151s detalled above The judgement appled under IFRS 15 more
closely aligns timing of revenue recognitton with cash inflows where the contractual mechanism contains uncertainty Previously, the Group utilised
expected value calculations in deterrmining the vanable consideration revenue to be recogrused £4 8m of the reduction in the opening balance of
equity at 1 January 2018 relates to the Group's application of IFRS 15 1n relation to vanable consideration The total amount of variable consideration
wiil not change under IFRS 15

Joint arrangements
The Group participates in a number of Joint arrangements where contral of the arrangement s shared with ancther party A joint arrangement is
classified as a joint operation or as a joint venture, depending on management's assessment of the legal form and substance of the arrangement

The classification can have a material impact on the consolidaled financial statements The Group's share of assets, labilities, revenue, expenses
and cash flows of joint opersticns would be included In the consolidated financial statements on a line-by-line basis, whereas the Group's
nvestment and share of results of joint ventures are shown within single ine items in the Consolidated Balance Sheet and Consclidated Income
Statement respectively

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Contract recoverability

Determining future contract profitability requires estimates of future revenues and costs to complete In making these assessments there is a degree
of mherent uncertainty The Group utilises the appropnate expeltise in determining these estimates and has well-established internal controls to
assess and review the expected outcome

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill 1s imparred reguires an estimate of the value in use of the CGUs to which goodwiil has been allocated The value-in-use
calculation involves an estimate of the future cash flows of the CGUs and alsao the selection of appropnate discount rates to calculate present values
Future cash flows are estimated using the current one-year budaet forecast, extrapoiated for a future growth rate The estimated growth rates are
based on past expenience and knowledge of the individual sector's markets Changes in the estmated growth rate could result in vanations 1o the
carrying value of goodwill The estimated cash flows and future growth rates are based on past expenence and knowledge of the sector The value
inuse1s most sensitive to changes in the terminal growth rate, the explicit growth rate and the discount rate The sensitivity to changes in these

estimations 1s detalled in note 13

Defined benefit assets
Scheme assets fol LGPS have been estmated hy rolling forward the pubhished asset position from the previous year using market index returns over
the period This s considered to provide a goad estimate of the actual scheme assets and the values will be updated to actuals each time a tnennial

valuation takes place

Defined benefit habilities
A nurnber of key estimates have been made, which are gven below, and which are largely dependent on factors outside the contral of the Group

~ nflation rates,

v mortality,

~ discount rate, and

~ salary and pension increases

Detalls of the particular estimates used are included in the pensians note Sensitivity analysis for these key estimates 1s included in note 29

Whare the Group has a cantractual ohhgation to make good any deficit mn 1ts share of an LGPS but alse has the night to recover the costs of making
good any deficit from the Group's client, the fan value of that asset has been recogrised and disclosed The night to recover costs is imited Lo
exclude situations whete the Group causes the scheme to incur service costs in excess of those which would have been incuried were the member s
ermnployed within | ocal Government The Directors have made judgements i respect of whether any of the deficit 1s as a result of such situations

The nght to recover costs 1s also limited to situations where the cap on ernployer contnibutions to be suffered by the Group 1s not set so as to

contribute to reducing the deficit in the scheme The Directors, tn conjunction with the scheme acluarnes, have made Judgements inrespect of the
predicted future service cost and contributions to the scheme to reflect this i the fair value of the asset recognised
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Financial statements
Principal accounting policies — Group continued

New standards and interpretations not yet applied
IFRS 16 ‘Leases’

IFRS 16 replaces the existing leasing accounting guidance, which includes 1AS 17 ‘Leases’ and IFRIC 4 ‘Determining Whether an Arrangement
Contains a Lease’ The standard 1s effective for perniods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

The standard requires lessees to account for most contracts using an an-balance sheet madel, with the distinction between operating and finance
leases being removed There i1s no change to the revenue recognition methodology for lessor operating leases

The standard pravides certain exemptions from recognising leases on the balance sheet, including where the asset is of low value or the lease termiis
12 months or less In addition, the standard makes changes to the definition of a lease to focus on, amongst other things, which party bas the nght to
direct the use of the asset

Under the new standard, the Group will be required to recognise right of use lease assets and lease liabilittes on the balance sheet The nght of use
assel s Intially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the fease iability Liabiliies are measured based on the present value of future lease payments over the
leage term Subsequently, the lease habiity 1s adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst others

The recagnition of the depreciation of nght of use lease assets and Interest on lease liabilities aver the lease term will have ne overall impact on profit
before tax over the life of the lease, however, the resuit In any individual year will be impacted and the change in presentation of costs will Iikely be
material to the Group's key financial metrics Under 1AS 17, the charge 1s booked in fulf to operating profit Metrics which will therefore be affected will
include operating profit and operating margin, interest and interest cover, Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA) and
operating cash flow

Furthermare, the principal amount of cash paid and mterest in the cash flow staternent will be presented separately as a financing actiity
Operating lease payments under IAS 17 would have been presented as operaiing cash flows There will be no overall net cash flow impact

The Group will use the modified retrospective transition method on adoption Under this method, the asset s calculated as if IFRS 16 had always
been applied, however, the hability 1s caiculated as \f all leases start on 1 January 2019, which will resuft in no change to comparative numbers but an
adjustment within the reserves of the Group

The wnpact of IFRS 16 to the Group, ai the point of transition 18 detalfed on page 571 1n the Financial Review

Information an the undiscounted amount of the Group's operating lease commitments under 1IAS 17 ‘Leases’, the current leasing standard, 1s
disclosed In the Group's annual financial statements The leases substantially relate to property leases used to perform Housing activities as an
operating lease lessor, and vehicle leases used in perfaorming Housihg activities

Other new standards and amendments

A number of other standards have heen modified These include IFRIC 23 "Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments', Plan Amendment, Curtallment
ar Settlement (Amendiments to lAS 19) and Annual Imorovements to IFRS standards 2015-2017 (various standards) None of these amendments are
expected to have a maternial effect on the Group’s linanclal statements
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Financial statements
Consolidated income statement
For the year ended 31 December 2018

2018 2017
Note £'000 £:3000
Continuing aperations
Sales revenue 1 869,843 900,184
Cost of sales (662,825) (676,482)
Gross profit 207,018 223702
Gther administrative expenses (166,377) (184,551
Exceptional costs 8 (5,657) -
Amortisation of acquisition ntangibles 14 (4,434) {10,638)
Total administrative costs (176,268) (195,189)
‘ Operating profit before exceptional costs and amortisation of acquisition Intangibles 2 40,841 39151 i
QOperating profit 2 30,750 28,518
Finance income 5 1,154 751
Finance costs 5 (3,473) {2,780
| Profit for the year before tax, exceptional costs and amortisation of acquisition intangibles 38,522 37122 I
Profit for the year before tax 28,431 26,484
Tax expense ] (3,606) {4,315)
Profit for the year from continuing nperations 24,825 22,169
Discontinued operations
Exceptional loss from discontinued operations 16 - (16,500)
Tax Income from discontinued operations 9 - 3,176
Loss for the year after tax from discontinued operations - (13.324)
Profit for the year fram continuing and discontinued operations 24,825 8,845
Attributable to:
Owners of the Parent 24,064 7582
Non-controlling interest 761 1,263
Profit for the year 24,825 8,845
Earnings per share - from continuing operations
Basic 12 23.05p 20 28p
Difuted 12 22.91p 2010p
Earnings per share — from continuing and discontinued operations
Basic 12 23.05p 735p
Diluted 12 2291p 729p
The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Financial statements
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2018

2018 2017
Note £'000 £000
Profit for the year 24,825 8,845
Other comprehensive income/{(expense)
which wall be subsequently reclassified to the Consolidated Income Statement
Cash flow hedges
~ losses arising In the year 24 - (54}
~ reclassification to the Consolidated income Statement 724 325 645
Decrease In deferred tax asset in respect of cash flow hedges 25 {45) {143}
which wilf not be subsequently reclassified to the Consofidated Income Statement
Actuanal (less)/gain on defined benefit pansion scheme 29 (9,431) 13,879
Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax asset in respect of defined benefit pension schemes 25 1,792 (2,637)
Other comprehensive {expense)/income for the year (7,359) 11,690
Total comprehensive income for the year 17,466 20,635
Attributable to:
Qwners of the Parent 16,705 19,272
Non-contralling interest 761 1,263
Total comprehensive Income for the year 17,466 20,535

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Financial statements
Consolidated balance sheet
As at 3T December 2018

2018 2017
Note £000 £'000
Assets
Non-current
Goodwill 13 197,073 193,642
Intanglble assets 14 31,570 17266
Property, plant and equipment 15 24,956 22,057
Pension and other employee benefits 29 17,368 27,308
Deferred tax asset 25 5,500 4314
276,467 264,567
Current
Assets classified as held for sale 17 12,442 13,941
Inventories 18 29,751 18,705
Trade and other recevables 20 178,194 153812
Current tax assets 609 11
Cash at bank and in hand 24 27876 24770
248,872 211,439
Total assets 525,339 476,006
Equity
Equity attributable to the shareholders of Mears Group PLC
Called up share capital 26 1,105 1,036
Share prernium account 82,224 60,204
Share-based payment reserve 2,021 1,469
Hedging reserve 24 (46) (326)
Merger reserve 46,214 46,214
Retained earnings 79,189 100,897
Total equity attributable to the shareholders of Mears Group PLC 210,707 209,494
Non-controlling interest (427) 94
Total equity 210,280 208,590
Liabilities
Non-current
Long-term borrowing and qverdrafts 24 78,780 50,559
Pension and other employee benefits 29 3,802 4,966
Deferred tax liabilities 25 7,710 7098
Financial labilties 22 15 79
Other payables 23 7,478 5,036
97,785 67,738
Current
Borrowings related to assets classified as held for sale 24 15,000 1381
Short-term borrowing and overdrafls 15,000 -
Trade and other payables 21 187,233 184,484
Finanaal habiltes 22 41 253
Current liabilities 217,274 198,678
Total liabilities 315,059 266,416
Total equity and liabilities 525,339 476,006
The financial statements were approved and authonsed far 1ssue by the Board of Directors and were signed on 1ts behalf on 22 March 2019
D JMiles A C M Smith
Director Director
Company number, 03232863
The accompanying accounting pohcies and notes form an integral part of these financial staterments
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Financial statemenis
Consolidated cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 December 2018

24618 2017

Note £'000 £'000
Operating activities
Result for the year before tax 28,431 26,484
Adjustments 27 15,641 21,148
Change in inventories (11,045) (7471}
Change in trade and cther recevables {13,948) {108}
Change in trade and other payables (17,490) (11,381}
Cash inflow from operating activities of continuing cperations before taxation 1,589 28,671
Taxes paid 665 (3,776)
Net cash inflow from operating activities of continuing operations 2,254 24,895
Net cash outflow from operating activities of discontinued operations (1,610) (9,354
Net cash inflow from operating activities 644 15,541
{nvesting activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment (7,667) (5.572)
Additions to other Intangible assets (3,089) @3661)
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment 144 204
Net cash inflow/foutflow) In respect of property for resale 1,499 (13941}
Acquisition of subsidiary undertakings (27,500) (5,000)
Net cash acquired with subsidiary undertakings (4,185) -
Sale of subsidiary undertaking - 1,682
Net cash disposed of with subsidiary (26) {1,234
Loans made to other entities (nan-controlled) (139) (232)
Interest received 389 as
Net cash outflow from investing activities (40,574) (27.503)
Finanhcing activities
Proceeds from share 1ssue 22,089 1,894
Recaipts from borrowings related to assets classified as held for sale 1,059 13,941
Acquisition of non-controlling interests (6,163) -
Net movement in revolving credit facility 43,221 (14,779)
Discharge of finance lease hability (479) (1954)
Interest paid (3,602) (2.591)
Dwidends paid ~ Mears Group shareholders (12,539) (12,218)
Dividends paid ~ non-controlling interests {550) (525)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities 43,036 (16172)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 24,770 52904
Netincrease/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,106 (28134)
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 27,876 24,770
The Group considers Its revolving credit facility to be an integral part of 1ts cash management
~ ¢ash at bank and in hand 27,876 24,770
~ revolving credit facility (93,780) {50,559)
Cash and cash equivalents, including revolving credit facility (65,904) (25,789)

The accompanying accounting policies and nates form an integral part of these financial statements
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Financial statements

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 December 2018

attnibutable to equity sharehalders of the Company

Share-
Share based Non-
Share premium payment Hedging Merger Retained cantrolling Total
capital account reserve reserve reserve earnings interest equity

£000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £'090 £'000 £000
AL 1 January 2017 1,026 58,320 1975 (774) 46,214 92,555 (642) 198,674
Net result for the year - - - - - 7582 1,263 8,845
Other comprehensive income - - - 448 - 11,242 - 11,690
Total comprehensive Income
for the year - - - 448 - 18,824 1,263 20,535
Deferred 1ax on share-based
payments - - - - - 404 - 404
Issue of shares i0 1,884 - - - - - 1,884
Share option charges - - 826 - - - - 826
Share option exercises - - (1,332) - - 1,332 - -
Drvidends - - - - - (12,218} (525) {12,743)
At 1 January 2018 1,036 60,204 1,469 (326) 46,214 100,897 96 209,590
Impact of change in
accounting policies - - - - - (26,342) - (26,342}
Adjusted balance at T January
2018 1,036 60,204 1,469 (326) 46,214 74,555 G96 183,248
Net result for the year - - - - - 24,064 761 24,825
Other comprehensive INncome - - - 280 - (7639) - (7,359}
Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - 280 - 16,425 761 17,466
Deferred tax on share-based
payments — _ - _ _ 14 _ "
Issue of shares 69 22,020 - - - - - 22,089
Share option charges - - 552 - - - - 552
Changes in non controlling
interests - - - - - 734 (734) -
Dividends - - - - - {12,539) {550} (13,089)
At 31 December 2018 1,105 82,224 2,021 {46} 46,214 79189 (427) 210,280
The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Financial statements
Notes to the financial statements — Group
For the year ended 31 December 2018

1. Revenue
The Group's revenue disaggregated by pattern of revenue recognition 1s as foliows

2018 2017

£000 £'000

Schedule of rates contracts 235,738 213,292
Contracting and vanable consideration 236,625 251920
Lump sum contracts 173,272 183,314
Rental Income 107,595 117,505
Care services 116,613 134,063
869,843 900,184

All of the above categones fall exclusively within the Housing segrment with the exception of Care services, which falis exclusively within the
Care segment

Atotal of £0 3m of revenue was recognised in respect of the balance of contract habilities at 1 January 2018 (2017 £nil)

Schedule of rates and care service revenue s typically nvoiced between one and 30 days from completion of the performance obligation
Contracting and vanable consideration revenue is typically mvoiced based on the stage of completion of the overall contract Lump sum revenue
1s typically invaiced monthly in arrears Rental income 1s typically invoiced monithly In advance Payment terms for revenue invoiced are typically
30 to 60 days from the date of Invoice

2. Segment reporting
Segment infarmation is presented in respect of the Group's operating segments Segments are determined by reference to the internal reports

reviewed by the Board
The Group had two operating segments during the year

~ Housing - services within this sector comprise a full housing management service predominantly to Local Authorities and other Registered
Social Landlords, and
~ Care — services within this sector comprise personal care services to peaple in their own hornes

All of the Group's activities are carried out within the United Kingdom and the Group's principal reporting to its chief operating decision maker 1s not
segmented by geography

The principal financial measures used by the chief operating decision maker and the Board to review the performance of the operating segments
are those of revenue growth and operating margins in both the core divisions of Housing and Care The operating result utihised within the key
perfarmance measures is stated before amartisation of acquisition Intangibles and costs relating to the long-term incentive plans

2018 2017 -

Housing Care Total Housing Care Total
GUperating segniernts £'600 £'a06G £'600 £'000 £'000 £'000
Revenue 753,230 116,613 869,843 766121 134,063 900,184
Operating result before exceptional costs, amortisation of
acquisition intangibles and long-term incentive plans 37,627 3,766 41,393 39,478 499 39977
Opetating margin before exceptional costs amortisation of
acguisition intangibles and long-term incentive plans 5.00% 3.23% 4.76% 515% 037% A 44%
Long-term mcentive plans (552) - (552) {826) - (826)
Operating result before exceptional costs and
amortisation of acquisition intangibles 37,075 3,766 40,841 38,652 499 39151
Exceptional costs (5,657) -
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles (4,434) {10,638)
Operating prafit 30,750 28,513
Net finance costs (2,319) (2,029)
Tax expense (3,606} (4,315)
Profit for the year from continuing activities 24,825 22,169

All revenue and all non-current assets anise within the United Kingdom Al of the revenue reported is external to the Graup No revenue in respect
of 8 single customer comprises more than 8% of the total revenue reported
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2. Segment reporting continued

In addition, the following disclosures have been provided in respect of segmental analysis required by IFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments’

2018 ) 2017

Housing Care Total Housing Care Total
Operating segments £'000 £060 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Segment assets 402,148 123,191 525,339 350,902 125104 476,006
Segment habilities (277,620) (37,439) (315,059) (203,334) (63,082) (266,416)
Property, plant and equipment additions 8,059 642 8,701 7517 604 8121
Depreciation 5,146 658 5,804 5,304 am 6,105
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles 3,738 696 4,434 7606 3,032 70,638
Amortisation of other intangibles 2,409 - 2,409 2130 - 2,130

3. Changes in accounting policies

Ag detalled In the principal accounting policies, there have been two sigrificant mandatory accounting changes which apply from 1 January 2018
the adoption of IFRS 15 'Revenue from Contracts with Customers' and IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ The impact to retained earnings as a resuit

of these changes 1s detailed below

Retained
earnings
£'000
Retained earnings as previously stated at 31 December 2077 100,897
Impact of restatement an Trade and other recevables (IFRS 15) {29,537)
Impact of restatement on Deferred tax asset (IFRS 15) 5,611
Impact of restatement on Trade and other recervables (IFRS 9) (2.818)
Impact of restatement on Deferred tax asset (IFRS @) 402
Retained earnings as restated at 1 January 2018 74,555
The impact to the debtor provision i1s detailed below
Debtar
Drovision
£000
Debtor provision under IAS 39 as previously stated at 31 December 2017 6,710
Reversal of debtor provision under 1AS 39 6710
Recognition of debtor provision under IFRS ¢ 9,528
9,528

Debtor provision under IFRS 9 as restated at 1 January 2018

The effect of the application of IFRS 15 and IFRS 9 on the year ended 31 December 2018 1s detalled below

As would have
been reported

As reported

under old under new
accounting Impact of Impact of accounting
standards IFRS 15 IFRS 9 standards
£'000 £'000 £000 £000
Consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2018
Sales revenue 868,965 878 - 869,843
Other administrative expenses (116,395} - 218 (166,177)
Tax expense (3,398) (167} 41) (3,606)
Consolidated halance sheet as at 31 December 2018
Deferred tax asset 5475 - 25 5,500
Trade and other receivables 209,454 (#B,659) (2,607) 178,194
Retamned earnings 110,424 (?8,659) (2,576) 79,189
Consolidated statement of cash flows as at 31 December 2018
Results far the year before tax 27335 878 218 28,431
Change in trade and other receivables (8,322} (878) (218) {10,418)

The change to IFRS 15 has ng impact on the fetime profitability of the contracts and there are no cash flow impacts  [he impact of this standard
has been to increase the operating resull for 2018 by £09m Moving forward, it 1s expected ta have a positive Impact in respect of operating profit

as performance obligations are met

The impact of IFRS 9 has been to increase the operating result for 2018 by £0 2m Moving forward, this new standard s likely to resultin an earher
recagnition of credit loss, resulting m animpairment in tade receivables and contracl assets Based on the current activities of the Group, it1s

unhkely that this impairment would be material in any single year
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Financial statements
Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2018

4. Cperating cosis
Operating costs, relating to continuing activities, include the following

2018 2017
£000 £000
Share-based payments 552 826
Depreciation 5,804 6,105
Amartisation of acquisition intangibles 4,434 10,638
Amortisation of ather imtangibies 2,409 2,130
Loss/{profit) on disposal of subsidiary 44 961)
Loss an disposal of property, plant and equipment az 24
Hire of plant and machinery 4,948 5,266
Other operating lease rentals 105,822 110,658
Fees payable for audit and non-audit services during the year were as follows
2018 2017
£'000 £000
Fees payable to the auditor for the audit of the Group's financial statements 55 65
Qther fees payable to the auditor in respect of
~ auditing of accounts of subsidiary undertakings pursuant to legislation 325 265
~ other audit related fees 9 9
Totaf auditor’s remuneration 389 339
5. Finance income and finance costs
2018 2017
£'000 £000
Interest charge on overdrafts and shori-term loans (3.039) 2,017)
Interest charge on hedged items (effective hedges) (325) 645)
Other interest (2) €]
Finance costs on bank loans, overdrafts and finance leases (3,368) (2.668)
Interest charge on defined benefit obhgation (77) (114}
Unwinding of discounting (30) -
Total finance costs (3,473) {2,780}
Interest iIncome resulting fram short-term bank deposits 35 20
interest Income resulting from defined benefit asset 773 440
Unwinding of discounting - 40
Other interest income 346 251
Finance income 1,154 751
Net finance charge (2,319) (2.029)
Gains and losses on hedged items recognised i other comprehensive income
Losses arsing ih the year - (54)
Reciassification to the Consolidated Income Statement 325 645
Changes in mark-to-market of interest rate swaps (effective hedges) 325 591
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6. Employees
Staff costs duning the year were as follows
2018 2017
£'000 £000
Wages and salaries 233,877 272764
Social security costs 20,975 23,806
Other pension costs 9,532 8,627
264,384 305,227
The average number of employees of the Group during the year was
2018 207
£°000 £'000
Site workers 3,382 3,638
Carers 4,558 5980
Office and management 2,642 2,962
10,582 12,580
Remuneration in respect of Directars was as follows
2018 2017
£000 £000
Ernoluments 1,507 1,389
Gains made on the exercise of share options - 1,148
Pension contributions to personal pension schemes 121 161
1,628 2,698
During the year contributions were paid to personal pension schemes for three Directors {2017 four)
During the year no Directars (2017 four) exercised share options
7. Share-based employee remunesation
As at 31 December 2018 the Group maintaned six share-hased payrment schemes for employee remuneraticn
Detalls of the share options cutstanding are as follows
2018 2017
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise exercise
Number price Number price
‘000 p ‘000 )
Qutstanding at 1 January 2,938 287 2,555 256
Granted 530 237 1,619 317
Forfeited/lapsed {583) 323 {229) 326
Exercised {133) 297 (1,007 193
Qutstanding at 31 December 2,752 265 2934 287

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the period was 3 47p At 31 December 2018, 0 3m options

had vested and were still exercisable at prices between 1p and 266p These aptions had a weighted average exercige price of 230p and a weighted

average remaining contractual Ife of 1 4 years

The fair values of options granted were determined using the Black Scholes option pricing model Significant inputs into the calculation include
the market price at the date of grant and exercise prices Furthermare, the calculation takes Into account the future dividend yield, the share price

volatility rate and the nisk-free interest rate

The undetlying expected share price volatiity was determined by reference to hustorical data The Company expects the volatility of its share pnce to
reduce as It matures The risk-fres Interest rate was determined by the implicd yreld avalable on a zero-coupon Gavernment bond at the date of grant

Adjustments are made to1eflect expected and actual forfeitures during the vesting period due to fallure 1o satisfy service conditions In the case
of the SAYE scheme, the expected forfeitures take account of the requirement to save throughout the life of the scheme  There were O bm oplions
granted durlng the vear and 0 6im options that lapsed duning the year The market price at 31 Decembel 2018 was 335p and the range during 2018

was ?27/p to 440p
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Financial statements
Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2018

7. Share-based emplayee remuneration continued
All share-based employee remuneration will be settled inequity The Group has no legal obligation to repurchase or settle the options

The Group recogrused the following expenses related to share-based payments

2018 2017
£000 £000
Gving rise to share-based payment reserve
~ SAYE 307 295
~ Share Plan 245 71
~ MIP ~ 460
Giving rise to liabiliies
~ MIP - -
552 826

All-employee share incentive plan
Options are exercisable at a price equal to the average quated market price of the Company's shares on the three dealing days pricr to the date

of grant The vesting penod 1s three years If the opions remain unexercised after a period of ten years from the date of grant, the options expire
Options are forfeited If the amployee leaves Mears before the options vest All options 1ssued under this plan have vested or were forfeited

Unapproved Company Share Option Plan (CSOP)

Options are exercisable at naminal value The vesting penod 15 three years 1f the options remain unexercised after a penod of ten years from the
date of grant, the options expire Options are forfeited if the employee leaves Mears before the options vest With the intioduction of the LTIP in 2008,
the Remuneration Committee has decided that no further awards will be made under the unapproved CSOP All options issued under this plan have
vested or were forfeited

Save As You Earn (SAYE) scheme

Options are availlable to all employees Options are gramted for a period of three years Options are exercisable at a price based on the guoted market

price of the Company's shares at the time of invitation, discounted by up to 20% Options are forferted If the employee leaves Mears Group before the
aptions vest, which impacts an the number of options expected to vest If an employee stops saving but continues in employment, this 1s treated as a
cancellation, which results in an acceleration of the share-based payment charge

The Mears Group PLC Long-term Incentive Plan {(LTIP)
The LTIF was intraduced in October 2008 following shareholder approval The award of options 1s offered to a small number of key senior
management, subject 1o achieving performance conditions No options have been issued under this plan since 2010 and all ophons have vested

Managernent Incentive Plan (MIP)

The MIP was introduced in 2013 following shareholder approval The award of options s offered to @ small number of key senior management
The MIP 15 a share-based payment ptan which 1s settled through a combination of cash and shares No furtherissues will be made under this plan
and the remaining options vest m 2019

Executive Incentive Plan (EIP)

The EIP was introduced in June 2017 following shareholder approval The award of options 1s offered to key senicr management subject
ta perfortmance conditions as detailed on page 87 of the Remuneration Report

8. Exceptional costs
Exceptional costs incurred in the period which are considered non-trading or non-recurring in nature are detalled below

2018 2017

£'000 £000

Costs of restructure 3,584 -
Costs of acquisition 524 -
Exceptional legal costs 1,549 -
5,657 -

The costs of restructure relate 1o the rationahsation of the Group's ceniral services and largely comprise non-recurring staff costs
The costs of acquisition relate to the acquisition of MPM Housing Limited and MPS Housing Limited, as detailed in note 28

Exceptional legal costs were ncurred in respect of a property iease Given the size of this item and unigue circumstance of the dispute, the Directors
believe this should be treated as an exceptional item o better reflect the underlying financial performance
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9. Tax expense
Tax recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement

2018 2017

£'000 £'000
United Kingdom corporation tax {893) 5341
Adjusiment in respect of previous penods (270) (18)
Total current tax recognised in Consolidated Income Statement (1,163) 5,323
Deferred taxation charge
~ on defined benefit pension obhgations 124 (6]
~ on share-based payments (116) 240
~ on accelerated capital allowances 88 {(153)
~ onamortisation of acquisition intangibles {843) (1,888)
~ an short-term temporary tming differences (224) 247
~ oncorporate tax losses (60) 1122
~ 1mpact of change In statutory tax rates - (168}
-~ mpact of transition to new accounting standards 5,990 -
Adjustment In respect of previous penods (190) {402)
Tolal deferred taxation recognised in Consolidated Income Statement 4,769 (1.008)
Total tax expense recagnised in Consoldated Income Statement on continuing operations 3,506 4315
Total tax credrt recagnised in Conselidated Income Statement on discontinued operations - (3176
Total tax expense recognised in Consolidated Income Statement 3,606 1139
The charge for the year can be reconciled ta the resuit for the year as follows

2018 2017

£'000 £'000
Result for the year before tax 28,431 9,984
Result for the year multiphied by standard rate of corporation tax in the United Kingdom for the period of 19 0%
(2017 193%) 5,402 1922
Effect of
~ expenses not deductible for tax purposes 260 167
~ Income not subject to tax (159) (133)
~ tax relief on exercise of share options (24) (170)
~ statutory tax rate changes - (168)
~ temporary tming differences not previously recognised in deferred tax 203 (33)
~ tax losses nat previously recogrised in deferred tax (1,616) {26)
~ adwstment in respect of prior periods (460) {420)

3,606 1138

Actual tax expense

Deferred tax 1s recognised on both temporary and permanant differences between the treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes
Deferred tax on the amortisation of acquisition intangibles 1s a permanent difference and arses because notaxrelief 1s due on this kind

of amortisation

The transition to IFRS 15 and IFRS 9 at the start of the current period resulted in an opening deferred tax balance The £6 Om deferred tax charge

in respect of transition to new accounting standards 1s as a result of this apening deferred tax balance unwinding during 2018

Tax losses generated in previous years which are expected to be utifised against future profits are recognised as a deferred tax assetand a

subsequent charge arses as those losses are utilised No deferred tax asset s recogrisad in respect of losses of £28 4m (2017 £34 2m) across

several entities in the Group as 1t 1s not expected that they will be eligible to be utihised against profits in the future

Deferred tax 1s also recognised on short-lerm temparary timing differences, pnimarnly relating to provisions  These differences are expected to reverse

in the following year and arise because tax relief 1s only avallable when the costs are incurred

Capital allowances represent tax relief on the acquisition of property, plant and equipment and are spread over several years at rates set by

legislation These differ from depreciation, which 1s an estimate of the use of an item of property, plant and equipment over its useful life Deferred tax
15 recognised on the difference between the remaining value of such an asset for tax purposes and its carrying value in the accounts
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Financial statements
Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2018

9. Tax expense continued
The following tax has been charged to other comprehensive income or equity dunng the year

2018 2017
£'000 £'000

Deferred tax {credit)/charge recognised in other comprehensive income
~ on defined benefit pension obhgatians {1,792) 2,637
~ on cash flow hedges 45 143
Total deferred tax (credit)/charge recognised in other comprehensive income {1,747) 2,780
Deferred tax recognised directly in equity
Deferred tax credit
~ on share-baged payments (14) {464}
Total deferred tax recognised in equity (14) (404)
Total tax
Total current tax {1,163) 2747
Total deferred tax 3,008 1,368

10. Discontinued activities

The Group previously completed the disposal of 1ts Mechanica! and Electrical divisicn which included an entity operating in the United Arab Emirates
(Haydon LLC") As part of that disposal, the Group ultimately retamed the beneficial interest in 1% of the share capital of this UAE company due to the
Group still carrying a number of performance guarantees in place at the tme af the dispesal, which unravel as the underlying cantracts reach the end
of their defects hability period

During the year, the Group has incurred cash costs of £1 6m in respect of costs of ihigation associated with the performance guarantees The Group
1$ carrylng a remaining provision of £2 2m in respect of the two outstanding performance guarantees amounting to £3 8m, resulting in a residuai
contingent hakilty of £1 7m Mears does not believe that there s any justification for the guarantee helders making a call on these guarantees, given
that the contracts to which they are attached were concluded several years agc The Diractors believe the current position 1s sufficiently conservative,
hawever 1f both bonds were to be called, and In the event that Mears recovered nane of the debtor halance owed, this would result in a further loss to
be recognised of £17m This provision of £2 2m s reported within cther creditors The £17mais discloged as a contingent liabihty

11. Dividends
The following dividends were paid on crdinary shares in the year

2018 2017

£009 £'000

Final 2017 dwvidend of 8 55p {2017 final 2016 dividend of 8 40p) per share 8,860 8,651
Interim 2018 dindend of 3 55p (2017 mtenm 2017 dradend of 3.45p) per share 3,679 3,567
12,539 12,218

The proposed final 2018 dividend of 8 85p per share has not been included within the consolidated financial statements as no obhigation existed at
31 December 2018
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12. Earnings per share

Basrc (continuing)

Basic {discontinued)

Basic {continuing
and discontinued)

2018 2017 2018 26?7 2018 2017
p p [ L p P
Earnings per share 23.05 2028 - (1293) 23.05 735
Effect of amortisation of acquisition intangibles 4.25 1032 - - 4.25 1032
Effect of full tax adjustment (2.22) (2 31) - €19} (2.22) (2 50)
Effect of exceptional costs 416 - - 1312 4.16 1312
Normalised earnings per share 29.24 28 29 - - 29.24 2829
Diluted {continumng
Diluted {continuing) Diluted (discontinued) ~and discontinued)
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
p p p P P P
Earnings per share 22.91 2010 - (1287) 2291 729
Effect of amortisation of acquisition intangibles 4,22 1023 - - 4.22 1023
Effect of full tax adjustment (2.20) (2 28} - (020 {2.20) (2 48)
Effect of exceptional costs 413 - - 1301 413 1301
Normalised earnings per share 29.06 2805 - - 29.06 2805

A normalised EPS 1s disclosed in order to show performance undistorted by the amortisation of acquisition intangibles and exceptional costs

The Group defines normalised earmings as excluding the amortisation of acquisition intangibles and exceptionat costs and adjusted to reflect a full
tax charge The profit atinbutable to shareholders before and after adjustments for both basic and diluted EPS1s

Normalised (continuing)

Normalised (discontinued)

Naormalised {continuing

and discontinued)

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

£'000 £'000 £000 £'000 E£'000 £'000
Profit/(loss) attributable to shareholders 24,064 20,806 - (13.324) 24,064 7,582
~ amortisation of acquisition intangibles 4,434 10,638 - - 4,434 10,638
-~ full tax adjustment (2,310) (2,367) - (206} 2,370 (2,573)
~ exceptional costs 4,342 - - 13,530 4,342 13,530
Normahsed earnings 30,530 29177 - - 30,530 29177

The calculation of EPS 15 based on a weighted average of ordinary shares inissue during the year The diluted EPS 1s based on a weighted average
of ordinary shares valculated in accordance with 1AS 33 ‘Earnings per Share', which assumes that all dilutive options will be exercised The additional
normalised basic and diluted EPS use the same welighted average number of shares as the basic and diluted EPS

2018 2017

Million Millian

Weighted average humber of shares in 1ssue 104.40 10310

~ dilutive effect of share options 0.65 093

Weighted average humber of shares for calculating diluted earnings per share 105.05 104 03
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Financial statements
Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2018

13. Goodwill
Gaodwall
arising on Purchased
consolidation gaadwiil Total
£'000 £000 £'000

Gross carrying amount
At 1 January 2017 193,306 406 193,712
Disposal of subsidiary {(70) - {(70)
At January 2018 193,236 406 193,642
Additions on acquisition 2916 515 343
At 31 December 2018 196,152 921 197,073
Accumulated impairment losses
At 1 January 2017, at 1 January 2018 and at 31 December 2018 - - -
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2018 196,152 921 197,073
At 37 Decemher 2017 193,236 406 193,642

Goodwill on consolidation anses on the excess of cost of acquisition over the fair value of the net assets acquired on purchase of a company

Purchased goodwill anses on the excess of cost of acgquisition over the fair value of the net assets acquired on the purchase of the trade and assets
of a business by the Group

Detalls of additions on acquisitions in the year are set out In note 28
Goodwill 1s not amortised but 1s reviewed for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if there are any indications that goodwill may be
impaired Goodwidl acquired in a business combination is allocated to groups of cash-generating urits (CGUs) according to the level at which

management monitors that goodwill Goodwill 1s carred at cost less accumulated impairment iosses

The carrying value of goodwillis allocated to the following CGUs

Goadwill
ansing on Purchased
consolidation goodwll Total
£000 £'000 £000
Housing 956,501 a2 Q7422
Care 99,651 - 99,651
195772 g71 197073

An asset 15 1impaired if its carrying value exceeds the unit's recoverable amount, which is based on value in use At 31 December 2018 impairment
reviews were performed by companng the carrying value with the value in use for the CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated

The Housing CGU's value in use 1s caloulated from the Board-approved one-year budgeted cash flows and extrapolated cash flows for the next four
years discounted at a post-tax discount rate of 8 5% over a five-year penod with a terminal value The impairment reviews incorporated a termingl
growth assumption of 1 7%, in ine with the UK leng-term growth rate

The Care CGU's value in use is caleulated from a detarled business plan deriving cash flaws aver a five-year review penad, discounted at a post-tax
discount rate of 8 5% over a five-year period with a terminal vaiue The impairment review incorporated a terminal growth assumption of 2 5%, which,
whilst marginally higher than the UK long-term growth rate of 1 7%, 15 supported by the underlying demographics underpinning strong organic growth
n adult social care

The estimated growth rates are based on knowledge of the ndividual CGU's sector and market and represent management's base level expectations
for futuie growth Changes to revenue and direct costs are based on past expenence and expectation of futuie changes within the markets of the

CGUs Al CGUs have the same access 10 the Group's reasury funchon and borrowing arrangements to finance ther operations

The rates used were as follows

Post-lax Pre-tax Volume Terminal

discount discount growthrate growth

rate rate {veais 1-5) rate

Housing 850% 1027% 300% C00%
Care 8 50% 10 27% 457% 2 50%
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13. Goodwill continued

Housing
The contracts awarded within the Housing sector are significant in size and the contract terms typically average six years in duration In addition,

Mears has a good track recerd in retamning contracts on expiry and typically retains over 80% of expinng contracts

Budgeted operating profits dunng the budget penod are estimated by reference to the operating margin achieved in the period leading up te the
start of the budget peniod, flexed for known changes in either the pncing mechamism or the cost base at a contract level There 1s no inclusion
of any anticipated efficiency impravements which have not been formally commuitted to befare the year end

The Directors consider that reasonably possible changes in these key assurmptions would not cause a CGU's carrying amount to exceed 1ts
recoverable amount

Care

Management recognises that there remain significant difficulties within the hamecare market, although the sector 1s Increasingly attracting the
interests af the national media The introduction of the National Living Wage 1n April 2016 proved a significant boost for providers, with a large
number of Local Authonties matenally Increasing their charge rates, recognising that toa much of the cost increase in recent years had been
absorbed by care providers This trend has continued with subsequent rises to the National Living Wage in 2017 and 2018 Providers have typically
passed these rate increases on to their carers in full, adding some stability In a sector where recruitment and retention represent a significant
constraint Management I1s particularly pleased that all Local Authonties in Scotland, which covers around one third of the care activities, have
adopted the Scottish Living Wage, which as at 1 Apnl 2019 increases to £9 00 per hour This compares with the statutary National Living Wage

of £8,271 per hour

Natwithstanding these impravernents, market conditions remain challenging The Directors note that, given these pressures, the number of national
providers 1s reducing, which reflects the difficult conditions but does provide opportunity for the Group, where customers are seeking to work with
areputable naticnal provider The Group remains highly sefective in bidding new contract apportunities but the pipefine for new contract bidding
remains healthy Management will only bid where the contract pricing provides good visibility of profitability, Including a clear mechanism for future
price Increases and where there is a strateqic opportunity to provide Housing services to the Local Authenity client, either separately to a Care
contract, or incarparated within a Care contract Managernent has noted a lack of competition in opportunities which combine Housing and Care
elements, where the customer 1s seeking a single contractor for the works Whilst there are still examples of poor commussioning practices, the
Directors are confident there are sufficient new bidding opportunities to deliver against the Group's growth forecast

As part of the annualimpairment testing, management performed an extensive business planning process which involved a detalled review, on a
contract-by-contract basis, of charge rates and carer pay rates The process allowed management to appraise the performance of branches agamst
objectives set, and further increased understanding of the main drivers behind financial performance at a contract level A key driver around the
operational and finarcial success of each cantract continues to be the recruitment and retention of care workers Carer pay rates continue to be

the principal barrier to successful recruitment and retention, but in addition there are a number of factars around culture, working practices and
recognition which impact upon maintaiming a stable workforce

The business plan identified a number af key factors, which are built in to the value-in-use calculation

~ Mears has continued to be highly selective, targeting those contracts where the pricing, longewvity and spend certainty allow Mears to deliver a
high quahty service at sustainable margins In 2018, a win rate of 60% was achieved fram new contract bidding, which is in Iine with historical
norms Despite this, management has significantly reduced the Care growth forecast to equate to an increase of 2,000 hours per week, which
wiil be achieved through annual new contract bidding This emphasises management's desire to ensure new work won will enhance earmings

~ Recruitment and retention of quality care workers contiiues to be challenging The churn rate of care workers varies at a branch level, depending
on non-financial factars such as culture, waorking practices and recognition However, the overall churn rate has rerained at a constant level
between 40% and 50% for the last three years Management has invested In retention activities to standardise best practices and will eontinue
this focus during 2019 Hawever, recruitment remains challenging and this 1s expected to continue during the short term Mears recognises that
traditional laocalised recruitment plays a vital role, aiding recruitment from the existing carer workforce pool In an attempt to encourage new
talent 1o the care at home market, Mears 15 utilising mnovative recruitment tools ta ensure breadth of coverage in attracting new care workers
to the sector This, in turn, will allow hranches to facus on therr localised recruitment efforts Mears’ Intarnal recruitment plan anticipates modest
grawth during the medium and long term which, on average, equates to three additional carers per year pel branch, this represents an increase
of 250 carer s per year an an existing warkforce of 5,000 carers, which is considered realistic However, conservatively, the business plan
underpinning the impairment reviaw has stripped out this expected Increase and assumes no growth as a tesult of improved recruitment and
retention practices
Mears 1s committed to leading the way with carer pay rates, the increase in the National | iving Wage will further increase direct costs from 1 April
2019 Management's desire Is lo maintain a significant differential between Mears’ pay rates and the National Living Wage to ensure it remains
the emplayer of choice in the homecare sector and can attract new emplayees to the sector The process of bianch closures which followed the
intreduction of the National Living Wage in April 2016 has resulted in a live contract portfolio that allows Mears to comfortably meet National
| ving Wage requirements, whilst having clear margin visiility The Government has cenfirmed an inciease in the National Living Wage of 4 9%
from 1 April 2019 As a result, managerment has assumed an increase in carer pay rates of 4 9% per annum Management 1s confident that charge
rate increases will be receved from clients to match the increase in the cost base The percentage Increase assumed for charge rates matches
that of carer pay rates in each year throughout the business plan
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Financial statements
Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2018

13. Goadwill continued

Care continued

Management considers that the Care value-in-use calculation is most sensitive to changes in the terminal growth rate, discount rate and EBITA
margin The table belaw shows the sensitivity of the headraom (£m) to simuftanecus changes in the discount rate and the fong-term growth rate

Discount rate

Long-term growth rate 79% 81% 8 3% 8 5% 87% §9% 9i%

19% 189 144 102 63 26 09 %))
21% 229 181 137 95 56 19 (15)
23% 258 208 162 18 77 39 03
25% 303 250 200 15.4 117 70 32
27% 152 295 242 192 146 103 63
29% 404 343 286 233 184 139 96
31% 461 395 334 278 225 177 131

14. Other intangible assets

Acquisttion intangibles Other intangibles
Total Total
Client Order acquisiion  Developrment Inteflectual other Total
relationships ook intangibles expendiure property intangibles intangibles
£'000 £'0Q0 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000

Grass carrying amount
At 1 January 2017 72138 28,317 100,455 13,237 224 13,461 113916
Rewvisions 459 - 459 - - - 459
Additions - - - 3,662 - 3,662 3,662
Dispasals - (350) (350) - - - (350)
At T January 2018 72,587 27967 100,564 16,899 224 172123 117687
Additions - 18,058 18,058 3,089 - 3.089 21147
Disposats - - - 12) - 123 (12)
At 31 December 2018 72,597 46,025 118,622 19,976 224 20,200 138,822
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2017 56,344 24,347 80,681 7,088 224 7.312 88,003
Amaortisation charge for penod 7363 3,275 10,638 2130 - 2130 12,768
Disposals - (350) (350) - - - (350)
At 1 January 2018 63707 27272 90979 5,218 224 9442 100,421
Amortisation charge for penod 3227 1,207 4,434 2,409 - 2,409 6,843
Disposals - - - {12) - {12} 12
At 31 December 2018 66,934 28,479 95413 11,615 224 11,839 107,252
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2018 5,663 17,546 23,209 8,361 - 8,361 31,570
At 31 December 2017 8,890 695 4,585 7681 - 7681 17,266

Revisions to acquisition Intangibles additions in prior years relate to labiliies not accrued at the time of the acquisition These revisions are not
considered sufficiently material to warrant restatement of the prior year balances

Development expenditure 1s an internally developed intangible asset and relates largely to the development of the Group's Housing job management
system, the Group's Care management system and the national Planning Portal website Development expenditure s amortised averits useful
economic hfe of 5 0 years The weighted average remaining ecenomic hife of the asset1s 3 6 years (2017 37 years)

Intellectual property 1s amortised over its useful economic Iife, typically 5 0 years

Amortisation of development expendiiure i1s Included within other administrative expenses Amortisation of acquisition intangibles 1s
presented separately

The value placed on the order boak Is based on the cash flow projections over the contracts in place when a business 1s acquired Due to
uncertamties in trying to forecast revenues beyond the contract term, the Directors have taken a measure of conservatism and value contracts over

the contractual term only The value of the arder book 18 amortised over Its remaining hfe

The value placed on tha customer relationships 1s based on the non-contractual expecied cash inflows These cash flow projeciions assume
a customer attrition rate of 5% based on three-year historical trends
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15. Property, plant and equipment

Fixtures, Assels
Freehald Leasehold Plant and fittings and under
property Improvernents machinery aquipment Motar vehicles  construction Total
£000 £000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £000
Gross carrying amount
At1 January 2017 788 13953 2,890 46,670 1,295 - 65,596
Additions - 2107 99 5915 - - 8,121
Disposals - - - (2,472) (20) - (2,492)
Disposal of subsidiary - - - {159) - - (159)
At January 2018 788 16,060 2,888 49954 1,275 - 71,066
Additions - 2,366 286 2,456 - 3,593 8701
Acquisition of subsidiary 254 - - - - = 254
Disposals (110) - (170) (1,770} (274) - (2,324)
Disposal of subsidiary - (2) - (91) - - 93)
At 31 December 2018 932 18,424 3,105 50,549 1,001 3,593 77,604
Depreciation
Al 1 January 2017 - 8,877 1925 33,288 1,241 - 45,331
Provided in the year 20 1,188 280 4 606 11 6,105
Chrminated on disposals - - - (2.244) (20) - (2,264)
Disposal of subsidiary - - - (143 - - (143)
At 1 January 2018 20 10,065 2,205 35,507 1,232 - 49,029
Prowided in the year 5 1170 229 4388 12 - 5,804
Acquisition of subsidiary 7 - - - - - 7
Eliminated on disposals (5) - {170) (1,713} (256) - {2,144)
Disposal of subsichary - - - {48) - - (48)
At 31 December 2018 27 11,235 2,264 38,134 988 - 52,648
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2018 905 7189 841 12,415 13 3,593 24,956
At 31 December 2017 768 5995 784 14,447 43 - 22,037
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Financial statements
Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2018

16. Investments
The subsidiary undertakings within the Group at 31 December 2018 are shown below

Proportion

held Country of registration Nature of business
3¢ Asset Management Limited 100% England and Wales Mamntenance services
Careforce Group Plc 100% England and Wales Dormant
Coulter Estates Limited 100% Scottand Darrnant
Electncal Contracting Services (UK) Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Evolve Housing Limited 50% England and Wales Dormant
Heatherpark Community Services Limited 100% Scotland Dormant
Helaim Group Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Helaim Homes Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
ILS Group Limited 100% Scotland Dorrmant
ILS Trustees Limited 100% Scotland Dormant
Independent Living Services (ILS) Limited 100% Scotland Prowision of care
Jackson Lioyd Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Laidlaw Scott Limited 100% Scotland Dormant
Let to Birmingham Limited 100% England and Wales Housing management services
Manchester Working Limited 20% England and Wales Maintenance services
Mears Care (Holdings} Limited 100% England and Wales Intermediate holding company
Mears Care {Northern jreland) Limited 100% Northern Ireland Dormant
Mears Care (Scotland) Limited 100% Scotland Provision of care
Mears Care Limited 100% England and Wales Prowision of care
Mears Community Care Agency Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Decorating Services Limited 160% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Direct Limited 80% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Energy Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Estates Limited 100% England and Wales Groungs maintenance
Mears Facility Management Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Home Improvernent Limited 100% England and Wales Mamntenance services
Mears Homecare Limited 100% England and Wales Provision of care
Mears Harmes Linnted 100% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Housing Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
fMears Housing Management Limited 100% England and Wales Housing management services
Mears Housing Management (Holdings) Limited 100% England and Wales Intermediate holding company
Mears Housing Portfolio (Holdings) Limited 100% England and Wales Intermediate holding company
Mears Housing Portfolio {Londeon) Limited 100% England and Wales Property acquisition
Mears Housing Portfolio 1 Lirited 100% England and Wales Property acquisition
Mears Housing Portfolio 2 Limited 100% England and Wales Praperty acquisition
Mears Housing Portfolio 3 Limited 100% England and Wales Property acquisition
Mears Housing Partfolio 4 Lirmited 106% England and Wales Property acquisition
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16. Investments continued

Nature of business

Mears Insurance Company Limited
Mears Learning Limited

Mears Limited

Mears Modular Homes Limited
Mears New Homes Limited

Mears Scotland (Housing) Limited
Mears Scotland (Services) Limited
Mears Scotland LLP

Mears Social Housing Limited
Mears Wales Limited

MHM Property Services Limuted
MEPM Hausing Limnited

MPS Housing Limited

Marrison Facihties Services Limited
Nurseplus Limited

ORT Nevelopments Limited
Omega Housing Limited

Planning Portal Limited

Plexus UK (First Project) Limited
PortalPlanQuest Limited

Potton Road Management Company Linited

PS Business Services Limited
PS Payroll Services Limited
Scion Group Limited

Scion Property Services Limited
Scion Technical Services Lirnited
Supperta Limited

Supporta Services Limited
Tande Homes Limited

Tando Praperty Services Limited
Terraquest Group Limited
Terraquest Limited

Terraquest Solutions Limited

Proportion
held Country of registration
9999% Guernsey
90% England and Wales
100% England and Wales
100% England and Wales
90% England and Wales
100% Scotland
66 67% Scotland
66 67% Scotland
100% England and Wales
100% Englard and Wales
100% England and Wales
106% England and Wales
100% England and Wales
100% Scatland
100% Scotland
100% England and Wales
100% England and Wales
75% England and Wales
100% England and Wales
75% England and Wales
80% England and Wales
100% Scotland
100% England and Wales
100% England and Wales
100% England and Wales
100% England and Wales
100% England and Wales
100% England and Wales
100% England and Wales
100% England and Wales
100% England and Wales
100% England and Wales
100% England and Wales

Insurance services

Training provider
Malntenance services
Dormant

House buillding

Darmant

Maintenzance services
Maintenance services
Dormant

Darmant

Mamntenance services
Support services
Maintenance services
Maintenance services
Dormant

Housing management services
Housing registered provider
Dormant

Haousing registered provider
Professional services
Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Darmant

Dormant

Maintenance services
Dormant

Dormant

Housing managerment services
Housing management services
Dormant

Dormant

Professional services

All subsidiary undertakings with the exception of Evolve Housing Limiuted and Manchester Working Limited prepare accounts to 31 December
Evolve Housing Limited prepares accounts to 30 June in kne with its histonical accounting reference date Manchester Working Limited prepares

accounts to 31 March in line wath the minorty shareholder
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Financial statements
Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2018

16. Investments continucd

The Group includes the following five trading subsidiaries with non-controlhing interests Manchester Working Lumited, Mears Learming Limited,
Mears New Homes Limited, Mears Scotland LLP and PortalPlanQuest Limited The table helow sets out selected financial information in respect

of those subsidiares

2018 2017

£'000 £000
Revenue and profits
Revenue 112,612 121,392
Expenses and taxation (108,835) (117,185)
Profit for the year 3,777 4207
Other comprehensive expense = -
Total comprehensive iIncome 3777 4,207
Profit for the year allocated to non-contralling interests 761 1,263
Total comprehensive expanse allocated to non-controlling interests - -
Net assets
Non-current agsets 314 1,469
Current assets 58,633 41,019
Gurrent iabilires (24,825) {18.254)
Non-current habilities (33,887) (22,337}
Total assets legs total habilities 235 1,897
Equity shareholders' funds 662 1,801
Non-controlling interests {427) 96
Total equity 235 1897

The Group held iInvestments in the following joint ventures at 31 Decemnber 2018

Proporticn
held Country of regisiration Nature of business
Asert LLP 50% England and Wales Daormant
Sapphire Homes London Limited 50% England and Wales Property acquisition
Sapphire Homes London No 1 Limited 50% england and Wales Property acquisition
Sapphire Homes London Na 2 Limited 50% England and Wales Property acquisition
Sapphire Homes London No 3 Limited 50% England and Wales Dormant
Sapphire Homes London No 4 Limuted 50% England and Wales Dormant
Sapphire Homes London No 5 Limited 0% England and Wales Darmant
Sapphire Homes London No 6 Limited 50% England and Wales Dormant
Talking Assets Limited 50% England and Wales Dormant
YourMK LLP 50% England and Wales Maintenance serviges

The carrying amount of the above joint ventures was £l (2017 £nil}
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16. Investments continued

The fellowing UK subsidianes will take advamtage of the audit exemption set out within Section 479A of the Companies Act 2006 for the year ended

31 December 2018

Registration
number
3¢ Asset Management Limited 028599713
Ardmore Home Care Lirnited NID28313
Coulter Estates Limited SC148145
Heatherpark Cammunity Services Limited SC314108
ILS Group Limited 5C285635
Independent Living Services (ILS) Limited SC184499
Jackson Lloyd Limited 00981979
Let to Birmingham Limited 08757503
Mears Care (Narthem lreland) Limited NI035273
Mears Community Care Agency Linited 03485601
Mears Estates Limited 03720903
Mears Home Improvement Limited 03716517
Mears Housing Management (Holdings) Limited 04726480
Mears Housing Portfolio (Holdings) Limited 10908305
Mears Housing Portfalia {| andan) Limited 10953521
Mears Housing Portfolio 1 Limited 10953330
Mears Housing Portfolio 2 Limited 10952666
Mears Housing Portfolio 3 Limited 10953300
Mears Housing Portfolio 4 Limuted 10952906
MHM Property Serwvices Lirmited 07448134
Nurseplus Limited 5C200513
Scion Group Limited 03905442
Scion Technical Services Limited 03671450
17. Assets held for sale
2018 2017
£'000 £000
Praperty held for sale 12,442 13,941

During the year, the Group acquired, held and disposed of property assets that are classified as held for sale prior to ther disposal to long-term
funding pariners These acquisitions were funded by a £15m (2017 £30m) rolling credit facility which is separate from the Group’s main facility

18. Inventories

2018 2017
£000 £'000
Matenals and consumables 5,951 5,559
Work In progress 23,800 13,146
29,751 18,705
The Group consumed inventaries totalling £662 8m durmg the year {2017 £676.5m) Noitems are being carned at fair value less costs to sell
(2017 £nil)
19. Construction contracts
Revenue of £3%1m (2017 £26 1m) relating to construction contracts has been included in the Consolidated Income Statement
2018 2017
£000 £'000
Contract costs incurred 34,557 22,953
Recognised gross profits 4,542 3,130
Recognised grosg losses - -
39,099 26,083
Balances outstanding comprise
3,907 1,332

~ due from customers for constiuction contract work
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Financial statements
Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2018

20. Trade and other receivables

2018 2017
£'000 £'000
Current assets
~ trade recevables 63,787 51,602
~ contract assets on non-construction contracts 95,441 838,948
~ prepayments and accrued income 18,966 13,362
Total trade and other recevables 178,194 153912
Trade recevables are normally due within 30 to 60 days and da not bear any effectve interest rate All trade receivables and accrued income
are subject to credn nsk exposure Housing customers are typically Logal Authonties and Housing Associahons where credit niskis minimal
Care customers are typically Lacal Authonties and NHS Trusts where credit nsk 1s minimal
The ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows
2078 2017
£'000 £'000
Neither impaired nor past due 52,879 44717
Less than three months past due but not impaired 5,826 2323
Mare than three months past due but not impaired 5,082 4562
Total trade and other receivables 63,787 51,602
21, Trade and other payables
2018 2017
£000 £'000
Trade payables 100,664 103,432
Accruals and contract Yabilities 59,373 45905
Sooial secunty and other taxes 20,348 18,425
Contract hahilities for non-construction contract work 613 326
Finance lease liabihties 376 304
Other creditors 5,859 16,092
187,233 184,484

Due to the short duration of trade payables, managerment considers the cariying amaunts recognised n the Consolidated Balance Shieet to be

a reasonable approximation of therr farr value

Included in other creditors 1s £2 0m (2017 E£ml) relating ta contingent consideration on acquisitons, £ril (2017 £5 Om) retating to deferred

consideration on acquisitions and £nil (2017 £6 2m) relating to a forward purchase agreement in respect of 25% of Tando Property Services Limited,

Tando Homes Limited and O&T Developments Limited

22. Financial liabilities

2018 2017
£000 £000
Current labilities
~ Interest rate swaps 41 253
Non-current liabilities
- nterestrate swaps 15 79
Tatal financial habilities 56 332
23, Long-term other liahilities
2018 2017
£'000 £'000
Finance lease liabilities 892 540
Other creditors 6,586 4,496
Qthet creditors 7,478 5036
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24, Financial instruments

The Group uses a imited number of financial mstruments compnsing cash and hiquid resources, borrowings, inteiest rate swaps and various items
such as trade recevables and trade payables that anse directly from its operations The main purpose of these financial instruments is to finance
the Group's operations The Group seeks to finance 1ts operations through a combination of retained earnings and borrowings and investing surplus
cash on depostt The Group uses financial mstruments o rmanage the interest rate risks arising from its operatians and sources of finance but has
no interests in the trade of financial instruments

Categories of financial instruments

2018 2017
£000 £000
Financial assets
Amortised cost
Trade recevables 63,787 51,602
Cash at bank and in hand 27,876 24,770
91,663 76,372
Financial liabilities
Fair value {level 2)
Interest rate swaps — effective (56) (332)
Fair value (level 3}
Deferred consideration In respect of acquisitions - {11,163)
Contingent consideration in respect of acquisihons (2,000) -
Amortised cost
Borrowings related to assets held for sale {15,000) (13,941)
Bank borrowings and overdrafts (93,780) (50,559)
Trade payables (100,664) (103,432}
Accruals and contract habilities (59,373) (45,905)
Other creditors (11,714) (10,269}
(282,587) (246,460}
(190,924)  (170,088)

The IFRS 13 hierarchy level categorisation relates ta the extent the fair value can be determined by reference to comparable market values
The classifications range from level 1, where instruments are quoted on an active market, through to level 3, where the assumptions used to arrive
at fair value do not have comparable market data

The fair values of interest rate swaps have been calculated by a third party expert discounting estimated future cash flows on the basis of market
expectations of future interest rates (level 2}

The ameunt of contingent consideration payable 1s generally determined by future expected profits of the acquired businesses The fair values
of contingent consideration have been caiculated by the Directors by reference to expected future income and expenditure in respect of the
acquired businesses

There have becn no transfers between levels during the year

Fair value information
The fair value of the Group's financial assets and lahilities 1s as disclosed ahove and approximates to the book value

Financial risk management
The Group's activities expose it to a vaniety of financial risks market nisk (including interest rate nsk and price nisk), credit nisk, and hquidity risk

The main risks faced by the Group relate to the availability of funds to meet business needs and the nsk of credit default by customers The Group's
averall risk management pragramme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the
Group's fmanaal performance

Risk management 1s carnied out under policies and guidelines approved by the Board of Directors
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Financial statements
Notes to the financial statements ~ Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2018

24. Financial instruments continued

Borrowing facilities

The Group's borrowing facilities are drawn on as required to manage Its cash needs Banking facilities are reviewed reqularly and extended and
replaced 1n advance of thew expiry

The Group had total borrowing faciities of £185m with Barclays Bank PLC, HSBC Bank PLC and Lloyds Bank PLC, of which £110m was utilised at
31 December 2018

The faciliies comprise a commutted four-year £130 Om revolving credit facility, a 364-day £15 Om loan and an unsecured overdraft facility of £10 0m
The undrawn amounts at 31 December 2018 were a £65 0im revolving credit facility and an overdraft facility of £10 Om In addttion, the Group has g
property acquisition credit facility of £30m to acquire and build portfolios for resale At 31 December 2018, assets held for resale utiising this facility
amounted to £12 4m {2017 139m) At 37 Oecember 2018, the assaclated draw-down for these acquisitions was £15.0m (2017 £13 9m), funding
both these assets for resale together with also part-funding the modular homes included within fixed assets

Interest rate rigk management
The Group finances 1ts operations through a mixture of retained profits and bank borrowings from major banking institutions at floating rates of

interest based on LIBOR The Group's exposure o interest rate fluctuations on borrowings ts managed through the use of interest rale swaps, hence
the fixed rate borrowings relate to floating rate loans where the interest rate has been fixed by a hedging arrangement The fair value of interest rate
exposure on financial llabities of the Group as at 31 December 2018 was

Interest rate

Fixed Floating Zero Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000
Financial fiabilities - 2018 70,000 40,000 - 110,000
Financial labiities — 2017 64,500 - 11,363 75,663

The Group's policy 1s to accept a degree of interest rate nsk, provided the effects of the vanous potential changes in rates remain within certain
prescribed parameters

Accordingly, at 31 December 2018 the Group had hedged the first £70 0m of the £185 O total borrowing faciliies by entering into interest rate
swap arrangernents with Barclays Bank PLG and HSBC Bank PLC The arrangement with Barclays Bank PLC consists of two £15 Om swap contracts
expiring in August 2021, with quarterly matunty, matching the underlying faciity The arrangement with MSBC Bank PLC consists of three swap
contracts totalling £40 Orn expiring in December 2020, with quarterly maturity, matching the underlying facility

The matunty of the interest rate swap contracts1s as follows

2018 2017

Nominal Average Nominal Average

amount applicable amount applicable

hedged interestrates hedged  interes!rates

£'000 % £000 %

Withirm one year - - 30,000 185%
One to two years 40,000 0.84% - -
Twa to five years 30,000 0.96% 40,000 0 84%

More than five years - - -

Effective interest rates
Interest rate swaps with far value lizhilities of £0 Tm (2017 £0 3m) and average remaining lives of two years and five months have been agcounted
for in financial habilities

The Group's overall average cost of debt, including effective interest rate swaps, 15 2 b% as at 31 December 2018 (2017 2 3%) Excluding these swaps
the average1s 2 3% (2017 1 6%)

138 Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2618



Z4. Financial instruments continued
Cash flow hedging reserve

The cash flow hedging reserve compnises all gains and losses ansing frorm the valuation of interest swap contracts which are effective hedges
and mature after the year end These are valued on a mark-to-market basis, accounted for through the Consalidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income and recycled through the Consolidated Income Statement when the hedged item affects the Consolidated Income Statement

Movernents dunng the year were

£'000
At 1 January 2017 (774)
Amounts transferred to the Consolidated income Statement 645
Revaluations during the year (54)
Deferred tax movermnent (143)
At 1 January 2018 (326)
Amounts transferred to the Consolidated Income Staternent 325
Revaluations during the year -
Deferred tax movement (45)
At 31 December 2018 {46)

At 31 December 2018 the Group had mimimal expasure to movermeants In interest rates as the remaining interest rate risk was affset by the Group's

cash and short-term deposits

If the interest rates had been 0 5% higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group's profit before taxation for the year ended
31 Decemnber 2018 and reserves would decrease or increase, respectively, by £0 4m (2017 £0 3m)

Liquidity risk management

The Group seeks to manage liquidity nsk by ensuring sufficient hquidity 1s available to meet foreseeable needs and to invest cash assets safely

and profitably

Management manitars rolling forecasts of the Group's Iquidity reserve (compnising undrawn borrowing facilities and cash and cash equivalents) on
the hasis of expected cash flows This s generally carried out at a local level in the operating companies of the Group in accordance with the practice
and limits set by the Group These imits vary by location and take into account the liquidity and nature of the market in which the entity operates

The quantum of committed borrowing facilities of the Group s regularly reviewed and 1s designed to exceed forecast peak gross debt levels

For short-term working capttal purpases, the Group utiises bank overdrafts as required These facilities are regutarly reviewed and are renegotiated

ahead of their expiry date

The table befow shows the matunty profile of the Group's financial habihties

Within 1 year 1-2 years 2-5years QOver & years Total
£'000 £000 £'000 £000 £:000

2018
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings related 10 assets held for sale 15,000 - - - 15,000
Bank borrowings 15,000 - 78,780 - 93,780
Trade and other payables 163,813 6,669 - - 170,482
Deferred and contingent consideration in respect of acquisitions - - - - -
Derivative financial liabilities
Interest rate swaps — effective 4 15 - - 56
2017
Non-derivative financizal liabilities
Borrowings related to assets held for sale 13,841 - - - 13,941
Bank borrowngs - - 50,559 - 50,559
Trade and other payables 154,606 4155 - - 158,761
Deferred and contingent consideration in respect of acquisitions 11,163 - - - 11,163
Derivative financial liabilities
Interest rate swaps — effective 253 65 14 - 332

I'he Group has disclosed core bank borrowings of £80 0m as due In two Lo five years Whilst the amounts borrowed could be repaid each quarter,
the Group's intent:on 15 to align core bank horrowings with its interest rate swaps
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Financial statements
Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2018

24. Financial instruments continued

Credit risk managerent
The Group's ¢redit nisk 1s primanly attnbutable to iis trade receivables, contract assets and work In progress

Trade receivables are narmally due within 30 to 60 days Trade and ather receivables included in the Consoldated Balance Sheet are stated net
of a bad debt prowision which has been estimated by management following a review of individual receivable accounts There is ne Group-wide
rate of provision and provision made for debts that are overdue s based on prior default expenience and known factors at the balance sheet date
Recervables are written off against the bad debt provision when managerment considers that the debtis na longer recaverable

Housing customers are typically Local Authorities and Housing Associations Care customers are typically Local Authorities and NHS Trusts
The nature of bath of these customers means that credit nsk is mimimal Other trade recervables contamn ng specific concentration of credit nsk

as the amounts recognised represent a large nurnber of recevables from various customers

The Group continually manitors the postion of major customers and incorporates this information inta its credit nsk controls External credit
ratings are obtained where appropriate

Details of the ageing of trade receivables are shown i note 20

Deferred and contingent consideration
The table below shows the movements in deferred and contingent consideration

Deferred Contingent Total

£'000 £000 £000

At 1 January 2017 16,163 294 16,457
Paid in respect of acquisitions (5,000) - (5,000)
Released on reassessment - (294) (294)
At 1 January 2018 11163 ~ 11163
Increase due to new acquisitions in the year - 2,000 2,000
Patd in respect of acguisttions (11,163} - (1,163}
At 31 December 2018 - 2,000 2,000

Contingent consideration represents an estimate of future consideration iikely to be payable In respect of acquisitions Contingent consideration
15 discounted for the ikelihood of payment and for the ime value of money Contingent consideration becomes payable based on the profitability
of acquired businesses or, In the case of one specific acquisition, the utlisation of certain timing differences in respect of corperation tax

The fair value of contingent cansideration s estimated by forecasting future profits and utilising the farecast to determine the fikely contingent
consideration payable

information as to the likely tirming of payments in respect of these provisions’ financial fiabiliies is provided earler within this note

Capital management
The Group's objectives when mianaging capital are

~ 10 safeguard the Group's ability ta continue as & going concern, so that 1t can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders,

~ o provide an adeguate return to shareholders by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of sk, and

~ to maintan an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of canital

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to nsk The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to 1t n hght of changes
n ecenomic conditions and the nsk charactenstics of the underlying assets (0 order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the amaurnt of dividends patd to sharehalders, return capital to shareholders, tssue new shares or sell assets (o reduce debt

The capital structure of the Groun consists of net debt as disclosed below and equity as disclosed in the Consolidated Statement of Changes
1t Equity

2018 2017
£'000 £'000
The Group considers its revolving credit facility to be an integral part of 1ts cash management
-~ cash at bank and inhand 27,876 24770
~ revolving credit facility (93,780) {50,559)
Cash and cash equivalents, including revolving credit faciity (65,904) (25,789)
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25. Deferred taxation

Deferred tax 1s caleulated on temporary differences under the liability method

Deferred tax assets

The following deferred tax assets were recognised by the Group as at 31 December 2018

Short-term
Pension  Share-based Cash flow termporary
schetne payments hedges Taxlosses differences Tolal
£'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £1000 £600
At 1 January 2017 1,513 340 - 2172 1679 5,704
(Debit)/credit to Consolidated Income Statement 84) (267) 199 (1,015) 87) {1,254}
Debit to Consolidated Staternent of Changes in Equity - 404 - - - 404
{Debit)/credit to Consolidated Statement of
Camprehensive Income (397) - (143} - - (540)
At January 2018 1,032 477 56 1157 1,592 4,314
Impact of change In accouniing pohcies - - - - 6,013 6,013
Adjusted balance at 1 January 2018 1,032 477 56 1157 7,605 10,327
(Debit)/credit to Consohdated Income Statement (66) 116 - 250 {5,853) (5,553)
Debrt to Cansolidated Statement of Changes m Equity - 14 - - - 14
(Debity/credit to Cansolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income (243) - (45) - - (288}
Resulting from business comtunations - - - - 1,000 7,000
At 31 December 2018 723 607 1 1,407 2,752 5,500

In accordance with IFRS 2 ‘Share-hased Payment, the Group has recognised an expense for the consumphion of employee services recerved

as consideration for share options granted A tax deduction will not arise until the options are exercised The tax deduction in future periods s
dependent on the Company's share price at the date of exercise The estimated future tax deduction is based an the aptions’ intrinsic value at the

balance sheet date

The cumulative armount credited to the Consolidated Income Statement 1s imited to the tax effect of the associaled cumulative share-based

payment expense The excess has been credited directly to equity This 1s presented in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

In addstion to those recogrised, unused tax losses totalling £28 4m (2017 £34 2m) have not been recognised as the Directors do not consider that

it1s probable that they will be recovered

Deferred tax liabilities

The following deferred tax labihties were recognised by the Group as at 31 December 2018

Pension Acquisition Cash flow
scheme intangibles hedges Total
£000 £000 £000 £000
At 1 January 2017 3127 3904 89 7120
(Credity/debit to Consolidated Income Statement (90} {(2,083) (89 (2.262)
Debit to Consolidated Staterment of Comprehensive Income 2,240 - - 2,240
At January 2018 5277 1821 - 7098
(Credit)/debit to Consolidated Incorne Statement 58 (842) - (784)
Debit to Consalidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (2,035) - - {2,035)
Resulting from business combinations - 3,431 - 3,431
At 31 December 2018 3,300 4,410 - 7,710

Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination are capitalised at far value at the date of the acquisition and amortised over their useful
ecanormic ives The UK tax regime calculates tax using the individual financial statements of the members of the Group and not the consolidated
acceunts Hence, the tax base of acquistion intangible assets 1s £nil The estimated tax effect of this £ril tax base 1s accounted for as a deferred tax
lliability which 1s released over the penod of amortisation of the associated acquisttion intangible asset
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Financial statements
Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2018

26. Share capital and reserves
Clagses of resetves

Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been 1ssued

Share premium represents the difference between the nominal value of shares 1ssued and the total consideration received

Share-based paytment reserve represents empioyee remuneration which 1s credited to the share-based payment reserve until the related share
aptions are exercised Upon exercise the share-based payment reserve 1s transferred to retaned earnings

The cash flow hedging reserve comprises all gains and losses arising from the valuation of interest swap contracts which are effective hedges
and mature after the year end These are valued on a mark-to-market basts, accounted for through the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Incame and recyeled through the Consolidated income Statement when the hedged item affects the Consolidated income Statement

The merger reserve relates to the difference between the nominal value and total consideration in respect of acquisitions, where the Company was
entitled to the merger relief offered by the Companies Act 2006

Share capital

2018 2017
£'000 £'000

Allotted, called up and fully paid
At 1 January 103,567,091 (2017 102,559,799) ordinary shares of 1p each 1,036 1026
Issue of 133,164 (2017 1,007,292) shares on exercise of share options 1 10
lssue of 6,787,331 2017 nil} shaies as a placerment 68 -
At 31 December 110,487,586 (2017 103,567,091) ordinary shares of 1p each 1,105 1036

During the year 133,164 (2017 1,007,292} ordinary 1p shares were issued in respect of share aptions exercised \n addition, the Group raised funds
through a placement of 6,787,331 (2017 nil) ordinary 1p shares The difference between the nominal value of £0 07m and the total consideration of
£22 02m has been credited 1o the share premum account

27, Notes to the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
The following non-operating cash flow adjustments have been made to the result for the year before tax

2018 2017
£'000 £'000
Depreciation 5,804 5,105
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 37 24
Profit on disposal of subsidtary 44 (961)
Arnortisation 6,843 12,768
Share-based payments 5582 826
|AS 19 pension Mmovement (655) 31
Finance income (389) (357)
Finance cost 3,405 2,706
Total 15,641 21148
Movements in financing liabilities during the year are as fallows
Borrowings
relating to
Revolving assets held Finance
credit facility for resale leases Total
AL January 2017 65,278 - 13 65,391
Inception of new finance leases - - 2,685 2,685
Cash inflows/(cutflows) (14,719) 13,941 (1954) {(2,732)
At 1 January 2018 50,559 13941 844 65,344
Inception of new finance leases - - 903 903
Cash inflows/(outflows) 43221 1,059 479) 43,801
At 31 December 2018 93,740 15,000 1,268 110,048
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28. Acquisitions and disposals

0On 30 November 2018 the Group acquired certain business assets and contracts from the Mitie property services division The transaction was
facilitated via the purchase of the entire share capital of MPM Housing Limited and MPS Housing Limited for a total consideration of £22 5m

In addition, contingent consideration of a maximum of £12 5m may becorme payable based on a multiple of profit before tax for the acquired

entities The Directors have assessed the fair value of this contingent consideration as £2 0m This 1s based on the present value of the expected
consideration o be paid calculated by reference 1o anticipated profits of the business over the next two years It1s primarnly sensitive to changes

in those anticipated profits

The acquisition was undertaken in order to strengthen the Group's offering In ts Housing segment It provides access to new clients and has

significant synergies with the wader Group

The effect of the acquisition of MPM and MPS 1s disclosed below

Total
£:000
Assets
Non-current
Property, plant and equipment 248
Deferred tax asset 1,000
Current
Trade recevables 32175
Other recevables 7278
Total assets 40,701
Liabilities
Current
Bank overdraft (4,185)
Trade payables (10,985)
Other payables (18 423)
Total habilities (33,593)
Net agsets acquired at fair value 7108
Intangible assets recognised 17,392
Deferred tax recognised In respeact of intangible assets (3.304)
21,196
Goodwill 3,304
24,500
Satisfied by
~ gash 22,500
-~ contingent consideration 2,000
24,500

In addition to the amounts noted above, the Group acguired £0 6m of labilties in respect of a further acquisition This other acquisition resulted
N £0 6m of intangibles caprtalised, a £0 1m deferred tax bahility and £0 7m of goodwill caprtalised

Intangible assets of £18 1m have been recognised in respect of these acquisitions They represent the expected value to be derved fram the existing
order books of the acquired businesses Thea Directors consider that the value assigned to goodwill represents the benefits to the Group ansing from

synergies with 11s existing business

The trade recevables detalled above are disclosed net of provisions totalling £4 3m and therefare the gross contractual amounts recevable total
£36 5m All the effects of these acquisitions on the Group's assets and liabilities are disclosed as provisional due to the proximity of the acquisitions

te the balance sheet date

In the period ended 31 December 2018, the acquisitions contributed revenue of £9 0m and a £0 5 operating loss before amortisation

of acqusition intangibles

Far the year cnded 31 Decernber 2018, had the acquisitions taken placa on 1 January 2018, the combined Group full year 1evenue 15 estimated
at £998 3m and the combined Group profit for the year before taxation 1s estimated at £24 /m
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Financial statements
Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2018

28. Acquisitions and disposals continued
Analysis of net outflow In respect of the purchase of the subsidiary undertakings

Total

£000

Cash consideration (22,500)
Net overdraft acguired with subsidiary undertakings (4,185)
Net cash disposed of with subsidhary (28)
Transactions with non-centrolling interests (6,163)
Cash payments in respect of prior year acquisitions (5,000}
(37874)

On 1 January 2018 the Group reassessed the level of control it held over Mears 24/7 LLP and concluded that the threshold for contrel was ne longer
being met As a result, the Group has not consolidated the results of Mears 24/7 LLP from 1 January 2018 and net assets of £ 04m, including cash
of £0 03m, were derecognised The Group ceased to be a partner on 12 September 2018

On 4 January 20718, the Group acquired the remaining 25% of the share capital of O&T Developrments Limited, Tando Property Services Limited and
Tando Homes Limited for a total consideration of £6 2m

29. Pensions

Defined contribution schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Group perscnal pension scheme for the benefit of certain empioyees The Group contributes to personal
pension schemes of certain Directors and senior employees The Group operates a stakehaolder pension plan avallable to all employees During the
year, the Group contributed £4 Om (2017 £3 Om) to these schemes

1AS 19 ‘Employee Benefits'
The Group contnbutes to 30 (2017 30) principal defined benefit schemes on behalf of a number of employees which require contributions to be
made to separately administereg funds

These pension schemes are operated on behalf of Mears Limited, Mears Gate Limited, Mornson Facilities Services Limited and thewr subsidiary
undertakings The assets of the schemes are adminisiered by trustees in funds independent from the assets of the Group

In certain cases, the Group will participate under Admitted Body status n the Local Government Pension Scheme The Group will contribute for a
finite penad up until the end of the particular contract The Group 1s reguired to pay reguiar contributions as detailled in the scheme's schedule of
contributions In some cases these contributions are capped and any excess can be recovered from the body from which the employees originally
transferred Where the Group has a contractual nght to recover the costs of making good any deficit in the scheme from the Group's chient, the fair
value of that asset has been recognised within the Group’s pension assets Certain Judgements around the value of this asset have been made and
are discussed in the Judgements and estimates disclosure within the accounting policies

The disclosures in respect of the two (2017 two) Group defined benefit schermes and the 28 (2017 28) other defined benefit schemes in this note
have been aggregated

Costs and labilities of the schemes are based on actuanal valuations The latest full actuanal valuations for the schemes were updated to
31 December 2018 by qualfied independent actuaries using the projected unit funding method

The principal actuanal assumptions at the balance sheet date are as follows

2018 2007
Rate of increase of salanes - first year 2.00% 2 00%
Rate of increase of salaries — second year 3.15% 2 00%
Rate of increase of salanes — long term 3.15% 310%
Rate of increase for pensions 1 payment — based on CPl with a cap of 5% 2.20% 225%
Rate of increase for pensions in payment - based cn RPl with a cap of 5% 3.05% 305%
Rate of increase for pensions In payment — based on CPiwith a cap of 3% 1.90% 195%
Rate of increase for pensions in payment — based on RPl with a cap of 3% 2.45% 2 45%
Discount rate 2.95% 270%
Retail prices nflation 3.15% 310%
Consumer plices inflation 2.15% 2 20%
Life expectancy for a 65-year-ald male 22.3 years 22 dyears
Life expectancy for a 65-year-old female 24.5 years 247 years
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29. Pensions continued
1AS 19 'Employee Benefits’ continued

The amounts recegrised in the Consoldated Balance Sheet and major categories of plan assets are

2018 2017
Group Other Group Qther
schemes schemes Total schemes schermes Tatal

£'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000
Equities — quoted 29,567 153,190 182,757 54,481 202,333 256,814
Equities — unguoted - 13,927 13,927 - 21,669 21,669
Bonds - quoted 93,562 58,113 151,675 74,412 67,850 142,262
Bonds — unguoted - 2,106 2,106 - 2,418 2418
Property — quoted 4,352 6,215 10,567 4258 6,258 10,516
Property — unguoted - 5,875 5,875 - 13,562 13,562
Cash 25,301 29,348 54,739 24174 31,437 55,611
Group's estimated asset share 152,872 268,774 421,646 157325 345,527 502,852
Present value of funded scheme liabilities {136,548) (282,368) (418,916) (132,591) (324,920} {457,517)
Funded status 16,324 (13,594) 2,730 24,734 20,607 45,341
Guarantee - 16,947 16,947 - 7026 7026
Scheme surpluses not recognised as assels - (6,111) {6,111) - (30.025) (30,025)
Pension asset/(hability) 16,324 {(2,758) 13,566 24734 (2.392) 22,342
The amounts recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement are as follows

2018 2017
Group Other Group Other
schemes schemes Total schemes schemes Total

£'000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £'000
Current service cost 2,091 3,483 5,574 2,826 3,262 6,078
Past service cost 150 - 150 - 199 199
Settlement and curtallment - (234) (234) - - -
Administration costs 121 - 121 142 7?2 214
Total operating charge 2,362 3,249 5,611 2,968 3,523 6,491
Net interest (730) 34 (696) (246) 25 (221)
Total charged to the result for the year 1,632 3,283 4,915 2,722 3,548 6,270

Past service cost above includes a charge of £150,000 10 regpect of the Group's estimate of the impact of GMP equalisation, following the recent

Lloyds Banking Group rubing

Cumulative actuanal gains and losses recognised in equity are as follows

2018 M7
Group Other Group Other
schemes schemes Total schemes schermes Total
£'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
On TUPE transfer of employees - {21,303) (21,303) - (373) (373)
Return on plan assets In excess of that recorded in
net interest (7,270 (19,427} (26,697) 3947 (6.918) {2.976)
Actuanal gain/{loss) ansing from changes in
dermographic assumptions {5,601) 221 {5,380) 15,686 1,082 16,768
Actuanal (loss)/gain ansing from changes in
financial assumptions 7,197 17,293 24,490 (/064) (3,617) (16,681)
Actuanal gain ansing from liability experience (3,967) (676) (4,643) (28) 31,447 31,479
Effects of imitation of recognisable surplus - 24102 24102 - (14,278) {(14,278)
Total gains and losses recognised In equily (9,641) 210 (9,431) 12,536 1,343 13,879
At 1 January 6,807 (5,592) 1,215 (5,/29) (6.935) (12,.664)
Total at 31 December (2.834) (5,382 (8,216) 6,807 (5,592) 1215
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Financial statements
Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2018

29. Pensions continted

IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ continued
Changes in the present value of the defined benefit chiigations are as follows

2018 2017
Group Other Group Other
sch h Total schemes schemes Total
E'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Present value of obligations at 1 January 132,591 324,920 457,511 137721 410,258 547979
Current service cost 2,241 3,483 5,724 2826 3,252 6078
Past service ¢cost - - - - 159 199
Scherne admnistration costs - - - - 22 272
Interest on obligations 3,560 7,499 11,059 4148 9,052 13,200
Plan participants’ contrbutions 321 1,064 1,385 374 1136 1,510
Benefits paid (4,536) (5,751) {10,287) (3.884) (6107) (8991
Contract transfer - (31,907) (31,907) - (72,584) (72,584)
Settlements - (2,062} (2,062} - - -
Actuarial gain ansing from changes in
demagraphic assumptions 5,601 {221) 5,380 (15,686) (1.082) (16,768)
Actuanal loss arising from changes in financial assumptions (7,197) (15,333) (22,530) 7064 12,221 19,285
Actuanalioss/(gan) ansing from lability expenence 3,967 676 4,643 28 (31,447) (31,419)
Present value of obligations at 31 December 136,548 282,368 418,916 132,591 324920 457511
Changes In the fair value of the plan assets are as follows
R 2018 . 2007
Group Other Group Other
h h Total schemes schemes Total
£000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000 £°000
Fair value of plan assets at 1 January 157,325 352,553 509,878 149,529 422,691 572,220
Expected return on plan assets 4,290 7,653 11,943 4,394 9,027 13421
Employer's contributions 2,863 2,707 5570 3112 3127 6,239
Plan participants’ contnbutions 321 1,064 1,385 374 1136 1,510
Benefits paid (4,536) (5,751) (10,287) (3.884) {6107) (9997
Scheme administration costs (121) - (121) (142) (50) {192}
Contract transfer - (53,210) (53,210) - (72957) (72957
Settlements - (1,828) (1,828) - - -
Return on plan assets above/{below) that recorded In
net interest (7,270) (17,467} (24,737) 3942 (4,314) 372)
Fair value of plan assets at 31 Decernber 152,872 285,71 438,593 157325 352,553 509,878
History of experience gains and losses 1s as follows
Group schemes
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
£'000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Fair value of scheme assets 152,872 157,325 149,529 116,512 115,818
Net present value of defined benefit cbhigations {136,548) (132,591 {137721) (111,327) (106,710)
Net surplus 16,324 24,734 11,808 5185 9108
Experience adjustments arising on scheme assets
Amount {7,270) 3942 27129 (4,984) 10,624
Percentage of scheme assets (4.8%) 2 5% 1871% (4 3%) 92%
Experience adjustments arising on scheme liabilities
Amount 3,967 28 1,000) (5193) (910}
Percentage of scheme habilities 2.9% 00% (07%) (47%) {0 9%)
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29. Pensions contmnued
1AS 19 'Employee Benefits' continued

QOther schemes

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

£°000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000
Fair value of scheme assets 285,721 352,553 472,697 352,690 347034
Net present valiie of defined berefit obligations (282,368) (324,920) (410,258) (333,839) (331,658)
Net suiplus 3,353 27633 12,433 18,851 15,368
Asset value not recognised as surplus (6,111) (30,025) (15,747) (19,988) 7717
Net defioit (2.758) (2,392) (3,314) (1137} (2,349)
Experience adjustments arising on scheme assets
Amount {25,033) {4,314) 59,020 {7.406) 22125
Percentage of scheme assets (8.8%) (12%) 14 0% (2 1%) 6 4%
Experience adjustments arising on scheme liabilities
Amount 676 {31,447) 1,714 (®19) {0,828)
Percentage of scheme labilities 0.2% (97%) (0 4%) {02%) (3 0%)

Funding arrangements are agraed for each of the Group’s defined benefit pension schemes with therr respective trustees The employer's
contributions expected to be paid during the financial year ending 31 December 2019 amount to £5 4m

Each of the schemes manages nisks through a variety of methods and strategies to Imit downside in falls in equity markets, mavernent in inflation

and movement in interest rates

The Group's defined benefit obligation 1s sensitive to changes in certain key assumptions The sensitivity analysis below shows how a reasonably
possible Increase or decrease in a particular assumption, in 1solation, results In an increase o1 decrease in the present value of the defined benefit

obligation as at 31 December 2018

Decrease Increase
£'000 £'000
Rate of Inflation — decrease/increase by 0 1% {1,552) 1,141
Rate of Increase in salanes — decrease/Increase by 01% (139) 134
Discount rate — decrease/increase by 01% 3,283 (3,058)
Life expectancy — decrease/increase by 1 year (5,704) 6,131
30Q. Operating lease commitments
Non-canceliable operating lease rentals payable were as follows
Land and buildings Other
2018 2017 2018 2017
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000
Payable
Within one year 44,899 42 520 13,523 14,038
Between two and five years 38,877 26879 17,290 14.5M
After mare than five years 69,583 44,051 - -
153,359 116,400 30,813 29,600

Operating lease payments represent rentals payatile by the Group for certain of its office properties and Housing Management residential properties,

the hire of vehicles and the hure of other equipment These leases have durations ranging from one to 15 years No arrangements have been entered

INto in respect of cantingent rental payments

31. Capital commitments

The Group had no capital commitments at 31 December 2018 or at 31 December 2017

32. Gontingent liabilities
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The Group has guaranteed that it will complete certain Group cantracts thal 1t has commenced At 31 December 2018 these quarantees amounted lo
£187m (2017 £21 /m)

As detatled in note / the Group has a facility in place guaranteeing the performance of a number of M&E projects in Haydon Mechanical and
Llectrical Company LLC (Haydon LLCY The guarantees will fall away as the final accounts are agreed and the associated guarantees released

As a1 31 December 2018, guarantees amounted to £3 9m (2017 £3 8m) and a balance of £2 2m has been provided for aganst this balance

The Group had no other contingent labilities at 31 Decernber 2018 or at 31 December 2017
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Financial statements
Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2018

33. Related party transactions
Identity of related parties
The Group has a related party relationship with its pension schemes, its subsidianes and its Directors

Pension schemes
Details of contributions ta pension schemes are set out In note 29 to the financial statements

Subsidiaries

The Group has a central treasury arrangement in which all subsidiaries participate The Directors do not consider it meaningful to set out details

of transfers made in respect of this treasury arrangement between companies, nor do they consider it meaningful to set out details of interest

or dividend payments made within the Group

Transactionsg with key management persannel
The Group has identified key management personnel as the Directors of Mears Group PLC

Key management personnel held the following percentage of voting shares in Mears Group PLC

2018 2017

% %

Directors 0.3 g4
Key management personnel’'s compensation Is as follows

20718 2017

£'000 £000

Salaries including social security costs 1,778 1,765

Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes 121 161

Share-based payments 100 150

1,999 2,076

Further details of Directors’ remuneration are disclosed within the Remuneration Report
Dividends totalling £0 04m (2017 £0 04m) were paid to Directors during the year
Transactions with other related parties

During the year the Group made additional loans to YourMK LLP, an entity in which the Group 1s a 50% member, tataling £01m (2017 £0 2m)
At 31 December 2018, the Group was owed £0 5m {2017 £0 4m} by YourMK LLP
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Financial statements
Principal accounting policies — Company

Statement of compliance
Mears Group PLC 15 a public imited carnpany incorporated in England and Wales Its registered office 1s 1390 Montpelher Court, Gloucester Business

Park, Brockworth, Gloucester GL3 4AH

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable United Kingdom accounting standards, including FRS 101 and the

Companies Act 2006 The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the modification to a fair value basis for
certamn financial Instruments specified I the accounting policies below The financiat statements are presented in Sterling

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption In Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 fram disclosing its individual profit and loss account

The Company has taken advantage of the reduced disclosures for subsidianes and the ultimate parent provided for in FRS 101 and has therefore not
provided a cash flow statement or certain disclosures in respect of share-based payments

The principal accounting pelicies of the Company are set out below These policies have been applied consistently to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated

Goodwill
Goodwill representing the reallocation of amounts previously classed as investments upon the hive-across of trade and assets is capitalised and

amortised on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful economic life

Share-based employee remuneration
All share-based payment arrangerments that were granted after 7 November 2002 are recognised in the financial statements

The Group operates equity-settled and cash-settled share-based remuneration plans for its employees All employee services received in exchange
for the grant of any share-based remuneration are measured at their fair value These are indirectly determined by reference to the farr value of the
share options awarded Tharr value s determined at the date of grant and 1s not subsequently remeasured unless the condiions on which the award
was granted are modified The fair value at the date of the grant s calculated using the Black Scholes option pncing madel and the cost 1s recogrised
on a straight-ine hasis over the vesting pentod Adjustments are made to reflect expected and actual forfertures dunng the vesting period

Share-based remuneration in respect of employees of the Company 1s ulimately recogrised as an expense in the profit and loss account For equity-
settled share-based payments there 15 a corresponding credit to the share-based payment reserve, for cash-settled share-based payments the
Company recognises a liability at the balance sheet date The Company operates share-based remuneration plans for employees of subsidianes
using the Campany’s equity instruments  The fair value of the compensation given in respect of these share-based compensation plans less
payments received flom subsidiaries in respect of those share-based payments 1s recognised as a capital contribution

Upon exercise of share optians, the proceeds receved, net of any directly atiributable transaction costs up to the nominal value of the shares 1ssued,
are allocated 1o share capital with any excess being recorded as share premium

Deferred taxaticn

Deferred tax I1s recognised on all tming differences where the transactions or events that give the Company an obligation to pay more tax in the
future, or a nght to pay less tax In the future, have occurred by the balance sheet date Deferred tax assets are recogrised where it 1s more likely than
not that they will be recovered Deferred tax 1s measurad using rates of tax and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance

sheet date
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Financial statements
Principal accounting policies — Company continued

Retirement benefits
i) Defined contribution pension scheme
The pensicn costs charged against profits are the contributions payable to ndividual policies in respect of the accounting penod

ii) Defined benefit pensions

The Company contributes to defined benefit schemes which requira contributions to be made to separately administered funds.

4 defined benefit plan 1s a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will recerve on retirement, usually dependent
on one or mere factors such as age, vears of service and salary The legal obligations for any benefits from this kind of pension plan remain with the
Group, even If plan assets for funding the defined benefit plan have been set aside

Scheme liabilities are measured using the projected unit funding method, applying the principal actuanal assumptions at the balance sheet date
Assets are measured at market value The asset that is recognised 1s restricted to the amount by which the service costis expected, over the lifetime
of the scheme, to exceed funding contributions payable in respect of accruing benefits

Actuanial gains and losses are taken to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income as Incurred For this purpase, actuarial gains and
losses compnse both the effects of changes in actuanal assumptions and expenence adjustments ansing because of differences between the
previous actuarial assumptions and what hag actually occurred

Other movements in the net surplus or deficit are recognised in the profit and loss account, including the current service cost, any past service cost
and the effect of curtallments or settlements The interest costs less the expected return on assets are also charged to the Consolidated Income
Statement The amount charged to the Consolidated Income Statement in respect of these plans 1s included within operating costs

The Company's contributions to the schemes are paid In accordance with the rules of the schemes and the recommendations of the actuary

Investments
Investments In equity shares which are not publicly traded and where fair value cannot be measured reliably are measured at cost less Impairment
Dndends ot equity secunities are recogrised i ncame when recevable

Financial instruments
Financial assets and labilities are recognised in the Gonsolidated Balance Sheet when the Cormpany becomes party to the cantractual provisions
of the instrument The principal financlal assets and habilities of the Company are as follows

Financial assets

Basic financial assets, including trade and other receivables, amounts due to Group companies and cash and cash equivalents, are initially
recogriised at transaction price, unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the transaction 1s measured at the present value
of the future receipts discounted at a matket rate of interest

Such assets are subsequently carned at amartised cost using the effective Interest rate method

At the end of each reporting period financial assets measured at amortised cost are assessed for objective evidence of iImpairment If an asset s
impaired the iImpairment foss 1s the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of the estimated cash flows discounted at the
asset's onginal effective Interest rate The impairment loss is recognised in profit or foss

Financial assets are derecogmised when (a) the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or are seltled, (b) substantally all the risks
and rewards of the ownership of the asset are transferred to anather party, or (¢) despite having retained seme significant risks and rewards of
ownership, control of the asset nas been transferred to another party which has the practical ability to unilaterally sell the asset 1o an unrelated third
party without imposing additional restrictions

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand and bank depesits available with no natice or less than three months' notice from

inception that are subject to an insignificant nsk of changes in value Bank overdrafts are presented as current liabilities to the extent that there
1s no right of offset with cash balances
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Retirement benefits continued

Financial liabilities

Basic financial iabilties, ncluding trade and other payables, and amounts payable to Group companies that are classified as debt, are initially
recognised at transaction price, unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the debt instrument 1s measured at the present
value of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest

Bank borrowings are non-basic financial labilikes and are intially recognised at fair value, being the present value of future payments discounted
al a market rate of Interest Bank borrowings are remeasured at fair value

Dervatives, including interest rate swaps, are not basic financial Instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at far value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at therr fair value
Changes in the fair value of denvatives are recognised in profit or loss in finance costs or finance Income as appropriate, unless they are included
In a hedging arrangement

Financial habilities are derecognised when the liability 1s extinguished, that 1s when the contractual obligation is discharged or cancelled or expires

Offsetting
Financial assets and liabibties are offset and the net amounts presented in the financial statements when there is a legally enforceable night to set off

the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously

Hedge accounting for interest rate swaps
The Company applies hedge accounting for transactions entered into to manage the cash flow exposures of borrowings Interest rate swaps are held
to manage the Interest rate exposures and are designated as cash flow hedges of floating rate borrowings

Changes in the farr values of dernvatives designated as cash flow hedges, and which are effective, are recognised directly in equity
Any Ineffectiveness in the hedging relationship {baing the excess of the cumulative change in fair value of the hedging nstrument since inception
of the hedge aver the cumulative change in the fair value of the hedged item since inception of the hedge) 1s recognised in the Consolidated

Income Statement

The gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive Income is reclassified ta the Consalidated Income Statement when the hedge relationship ends
Hedge accounting i1s discentinued when the hedging instrument expires or no longer meets the hedaing cniteria, the forecast transaction is no longer
highly probable, the hedged debt instrument 1s derecognised or the hedging instrument 1s terminated

Critical judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

Critical judgements in applying the Company's accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty are disclosed in the Group's accounting
paolicies on pages 11210 113
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Financial statements
Parent Company balance sheet
As at 31 December 2018

2018 2017
Note £'000 £000
Non-current assets
Intangible assets goodwill - -
Investments 5 58,123 58123
58,123 58,123
Current assets
Debtors 6 194,112 143944
Cash at bank and in hand 191 27276
194,303 146,220
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 7 (38,848) (5,141}
Net current assets 155,455 141,079
Total assets less current liabilities 213,578 199,202
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 8 (78,795) (560,079)
Provisions for liabilities
Penston lability 13 (1,044) (2,574)
133,739 146,549
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 10 1,105 1036
Share premium account 82,224 60,204
Share-based payment reserve 2,01 1,469
Hedging reserve {46) {326}
Profit and loss account 48,435 84766
Shareholders’ funds 133,739 146,549

The Parent Company has taken advantage of Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and has nat included its own profit and loss account in these
financial statements The Group profit for the year includes a loss of £23 2m (2017 profit £49 3m) which s dealt with in the financial statements

of the Company

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 22 March 2019

b J Miles ACMSmith
Director Director

Company number. 03232863

The accompanying accounting policies and nates form an integral part of these financia! statements
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Financial statements

Parent Company statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Share-
Share hased
Share premium payment Hedging Retained Total
capital account reserve reserve earnings equity
£000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000
At 1 January 2017 1,026 58,320 1975 (774) 45184 105731
Net result for the year - - - - 49,263 46,263
QOther comprehensive expense - - - 448 605 1,053
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year - - - 448 49,868 50,316
Issue of shares 10 1,884 _ - _ 1,894
Share option charges - - 826 - - 826
Share option exercises - - {1,332) - 1,332 -
Dividends - - - - (12,218} (12,218}
At 1 January 2018 1,036 60,204 1,469 (326) 84,166 146,549
Impact of change In accounting policies - - - - {443} {443)
Adjusted balance at 1 January 2018 1,036 60,204 1,469 {326) 83,723 146106
Net result for the year - - - - (23,239) (23,239)
Other comprehensive expense - - - 280 490 770
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year - - - 280 (22,749) (22,469)
Issue of shares 69 22,020 - - - 22,089
Share option charges - - 552 - - 552
Dividends - - - - (12,639) (12,539)
At 31 December 2018 1,105 82,224 2,021 (46) 48,435 133,739
The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Financial statements
Notes to the financial statements — Company
For the year ended 31 December 2018

1. Result for the financial year
This result for the year 1s stated after charging audnor's remuneration of £55,000 (2017 £65,000) relating to audit services

2. Directors and employees
Ermployee benefits expense

2018 2017
£000 £000
Wages and salanes 13,755 17891
Soctial security costs 1,920 2477
Other pension costs 774 795
16,449 21163

The average number of employees of the Company during the year was
2018 2017
Number MNumber
Management 339 411

Remuneration in respect of Directars was as follows

2018 2017
£000 £000
Emaluments 1,507 1389
Gains made on the exercise of shaie optians - 1148
Pension contributions to personal pension schemes 121 161
1,628 2698

During the year contributions were paid to personal pension schemes for three Directors (2017 four)
During the year no Directors (2017 three) exercised share options

3. Share-based employee remuneration

As at 31 Decernber 2018 the Group maintained six share-based payment schemes for employee remuneration The detalls of each scheme are

included within note 7 1o the consclidated financial statements

All share-based employee remuneration will be settled in equity The Group has no legal obligation 1o repurchase or settle the oplions

In total, £0 2m of employee remuneration expense has been included in the Company’s profit and loss account for 2018 (2017 £0 2m), which gave

nse to additional paid-in capital

4. Dividends
The following dividends were paid on ordinary shares in the year

2018 2017
£'000 £000
Final 2017 dividend of 8 55p (2017 final 2016 dividend of 8 40p) per share 8,860 8,651
Interim 2018 dividend of 3 55p (20717 wntenm 2017 dradend of 3 45p) per share 3,679 3.567
12,539 12,218
The proposed final 2018 dividend of 8 85p per share has not been included within the financial statements as no obligation existed at
31 December 2018
5. Fixed asset investments
Investment
in subsidiary
undertakings
£'000
At January 2018 and 31 December 2018 58,123

Detalls of the subsidiary undertakings of the Company are shown In note 16 to the consolidated financial statements
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6. Debtors
2018 2017
£'000 £000
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 193,084 142,531
Other recetvables 498 868
Deferred tax asset 530 545
194,112 143944

The deferred tax asset above of £0 5m (2017 £0 5m) 1s due after more than one year The iecoverability of the deferred tax assel s dependent
on future taxable profits The Company expects to realise sufficient profits to enable the deferred tax asset to be recovered

7. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

2018 2017
£'000 £'000
Banrk loan 15,000 -
Bank overdraft 21,032 -
Interest rate swaps 41 253
Accruals 2,292 4,061
Corporation tax 453 347
Other payables 30 480
38,848 5141

8. Creditors: amounts falling due in more than one year
2018 2017
£'000 £000
Bank borrowngs 78,780 50,000
Contingent consideration - -
Interest rate swaps 15 79
78,795 50,079

The Company has disclosed core bank borrawings of £78 8m as due In two to five years Whilst the amounts borrowed could be repaid each quarter,
the Company's intention 1s to align core bank borrowings with 1ts interest rate swaps

Included in other creditors 1s £nil (2017 £nil) relating to deferred consideration en acquisitions

9. Financial instruments
The Company has the following financial instruments

2018 2017
£'000 £000
Financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost
~ otherreceivables - 50
Financial habilities that are measured at fair value through other comprehensive ncome
~ Interest rate swaps (56) (332)
Financial labilities that are measured at amortised cost
« bank horrowings {93,780) (50,000)
accruals (3,902) (4,061)
« other payables (30) (480)
(97,712) {54,541)

There have been no changes dunng the penod or cumulatively in the fair value of bank borrowings attributable to changes in the credit nsk of
the instrument The change attributable to changes in own credit nsk 1s not material due to the short Iife of Individual draw-downs within bank
borrowings The difference between the carrying amount and the amount expected to be paid at maturity (s not material due to the shart ife of
individual draw-downs within bank borrowings

The Company pays a margin over and above LIBOR on bank borrowings The margin is based on the ratio of Graup consoldated net borrawings
to Group consolidated adusted EBITDA and could have varied between 1 2% and 2 2% duning the year

The Company has entered Into Interest rate swaps Lo recewve interest at 1 IBOR and pay interest st fixed rates At 31 December 2018, these consist of
two £15 0m swap contracts expiring in August 2021 with a fixed interest rate of 0 96%, one £20 Om swap centract expinng (n Decernber 2020 with a
fixed interest rate of 0 84% and two £10 Om swap contracts expining in December 2020 with fixed interest rates of 1 84% The swaps have quarterly

maturity matching the underlying debt
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Financial statements
Notes to the financial statements — Company continued
For the year ended 31 December 2018

9. Financial instruments continyed
These instruments are used to miigate the Company's exposure ta any interest rate moverments The fair value of the interest rate swaps 1s a lrability
of £01m (2017 £03m)

During 2018, a hedging loss of £ril (2017 £01m) was recognised in other comprehensive income for changes in the fair value of the interest rate
swap and £0 3m {2017 £86m) was reclassified from the hedge reserve to profit and loss

The Cempany seeks to manage iquidity risk by ensuring sufficient iquidity is available to meet foreseeable needs and to invest cash assets safely
and profitably

Management monrtars rolling forecasts of the Group and Company's hguidity reserve (compnsing undrawn borrowing facilities and cash and cash
equivalents) an the basis of expected cash flows The quantum of commitied borrowing facilities of the Group and Company Is regularly reviewed
and 1s designed 1o exceed forecast peak gross debt levels For short-term warking capital purposes, the Graug and Company utilise bank overdrafts
as required These facilities are regularly reviewed and are renegotiated ahead of their expiry date

10, Share capital and reserves

2018 2007
£'000 £000
Allotted, called up and fully paid
At 1 January 103,567,091 (2017 102,559,799) ardinary shares of 1p each 1,036 1,026
Issue of 133,164 (2017 1,007,292) shares on exercise of share options 1 10
Issue of 6,787,331 (2017 nil) shares as a placement 68 -
At 31 December 110,487 586 (2017 103,567,091} ordinary shares of 1p each 1,105 1,036

During the yeat 133,164 (2017 1,007.292) ordinary 1p shares were issued in respect of share aptiens exercised In addition, the Group rarsed funds
through a placement of 6,787,331 (2017 nil) ordinary 1p shares The difference between the nominal value of £0 07m and the total consideration
of £22 (2m has been credited 1o the share premium account

Classes of reserves
Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been 1ssued

Share prermium represents the differerice between the nominal value of shares issued and the total consideration received

Share-based payment reserve represents employee remuneration which 1s credited to the share-based payment reserve until the related share
options are exercised Upon exercise the share-based payment reserve 1s transferred to retained earnings

The cash flow hedging reserve comprises all gains and losses ansing from the valuation of interest swap contracts which are effective hedges
and mature after the year end These are valued on a mark-to-market basis, accounted for through the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
lncame and recycled thraugh the Cansolidated Incame Staternent when the hedged item affects the Consoldated Income Statement

11. Capitai commitments
The Company had no capital commitments at 31 December 2018 or at 31 December 2017

12. Contingent liabilities
The Company has guaranteed that it will complete certain Group contracts that its subsidiaries have commenced At 31 December 20178 these

guarantees amounted to £18 7m (2017 £217m)

As detailed in note 7 to the Group financial statements, the Group has a facdity in place guaranteeing the performance of a nurmber of M&E projects
in Haydon Mechanical and Electrical Company LLC ('Haydon LLC) The guarantees will fall away as the final accounts are agreed and the associated
guarantees released As at 31 December 2018, guarantees amounted to £3 9m (2017 £3 8m) and a balance of £2 2m has been provided for against
this balance

The Company had no other contingent habilies at 31 December 2018 or at 31 December 2017
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13. Pensigns
Defined contribution schemes

The Company contributes to personal pension schemes of the Directors

Defined benefit scheme

The Company operates a defined benefit pension scheme for the benefit of certain amployees of its subsidiary companies The assets of the
schemes are administered by trustees in a fund independent from the assets of the Company

Costs and lizbilities of the scheme are based on actuanal valuations The actuanal valuations were reviewed and updated to 371 December 2018

by a qualified Independent actuary using the projected unit method

The principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date are as follows

2018 2017
Rate of increase of salaries - first year 2.00% 200%
Rate of increase of salanies ~ second year 3.15% 2 00%
Rate of ncrease of salaries - long term 3.15% 310%
Rate of increase for pensions in payment ~ based on RPl with a cap of 5% 3.05% 305%
Rate of increase for pensions in payment ~ hased on RPl with a cap of 3% 2.45% 2 45%
Discount rate 2.95% 280%
Retail prices inflation 3.15% 310%
Consumer prices Inflation 2.15% 2 20%
Life expectancy for a 65-year-old mala 20.9 years 219 years
Life expectancy for a 65-year-oid female 23.8 years 23 7 years
The amounts recogrised in the Parent Company Balance Sheet and major categornies of plan assets as a percentage of totai plan assets are
2018 2017
£°000 £000
Equities 7,721 9,860
Bonds 9,734 7718
Cash 1,488 840
Group's estimated asset share 18,943 18,418
Present value of funded scheme liabilities (19,987) (20992)
Funded status (1,044) (2.574)
Related deferred tax asset 198 489
Pension hability (846) (2,085)
The amounts recogrised in the profit and less account are as follows
2018 2017
£'000 £000
Current service cost 36 75
Administration cost - -
Total operating charge 36 75
Net interest 58 12
Total charged to the result for the year 94 187
2018 2017
£'000 £'000
Present value of ohliggtions at 1 January 20,992 21,337
Current service cost 36 75
nterest on obligations 581 643
Plan participahls’ contributions 5 10
Benefits paid (502) (517
Actuanal gain ansing fror changes in demaographic assumptions (430) (8272)
Actuanal gain/(loss) ansing from changes in financial assumptions {574) 355
Actuanial loss arsing frorm hability expenence (121} (89)
Present value of obligations at 31 December 19,987 20,992
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Financial statements
Notes to the financial statements — Company continued
For the year ended 31 December 2018

13. Pensions continyed
Defined benefit scheme continued
Changas in the farr value of the plan assets are as follows

2018 2017

£'660 £060

Fair value of plan assets at 1 January 18,418 17153
Expected return on plan assets 523 531
Ermployer’s contributions 1,019 1,050
Plan participants’ contributions 5 10
Benefits paid (502) {517}
Return on plan assets above that recorded in net interest (520) 161
Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 18,943 18,418

The movements in the net pension lability and the amount recogmsed in the Balance Sheet are as follows

2018 2017

£000 £0800
Deficit in schemes at 1 January (2,574) (4184)
Current service cost (36) (75)
Contributions 1,019 1,056
Other finance Income (58) (112}
Actuarial gamn arising frorn changes in demographic assumptions 430 822
Actuanal (loss)/gain arnsing from changes in financial assumptions 574 (355)
Actuarial loss arising from liability experience 121 89
Return on plan assets above that recorded in net interest (520) 191
Deficit in schemes at 31 December {1,044) (2,574)

The employer's cantnbutions expected 1o be paid during the financial year ending 31 December 2019 amount to £0 4m

14. Related party transactions
Identity of related parties
The Group has a related party relatianship with 118 penston schernes, its subsidianes and 1ts Directors

Pension schemes
Details of contributions to pension schemes are set out 1n note 13 to the financial statements

Subsidiaries

The Group has a central treasury arrangement in which all subsidiaries participate The Directors do not consider it meaningful 1o set out details
of tranpsfers made in respect of this treasury arrangement between companies, nor do they consider 11 mearningful to set out details of interest or

dividend payments made within the Group

Transactions with key management personnel

The Group has identified key management personnel as the Directors of Mears Group PLC Details of transactians are disclosed in note 33 1o the

consolidated financial statements
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Shareholder information

Five-year record (unaudited)

Consolidated Incame Statement {continuing activities)

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

£000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Revenue by business segment
Housing 753,230 766,121 787530 735,129 714,733
Care 116,613 134,063 152,570 146,010 124,007
Continuing activities 869,843 900,184 940,100 881,139 838,740
Gross profit 207,018 223,702 244,864 232,132 22504
Operating profit before acquisition intangible amortisation and exceptional
costs 40,841 36,151 41,850 38,662 472995
Exceptional iterms (5,657) -~ - - -
Operating profit 30,750 28,513 31,160 27825 30,667
Profit for the year before tax 28,431 26,484 79,372 25920 79,677
PBT before acquisition intangible amartisation and exceptional costs 38,522 37122 40,062 36,757 42 005
Earnings per share
Basic 23.05p 2028p 23 54p 2037p 2503p
Diluted 22.91p 2010p 2341p 20 10p 24 05p
Normalised 29.06p 28 05p 3036p 2794p 32 20p
Dividends per share 12 .40p 12 00p 11 70p 1100p 10 00p
Congolidated Balance Sheet

2018 207 2017 2017 2017

£°000 £000 £000 £'000 £'000
Non-current assets 276,467 264,567 262,263 258,201 268818
Current assets 248,872 211,439 2227158 237767 217718
Current liabiities {217,274) (198,678) (194,567) (219,882) (190,040)
Non-current habilities (97,785) (67,738) (91,180) (84,458) (102,034)
Total equity 210,280 209,590 198,674 191,628 194,462
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year (65,904) (25,789) {12.374) 822 3,834
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Shareholder information

Shareholder and corporate information

Financijal calendar

Annual General Meeting
31 May 2019

Record date for final dividend
14 June 2019

Dividend warrants posted to shareholders
4 .July 2019

Interim resuits antisunced
13 August 2018

Registered office

1390 Montpellier Court
Gloucester Business Park
Brockworth

Gloucester GL3 4AH

Tel 01452 634600
Www mearsgroup co uk

Company registration number
03232863

Company Secretary
Ben Westran

1390 Montpellier Court
Cloucester Business Park
Brackworth

Gloucester GL3 4AH

Tel 01452 634600

Bankers

Barclays Bank PLC

Wales and South West
Carparate Banking

4th Floor, Biidgewatar House
Counterslip

Finzels Reach

Bristol BS1 6BX

Tel 08002851152

HSBC Bank PLC

West & Wales

Corporate Banking Centre
3 Rivergate

Temple Quay

Bristol BS1 6ER

Te) 0845 583 9796

Solicitors

BPE

St James' House

St James’ Square
Cheltenham GL50 3PR

Tel 01242 224433

Mishcon de ReyaLLP
Africa House

70 Kingsway
London WC2B GAH

Tel 020 3321 7000

Travers Smith
10 Snow Hill
London EC1A 2AL

Tel 02072953000

Auditor

Grant Thornton UK LLP
Registered Auditor
Chartered Accountants
The Colmore Building
20 Colmare Circus
Birmingham B4 6AT

Tel 0117 305 7600

Financial adviser
Investec Bank PLC
2 Gresham Street
London EC2V 7QP

Tel 020 7597 2000

Registrar
Neville Regigtrars Ltd
Neville House

18 Laurel Lane
Halesowen
West Midlands B633DA

Tel 0121 585 1131
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Joint carporate brokers
Liberum Capital Limited
Ropemaker Place, Levei 12

725 Ropemaker Street
London EC2Y 9LY

Tel 02074188900

Peel Hunt

Moor House

20 London Wall
Londorn EC2Y 5ET

Tel 0207418 8900

Investor relations
Buchanan

107 Cheapside
London EC2V 60N

Tel 0207466 5000

Internet

The Group operates a website which can be
found at www mearsgroup co uk This site1s
reguiarly updated to prowvide information about
the Group In particular all of the Group's press
releases and announcements can be found
on the site

Registrar
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should be addressed to the Company's
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promptly of any change in a shareholder’s
address or other details
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